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this our institutions must deliver an

affordable higher education without

sacrificing quality and academic stan

dards The continued success of our

business is predicated on the ability

of our institutions to deliver on that

principle by ensuring that the highest

quality standards are maintained

Full-time faculty develop and monitor

our institutional curricula which are

validated by third party assessors

For instance our institutions con

tinue to grow the number of courses

that have been
officially

reviewed

and endorsed by Quality Matters

nationally recognized faculty cen

tered peer review process certifying

the quality of online education In

fact with 214 courses now certi

fied by Quality Matters at Ashford

and 28 at University of the Rockies

Bridgepoints institutions have more

courses certified by Quality Matters

by wide margin than any other

institution of higher learning

We also use internal and external

surveys to monitor the quality of

academic programs and the student

experience and the results from

these surveys further validate the

success of our quality initiatives

Once again in 2010 students gave

us high marks 96% said they would

recommend Ashford University to

others seeking degree 92% felt

their degree was worth the time and

commitment it required and this

has been reflected in higher sala

ries for our institutions graduates

even in this difficult economy 93%

responded that they were satisfied or

very satisfied with Ashford University

which is also reflected by its strong

student persistence Perhaps most

significantly of the 90% of alumni

who reported having previously

attended traditional university

91 felt the quality of education at

Ashford was the same as or higher

than traditional college or university

EDUCATIONAL INNOVATION

Part of our success in attaining our

quality objectives stems from our

increasing focus on innovation which

helps students succeed and helps

us attain our corporate objectives

New technology tools and practices

are already helping students lower

their cost of attendance and improve

their educational performance and

this influence will become more

pervasive in the future These same

technologies tools and practices

are enhancing our revenue streams

through proprietary content and

expanding our reach in new markets

with our proprietary assessment

tools that are now being used by

other higher educational institutions

For example in May 2010 we

launched Constellation our proprietary

suite of web-based textbooks and

course materials Constellation allows

students to search for topics make

Offering quality education for the best value

and in highly accessible format is what

students need and what the nation needs

New technology too/s and practices are a/ready he/ping students lower

their cost of attendance and improve their educational performance and

this influence wi/I become more pervasive in the future



rr

iy dc ar too is

vd rut aho rt

tort sago ard Este ma

rsto se or ak

ud bot st ri ml

ots oe vs ops ape

mit sub iahor axuer

1iy
is ise as bhto

vesty3a sty IC rioattod

purt As ford vco

urr

ovavee

Ot CO nstCtcYS

star is va

our orrosh iessbo

ty an is miss bat

is Ha

thu so read

toost

at rurat

is dvStstr

udtogo

dhe OH co

ty vj is rc

to gy pros do is

is .a

tm Dacenbu 2C0 Wa

au ed Jr vms of the Ho Ares

cb be one aid

rob to Un vms ty of th Ho

sud nts foB stidon liv WE

cb as mss to Ha assroo

rssr es nst cc ws

ts do oar rrprrtrnt tsr

An
rig un OuS usa iso

uHtr pa ap is be puisera

oa rig
toc tt at st r0nt

to sr aro tnqs tt tho

Fgues Hon rieary ary at

ovest to exa th is

ror rob edevoes twa xpe
to HO sisa tpp rca

Ashlord ye sdy st dor ts 20

Vtay or Lini is oh

Jgeportaquret 2003

garr
rr rr oas 10 itores

str rctnor war

dgep iavat 00 ir at

erst bnnc ff eric es

adu rtor V2ayp is ase th Had

hi upro os oPt er iC an

ettos ci ire sod and thur

E0 ha En sisd flis \\h is

rut uctors is in vdc

and eract so trc app oah

across broad ge of sub oc

ar nstr ot ona ro ds tom

ye Hssessrnent Foo Iwo op oh

data oe Pa tot rE

arid rssure pt ii JO Orr

rstriton1o stulents rFdt

to Icr progr Faga it sir

rrvsns thvayp nt oss Corg

cs oy iore is at

ast borsaroundtiaworl wdwe

sok t0 ward to ts Cr Jo qrowt

futur

V\to ovoisoca or ye asu

ipsr Lydongqo dfcr tO roi

ru taa we orve arid is trr

bsg
is engtt our oornrri to mt tr

fart boos irnin tos wtere we

veantwoA is ttorea Ti OV

rttyod avorstosipport WOVE

Hat foci co toat

udor oxoe cc

seor mis

hsoferasw ye

r2rr it

SI 6oout is



nt cv ross

storca eas bs ott

cvc ci rr iron ir

ro ur Or

rajr igepo execu

cc oa pat or boa at

par zat an

cci cv ri los

vo ird osogr at

op Ia \s reos aorta ye of

lqc pont lu rot or tear

stre on3 cur roroo

te ure vs at ye to prov0

If yes itt ros sic eaf ugl

vo or too etorts 11050 ofots

Ic dra tbaestacvcarcvnr

iv cv rq 004cr awareness

or opot cf wobe eve rd

act errol is oyro rocu cvner

Is rae enro non an proud

ro re on tat 20 It Igs

d0 itou Oar

cv tat tab ca cvea orxocvyoca

ruled roary 3500 of

otaur tyrctvre

Sn eonrr2004 aura 20 Ott antis

ataxtl rrrs tvcyo trg
rover ano Er no riot gnu at

Beva rrreaso ta$ 13 to

fron 545 ci 2009

Operat rg rco.i for year ccv

$216.4 to for mat ly ed an

pa at coca toon ate nO

$2 utri aci tat dl

two acadrti trait it toss

to /1092 it 41e or 2010 vn aria

6tBt ep avou ur rg 2010

al Ice capnt oso to

napurri aso ci cv ot

co mon at an avena4c pn

of $140a

Ag 20 as we ave prey

ous years Ian espoa ypoca
00t Svr ost ur to gr

growth epot cv tI ii

adontor toed rr itoca cv ty

egratoy onp ceo lopeta

car oo ycar Oread so

at tu

or cia at Its so by ha

cv ost yr qua ty

adu it or lb rt it ox

OVa XpC tic is fy ur

us 201 at ert

tar way cr1 cv at rOot

ad rot or expa cv \o cv

sAOi Gpo
icr 000ctvas row It ret

hr
pr sarI vs cv rg

oI

It ngu atoy ci roTs ap

ab toor nstIuIo4 tOll

at omp cv lot

otd Ovat Ot an cxc cr1 set

our rr press arr der it it

orrr for on let yr
tag

eat rr ass

rornator dr rr tr Ic to

as lIar sy rr
air cat

as rpprttof lgep tE oatr

orcat cxc trio

Lxclvr irS

rca di vs

ta itt

car tan

19 ge /r

lv
.a or

1Cr \4r1 jf ir

nr So

CF Sr ra cv Pc



L$

41

\4$S cfW
/4 r$ 4L% 4ç\

47c
44$

t$

I4 %44
4c

41 44 L4
pwc s4\

Ic

Im
ip

134 $1

41114
73

t14
IFTrk
.Ii1

iim
433

IPIIIilp



-Ar ci 01 ft0d

qc or ci

dec div
AL ceo

tO 10 acod ii

cw ot ir onrpi ib

VAn ut oak cc Ac cf

I-PCA ft

Ui vo ty ty

YCC
Har cr/cr ciA

cci grarr

Aara ga

icc ad1 cc

vo au u/Il to

gcvt tcqai

ii qt ba
kaco or Ac

duty ta

tea

cdn tor IlVl3
IH elpLc tyt

ft varay 1H cc

Il

pOut c\va ii

-l cob to

tE tsn tra

ft eve ry ii

Ar crza

ad
On dcc

SI vOl tO

tte dip an an

Couic cc

Sy

Ti te Lt

yluabI OI

ii Ir

rc
cclv IO

Olu

tit coca ytg
do

tc

Jr to

HI y1

-I 17/1

A/ri



ej sea oxoe once done of ou nettit

35 3O to fOde 56 030 ng Vt

ig Jrc st in rs it cos of Co moor to fi

Sy

so ty Sc



C9 cxi

st tot Os

ad ce Ii tt ye

tea ttn
pc ti an coo

lat an falT ty On

irta at AsPi trd vera tad

cI Oaaeec cC

taco ta Itage and

ny onrp dege pIE

qr Os t0 rs roy ea
traP ci cpa tla

tu .1 ryan aPt at

U/Nt oraAs atal

re Jae saot
Ia ana at tadtola

at i-ic nt Cl at ag

ac tdc tape V\E

ar cx 103 to tI ptonea

toxpa drg the 23

Aslfor top sw 1-w tllta

128 wI eaty cxnan

slUoA ap cept tla

or 10 tE

ad 10 era co or

00 pu 119 doutorar grc
00r Ha opal a30 yea carnal

pub ar It Aupust 2010 she

conap etea 20 tol of IsyU oqy

Spe ataot trolo UI ye at

Ac cO Ove th cc decades

IC served as Etca edle

Ccl al Cur oC or

asac Up tpa inwl r011

decade0 of torac at Ic

to lea op pea at

taaas on at Jo tt Ac
vtork pa if ira an av

ti

It pe et cc udes

oys ta ae as faa cope 10 tat

rescatch 3S USEd ar

post ye aspcct of se acy

acLoo gtqetaae It p1 acltoc

studertts al tow II ase fa toe

re ate to we eas aclaoo



ts

/575 rs



ott 0331
ot oonpirI

rn it rood

irJK

dos odo

fly 13

rr raego.o

Do
rry

if

rar ow ir

\V do or pr

go 000rlrnr

or ox all op

Stir oF roreel of

ot va an 01 100

no. t.n0J
so ston Har ohet nor

To o.FonTr Hp

ii oy wF YE 812

rI o..hord on

spa vlay 2000 of Hz

03 t0 00 .1 ip

Os DISk iti aeerbotv wed

10 50 Id 10 00

SPF div it

Ia son nt

nd aag Il Hr0LS

11 vvr rg gaper

As Jr vow or no tudor

vors no Mr Di

ros IFS 00 001

op Os ra isO Its

rd to dOn

asgrr IC Is gF ro

od to go Fe

ía tstrfo ftc rt0r
as3 13 To os or

toot vodi or

rjero.f oF 30

Th 01k
trr rO Fear

qrIuat so Fr or

oorFpood off

rr nag ro arl ot pe

/0 tr to no ri

oan ra Fi joi

at0 riatilt Os

ci cx iateo 93 /sr

on ty 100 too as os

no 101t0

tie Ia 01 traltn aF Cl

or no Idol inorsi

ote arr co or

nor roe ca on ar

oF sO Fa

TotoDotto on rioT

lyd dl

OIlY

ot

r0 oon tO

Oi in vo

go 111

ytIsS tF

ow
do

Itay

001



dbrver yBidgep tu/oo coott /\e as vckfo ead gas

ay/a f55tJ7 irr5 iS 10 ooaea e5 ii ida teji



An Un vo dab ton

su Ps oc goa provrd ng

hqho ty
do cr gedus

cxpc or co to ide Ps tho

rat IJ at or arM ace

aru vvs rarpo ao mb so alert

io or cc go crthrr And th tho

intfe 19 icc

os To aapctnq ro

poraH Oh ctor groe proa or

ccc poratrr St dent

ash aket erdbarK as we

as trer he relevar

Ofom str yes to de vc
dogrc proi arr atch ag etc

cc ur cor por ate patr rs

As urre rt progran portfo

nc udes offcrrngs at asso rotc

bachelo and masters eveL

he sUp ncs at bus new educa

or psyrhc ogy soc sc oncos ar

sath crces

Janey Car aacho App aas worke

tor Hcvcn so tar 27 years and

irren ts Nat ona Consumer and

at no Affa rs Manage Ms App

grew up an mpovor shed area

at West Da as arrd kr ow ack evrrag

success would be cha engo Ste

as the rst person her tar ar to

grad rate trom gh scaool and ha

worked her way up rr her carcer at

7-F reve Inc whcre she hogan as

adat stratve ass stant 1982

She attend ng Ashtord Ur versr

en work ng towar bache

dcgroe husrness rear age ont

She se ected Ashtord aber at er

Eleven no wh ch

dad con peting urarvers trc She

ate seec clAd

nrd naone atfor dab ard tot

ret ly aed aho nt ts studer ts Ms

\pp greatly apprecr tos act ye

support Ashtords hngh now

edgeable st nderrt abv sors and th

sranooth adraa strat procoss

as we as turtror rerrr burseroor

uppnrt frore evcrr ac



Lj

14



COMMtTMENT TO ACADEMIC

AND ADMINISTRATRIE QUAUTY

oltn ga

act tA odor

Ou an tr nt

gay r2 nO expc nO or

ny cvarr oA atstrdort Nt
ac rr orabo

legroos oy sa cxpn nod

oar as ecc nvt

By gi rsc

Fevtea

no ar

ía co opt

opytbos

kf rca

Byort oyar
\wta print aol acp

tw Apa la yos rat

tude ov nay

no nroe dvr

arent an ro

arog asado dbyta ty

art artr on cto rr

at vs or do rxoca
to he nsa ea

ar ox ness or

am tar Ia

bt tao atn

gata Bsre art

ACB dteI Ly

agaa tar ot210 ro

cat ea grog

soars to clv otar.a

staraloris to Na

Assr at atar ot Ya

xr Ta ar

goIoar
ol otnsor Ie 51 at

0roga no ra gout cmos

err ol ta oa

an ear
rg

norm or ro

tb rrioLor ad

cOo tvct anon icliel ougr

cO ar or pcan anti amor
ear card cc

rag
tr ass Hoc

arc ra tore It rgl ass go

Torts and asse sac roor

ap goa study.Qr aHt

aaar to ty tar ye hr

ot In ri lao ty ad Aaessrr

each or

aa cast

tIc scarc acr L.rcor

rs Ly oagr the

tor \s Hr

Lao ar are Ion ci rnp art

nanro tar ca ag

at Kr or arc

ao nr era ti ii Ma OMI

orsart tg so Hat

LI so sit loary

ear ml Ige or

ti at

00 La ra ama 70 01 tao or

ttnto coo rt

at to or ort

ya Jr iunp aur tO

.1 at Ac nt

ar art ro at ca ato

alto ed

to ox 60 ar

has am 2007 to 10 St no

tOt Cm
rat oo atri tc to rots

at rdcrat er ar deoc itod

St at Supi on Jo as ass

oath coal stJ in rrt ti ngt

alor to

tus

oat tO

ny car

or

as

saac McDarnel

fAr
nO

cm

cm

to



rcr

\jiaI$I 11fIII
icI

qIwIr1IW\

Mc
2iIII

\\

iU

\\

Ii
ue

16



tIc Ia yt ate Cf

Ic fate aopr ate uP

Ip ar at

abaaea

1V

ho na of Ac Jr tyc

ittc
oar aao tv 00/

oI SaVC mu car

or ap Ce

Cr

ra flu 0/

ore gacst5x ad

ar IC

to
rd ma ratarf

0/y aes ts aj to at

rCaty rc poatnt co

sir rnr

fC aatof

ad

rat 0/C

at ear at

XC ft

or hg Ic

crhar op bar ox crer

00 atC ICC or Cd

As ad yr St

are 3nW vc A5 rd

to Int 0/

arC cml rbaa

oa Cts fate ra

pproxvr 80 Iogr cc

gmms hoC 200

rras op at atrar or

adapt of raodr8 to not

Ii ap Pr
at vty Cr or

Cr ar Do mb wo

I/c Maa 01 0/00

far At fl
hr

or ace cc cv

ar ye as to

forr Fa raf or vor ty

ft for Ia cc

tC or

aoc te th

tfafl Itr FO0cvS Icy

st ai foe at

adorn otto

Hok aM athe rlyaIia

aa aac ci app mt

V%c xpcc Hckcs be

aw ao arid
pr

oW

too IC car so re

toe flu nd go Fy

at We ra rF

exoar tia or ty to Id

ab doe atforr

Ia grades to

Sxtaor or CC ar Ir tar ac era

ora op ra of

It he oJ ar Jo

grow pop arty as at Oar

arab tao ty oar upor em

Fharr gt raW

Sc

gC ftP IIC

xp ra IaF

ar Vt ty aC

20

oF



ypo tHE 115 \t

oqepE iucd 2009

91 519 010

01 01 ox sop

tlcBrogf 001910
cli ii

30 bc Jr

UE
coO or ra od oJb

st or de

UT3tcJ PU
It 01 Jt tlo

ICI

011 no 30 of ci

ginj bo ooJ Ic
cd0o lIP

91
11 ott 3110

11 be

10 11 Lcuo1

Aosp sd Ly ei CII

I0 11

Drox

Jo\gI lb

OH UK or

tbO IVO esur J1o
30 ot II

iol UI CI 301

C111O 11 113 It tO HI
no Jo 191

01 Into dtan yb ft

fl

10 alto Sal

Ii ndba Id rig oqos

Ii ot bus so

an boa to 00 Ito

Cf mpotcn sod Jo iooolo

It SO0 IOUflIat0 torW ynrt
on thoU

iy
00

11001 Ito

car ely oPec do 10 Id

logo onl otss ndtols



jtcc

nA K2 d/gn /-
i/ st idor Cl t1 CC

II IF It
ll 1F

73

rt 71 10 /517



fl \4

\k

Ht

lip

di

11fr

VII
II

20



ci

in tai

oq acsqIt aig

nra
an ft

ci alcoa no

Ia

Ga alit 1ad go ovea.a

ai

Hg aH

ic
ft

aa.t

ftc ag ig ía

lo rO

a.r

le iaa ci

ai ía ci 1r

Sa cia

ca cia

ft-I

ía qa aDa nit tG va

1E

ig

Ian og
ci lara

21



1y rtEP

vos t1

Ca Iln

00 iOU

11 0L OS ow

If wr St Ill n3

opo

od op no of

JC0IS aid oP ts rrc Wi
1St po 13 III Pc oo rI

pr rt Ado or cr Itna

ab soonsor

Jv0 IpOP ili din

rq in se iO UI le
pI

idrgt oeor vco

ra ra we nt

ISO 00 it LI

Irdw rcr eAx Cl OCCO

io ot yr to or

duty oi 01 111 Ld it 20

op itr -ss bu ed

or aOO ur ro 0n ty

and dopn Irtr ILL

ye $1 do 01 II sto /300

itt rqan na or oupo

20 rat

015 pis orWO

Von

tatvr Itot

mOVe OS IL 1000

md flf Li

ocor or

la Projnct 02 vi

progral lord vero ty 11

IlOnt 2010 DIV lcd

30 arsh po br loll to

oO boa st Va

et 82 ii 11 plm bIEr

2008 saW Na en

OIe0poIts fwardnoa

Work n0 10 ar

Lo1rodInoIstyaIdlNH
Ca CtedtIO ct

/0000 LII 110 LI iat TA

Vi El TLp 31

I0I CICIlir 00 br Ic 31

at 3s0fo UI V015

CLII 053



IJVV VI



ii opp ity



so s2K do ne He day Bow Or do Iai var eve

tb day Boy kot sod snp cit dab iso pie wnt on

Aspa ft trrei to

orp rotc iwpons ty ord nq

hok te rio en iso by Brdgopo it

ci coorages ci oeo to soc ot

ci toe opport too ii omhiam

se do be nog artvc3 nvoved

ho sur ty Hi dgeport

Heioes se tr se ei oyees

ir wt so Sr Ui taer bii Oug

en yr yr ntecr prog ii in 2010

are we of 815 Briojeport

err es ojgcd 00 ct early

cOO so nto wrs ha to

P050 cci

io Hi tgep nt How or FcYea

vd sw oieatci to oi ortw

wno as ye teor

st toO ty work ci

yow

cr at As ow vers was

dqoro Sic atoi iero of

0cm to 20 iTo award see to Ms

Ce ho 58 urs rv oh

vol tcorod at sot ci

onaii ra adtip

be coos ye tOw ko no

sr Cr tte year V3oni gw Ci

Ph Hrie nteri atoi ci an

pta PorO Ms

Cea tcted Oi ai re cit

ionts SF iso stab or

iouscs heiped ti CF

Fir p05 feed ng piogran Sic so

sport great dea of tow keg

now oi privi age si or

un ore The gbtho irq

seine or drods tho sands

Ha

Ms ssw so 3i Iqeort

Sd on Ash id versity

suprrted ci oh to ir ii

oosny of ncr co wrkr itel

iso fo tt Fey so ci ouq

00 Fos aid hces fo or to ike

tt Cpt
iv ard Ms Ce sad tF rt

is ty

to des gnat rharty fri oipo

ort ste so cc Hose

on at ona wo Bsdgo

re ogr zod tt

ont ow soy ot

dpaocdcFrdrs fFkw

1878 ti Ho dry Bow was

ib st coos nproft oigan

ton whose ssoi st ge rn ite

to isis exposure to

Ssn ego anl to tzci by produ

tue mst ox troq hwy

gaoooani1stva of eve ts.Woaic

oud to ha bee ti sp cor

Ii 2010 Hi ioge it dora ir

Hw lay Hew Fed or conti ho

too San egos Prom ses2K

$lfiomesiof Fe0000
to ots ti at vera to tie gsine

se s2K ds so bier

t5ç op of oh so
ig pie

101 ow at oi or dvwooy ts

owg or rw srir 5c Or

iid uvei rs rau note ci

hoed so ti at ti ey cii cc grow ai

iso rssfr iron her

10 Ti



y\

NN

NN \N
NN

NN

NN

NN

NN
IN III

SIIN S5
N4

NI Ns 11N 5/

1N
NN

sN

IN IN
5$

NN JN1
1N1

1NS 1NI IS III sN SS

S1NN
lI

5N
N1

II N1N
Is NN

N1

iN4

1N
1I SSI

N11

SS 1N 51 1\
11I5N

N1 NI 1N
11 1/

N1

1N1II1NIt 11

NSN
14 N1 11

1N

II

11

IN1

1II1

Il

IkN

1NI1

INI

NIl

115

l1
II

17 IIS N1 II/ SI N1
IS

Is Il1N 1551

sSl

55
IN 41 N111

II

II

I5N
151

II

Nl1 IN1
II

NI
pSs ss 12 N5 ISIISLISIS SI SI lI IS 15

sl 555
Is 55

1N 14 5SS5S 55 s5 sI

1N l1
NI

1I
I1 If

III INN II
IN

SISSI
1NS 55/5

5I 11 NN N1
sI

is

II

I1 NI Is SII SN 11 N1 NN
N1 ISk Ik Iç5 NN \1

Ns
Il

çs5 sIl II IS1S 5N1 I1 11 II

ssI5 sI 5s Ns 15151 II ssN IN sI5s 555
lj 115 NN NIS

INI
Il II

11
II 5IN

NN
II Il

IN 1IN N1 IN

N1
II

II kI I1I
II

II 51

1N 1S I\ INs
II

II

IN1I Sl1M ly NI81 11

I1II
I1S 1IS

II

II
I51IIt ç1N

1I l1 Ii

11

N141

NII
I\

iI

IIIl
INli

1i

lIii

II
111

141 Is
1N C1III 1N S5

SI sI lI
11

NI Is
55 1N

sI
55 5sSI 11

qIIs
Is I5N 5N 51 11i55 IIllI55 Nsl 55

1N

1N

II

11 1$N NI

1N

lll

Iii1 II

Ii
NIN

Il

1N

lI1
1Y

II

11 s5 II 1NI IS
NI

1N1

Il
155411

11111

II
N1ISI

11

III

II
II1

1iI

NI IN Il Nh
II

II

Is1

/1 1N
Is N11 is

Isi

Is

NIss N1 II

N1

1111
II

isiI 11sIs Is INss Ils II 55
5S55

is

sIs

Ill Is 1I
11 Il

Is

1l

151 is 711 Is
11 71111 15 l1N II

Is

II

is
II

N1

7N

Is

sll II15 55 Sl
sN

sIsIs 17
SIN1

551 Is5 Ss 57 11s
IIIIsS 55

ç51 ss

N1

11 11 II isill 111
11

II
Is

11111

11

11
11 15

ii



UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington D.C 20549

FORM 10-K

Mark One

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31 2010

or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 001-34272

BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION INC
Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter

Delaware 59-3551629

State or other jurisdiction of I.R.S Employer

incorporation or organization Identification No
13500 Evening Creek Drive North Suite 600

San Diego CA 92128

Address including zip code of principal executive offices

858 668-2586 riri

Registrants telephone number including area code 2011

Former name former address and former fiscal year if changed since last rep
ngton

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Act

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

Common Stock $0.01 par value New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Act

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act

YesD No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15d of the Act

YesD Noj
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports

and has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site if any every

Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T 232.405 of this chapter during the

preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files Yes No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent ifiers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K 229.405 of this chapter is not

contained herein and will not be contained to the best of registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements

incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K Yes EI No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or smaller

reporting company See the definitions of large accelerated filer accelerated ifier and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of

the Exchange Act Check one

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company
Do not check if

smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act Yes No

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 30 2010 the last business day of

the registrants second fiscal quarter was approximately $310.7 million based on the closing price reported on such date by the New

York Stock Exchange of the registrants common stock Shares of common stock held by officers and directors and holders of 10% or

more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded from the calculation of this amount because such persons may be deemed

to be affiliates This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily conclusive determination for other purposes

As of February 25 2011 the number of outstanding shares of the registrants common stock was 53119083

Documents Incorporated by Reference

Portions of the registrants proxy statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated herein by reference in

Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the extent stated herein The proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission within 120 days of the registrants fiscal year ended December 31 2010



BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION INC

FORM 10-K

INDEX

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

PARTI

Item Business

Item 1A Risk Factors 40

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments 64

Item Properties 64

Item Legal Proceedings 65

Item Reserved 65

PART II 66

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer

Purchases of Equity Securities 66

Item Selected Consolidated Financial Data 67

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations 70

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 85

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 86

Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial

Disclosure 122

Item 9A Controls and Procedures 122

Item 9B Other Information 123

PART III 123

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 123

Item 11 Executive Compensation 123

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related

Stockholder Matters 123

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 123

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services 123

PART IV 124

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules 124



Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the

meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended the Securities Act and

Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act All statements

other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements Such forward-looking

statements include among others those statements regarding future events and future results of

Bridgepoint Education Inc the Company Bridgepoint we us or our including without

limitation statements regarding

our value proposition to students competitiveness of our tuition

ability to continue to transfer credits from other institutions ability to maintain and improve the

quality of our education

management of future growth and scalability

development of military and corporate channels

estimates of new hires proposed new programs

expectations that we can effectively manage the business within the regulatory environment

expectations regarding enrollments financial position results of operations and liquidity

projections predictions expectations estimates or forecasts as to our business financial and

operational results and future economic performance

managements goals and objectives and

other similar matters that are riot historical facts

\Vords such as may should could would predicts potential continue expects

anticipates future intends plans believes estimates and similar expressions as well as

statements in the future tense identify forward-looking statements

Forward-looking statements should not be interpreted as guarantee of future performance or

results and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times at or by which such performance

or results will be achieved Forward- looking statements are based on information available at the time

those statements are made and are managements good faith belief as of that time with respect to

future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results

to differ materially from those expressed in or suggested by the forward-looking statements Important

factors that could cause such differences include but are not limited to

our inability to adequately resolve the findings and recommendations of the final audit report of

the U.S Department of Educations Office of Inspector General OIG
the imposition of fines or other corrective measures against our academic institutions

our failure to comply with the extensive regulatory framework applicable to its industry

including Title IV of the Higher Education Act and its regulations state laws and regulatory

requirements and accrediting agency requirements

adverse regulatory changes affecting our industry

our inability to continue to develop awareness among to recruit and to retain students

competition in the postsecondary education market and its potential impact on our market

share recruiting cost and tuition rates



reputational and other risks related to potential compliance audits regulatory actions negative

publicity or service disruptions

our ability to attract and retain the personnel needed to sustain and grow its business

our inability to develop new programs or expand its existing programs in timely and

cost-effective manner

economic or other developments potentially impacting demand in our core disciplines or the

availability or cost of Title IV or other funding

other factors discussed in Part Item 1A Risk Factors and in other reports we may file with

the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time and

those factors set forth in Part II Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statements are made You should not put

undue reliance on any forward-looking statements We assume no obligation to update forward-looking

statements to reflect actual results changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting

forward-looking information except to the extent required by applicable securities laws If we do

update one or more forward-looking statements no inference should be drawn that we will make

additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements



PART

Item Business

BUSINESS

Overview

We are provider of postsecondary education services Our regionally accredited academic

institutions offer associates bachelors masters and doctoral programs in the disciplines of business

education psychology social sciences and health sciences Our institutions deliver programs online as

well as at traditional campuses located in Clinton Iowa and Colorado Springs Colorado As of

December 31 2010 our institutions offered approximately 1345 courses 71 degree programs and 134

specializations We had 77892 students enrolled in our institutions as of December 31 2010

We have designed our offerings to have four key characteristics that we believe are important to

students

Affordabilityour tuition falls within Title IV loan limits

Transferabilityour universities accept up to 99 prior credits

Accessibilityour online delivery model makes our education services accessible to broad

segment of the population and

Heritageour institutions respective histories as traditional universities provide sense of

familiarity connection to student community and campus-based experience for both online

and campus students

We believe these characteristics create an attractive and differentiated value proposition for our

students In addition we believe this value proposition expands our overall addressable market by

enabling potential students to overcome the challenges associated with cost transferability of credits

and accessibility factors that frequently discourage individuals from pursuing postsecondary degree

We are committed to providing high-quality educational experience to our students We have

comprehensive curriculum development process and we employ qualified faculty members with

significant academic and practitioner credentials We conduct ongoing faculty and student assessment

processes and provide broad array of student services Our ability to offer quality experience at an

affordable price is supported by our efficient operating model which enables us to deliver our

programs as well as market to recruit and retain students in cost-effective manner

In January 2004 our principal investor Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII L.P Warburg

Pincus and our CEO and President Andrew Clark as well as several other members of our current

executive management team launched Bridgepoint Education Inc to establish differentiated

postsecondary education provider

In March 2005 we acquired the assets of The Franciscan University of the Prairies located in

Clinton Iowa and renamed it Ashford University Ashford University was founded in 1918 by the

Sisters of St Francis Ashford University offers four associates programs 59 bachelors programs and

six masters programs including numerous specializations within these programs In September 2007

we acquired the assets of the Colorado School of Professional Psychology located in Colorado Springs

Colorado and renamed it the University of the Rockies The University of the Rockies was founded in

1998 The University of the Rockies offers one masters and one doctoral program of psychology each

having multiple specializations within the program

The majority of our current executive management team was in place at the time we acquired

Ashford University As result we were able to begin implementing processes and technologies to



prepare for the launch of an online education offering to serve large student population immediately

after the acquisition

Our institutions are accredited by the Higher Learning Commission of the North Central

Association of Colleges and Schools the Higher Learning Commission Ashford University received

its most recent 10-year reaccreditation in 2006 The University of the Rockies received
seven-year

reaccreditation in 2008

Our Competitive Strengths

Attractive differentiated value proposition for students

We have designed our educational model to provide our students with superior value proposition

relative to other educational alternatives in the market We believe our model allows us to attract more

students as well as to target broader segment of the overall population Our value proposition is

based on the following

Affordable tuition We structure the tuition for our programs to be below Title IV loan limits

permitting si udents who do not otherwise have the financial means to pursue an education the

ability to gain access to our programs We believe that removing the financial burden of

obtaining incremental private loans or making significant cash tuition payments while pursuing

postsecondary education not only permits more students to access our programs but also

enables students to focus more on their coursework and on program completion while in school

We also recognize that private loans are increasingly difficult to obtain which can prevent

academically qualified students from pursuing an education at institutions with higher tuition

and fees

High transferability of credits Based on our research we believe we are one of six postsecondary

education institutions in the United States and the only for-profit provider that accepts up to

99 transfer credits for bachelors degree program Many adult students have completed some

postsecondary education and have credits which they would like to transfer to new degree

program but are often prevented from doing so thereby increasing the time and expense
incurred to earn degree This situation is common among military personnel who as of

December 31 2010 comprised 18.6% of our total enrollment We believe students should

receive credit for their prior work and as such we have worked closely with our accrediting

agencies to obtain the right to accept high level of transfer credits Based on recent review

of our fully admitted undergraduate students approximately 70% transferred in credits and 44%
of those who transferred in credits transferred in 50 credits or more

Accessible educational model Our online delivery model weekly start dates and commitment to

affordability and the transferability of credits make our programs highly accessible Our online

platform has been designed to deliver quality educational experience while offering the

flexibility and convenience that many students require particularly working adults As of

December 2010 99% of our students were taking classes exclusively online Our weekly

starts provide students with significant flexibility to structure their course schedule around their

other personal and professional commitments

Heritage as traditional university with campus-based student community We believe that

strong sense of community and the familiarity associated with traditional campus environment

are important to recruiting and retaining students and differentiate us from many other online

providers We encourage our online students to follow activities on our campuses including

Ashford Universitys 17 National Association of Intercollegiate Athletics NAIA athletic

teams our student clubs and our student projects with our campuses local communities

Additionally all online student activity including completing coursework and seeking support



services is initiated through each universitys homepage which also highlights campus activities

including athletic and social events As result students have the opportunity to become more

connected to their fellow students and to develop stronger
connection with our institutions

Additionally we hold graduation ceremonies at our Ashford University campus for both online

and campus-based students Of the 2010 graduations held 95% of the students participating in

the ceremony were graduating from online programs

Commitment to academic quality

We are committed to providing our students with rigorous and rewarding academic experience

which gives them the knowledge and experience necessary to be contributors educators and leaders in

their chosen professions We seek to maintain high level of quality in our curriculum faculty and

student support services all of which contribute to the overall student experience Our curriculum is

reviewed annually to ensure that content is refined and updated as necessary Our faculty members

have over 10 years of instructional experience on average and all hold graduate degrees in their

respective fields of instruction and typically have relevant practitioner experience We provide extensive

student support services including academic administrative and technology support to help maximize

the success of our students Additionally we monitor the success of our educational delivery processes

through periodic faculty and student assessments We believe our commitment to quality is evident in

the satisfaction and demonstrated proficiency of our students which we measure at the completion of

every course

Cost-efficient scalable operating model

We have designed our operating model to be cost-efficient allowing us to offer quality

educational experience at an affordable tuition rate while still generating attractive operating margins

Our management team has relied upon its experience with other online education models to develop

processes and employ technology to enhance the efficiency and scalability of our business model Our

processes
and related technologies allow us to efficiently meet our students instructional support

services needs and to execute our marketing recruiting and retention strategy These processes and

related technologies enable our management team to operate the business effectively and to identify

areas for opportunity to refine the model further Additionally we have developed our operating model

to be scalable in order to support much larger student population than is currently enrolled

Experienced management team and strong corporate culture

Our management team possesses
extensive experience in postsecondary education in many cases

with other large online postsecondary providers Prior to launching Bridgepoint Education Andrew

Clark our CEO and President served in senior management positions at such institutions for 12 years

and has significant experience
with online education businesses The other members of our executive

management team also bring combination of academic operational technological and financial

expertise that we believe has been critical to our success The continuity of our executive management

team demonstrates the strong relationship between functional areas within our business and the teams

belief in the potential
of our business model Additionally our executive management team has been

critical to establishing and maintaining our corporate culture during our rapid growth Our culture is

based on four core values integrity ethics service and accountability We believe these values have

allowed us to create an environment that makes us sought-after employer for professionals within our

industry and ii have contributed to the strong relationships we maintain with each of our regulatory

and accrediting agencies



Our Growth Strategies

Focus on high-demand disciplines and degree programs

We seek to offer programs in disciplines in which there is strong demand for education and

significant opportunity for employment Our current program portfolio includes offerings at the

associates bachelors masters and doctoral levels in the disciplines of business education psychology

social sciences and health sciences We follow defined process for identifying new degree program

opportunities which incorporates student faculty and market feedback as well as macro trends in the

relevant disciplines to evaluate the expected level of demand for new program prior to developing

the content and marketing it to potential students Based on June 2009 National Center for

Education Statistics report programs in our disciplines represent 85% of total bachelors degrees

conferred by all postsecondary institutions in 2007-2008

Increase enrollment in our existing programs through investment in marketing recruiting and retention

We have invested significant resources in developing processes and implementing technologies that

allow us to effectively identify recruit and retain qualified students We intend to continue to invest in

marketing recruiting and retention and to expand our enrollment advisor workforce to increase

enrollment in our existing programs Our proprietary customer relations management or CRM system

and related processes allow us to effectively track potential new students that have expressed an

interest in postsecondary education Additionally our superior value proposition allows us to

differentiate our educational offering to potential students Once student enrolls in our programs we

provide consistent ongoing support to assist the student in acclimating to the online environment and

to address challenges that arise in order to increase the likelihood that the student will persist through

graduation We also intend to continue to develop our brand recognition through marketing efforts to

students and employers

Expand our portfolio of programs and specializations

We intend to continue to expand our institutions academic offerings to attract broader portion

of the overall market In addition to adding new programs in high-demand disciplines we intend to

enhance our institutions programs through the addition of more specializations Specializations are

used to create an offering that is tailored to the specific objectives of student population and

therefore is more attractive to potential students interested in particular program As result the

addition of specializations represents cost-effective way both to expand our target market and to

further enhance the differentiation of our programs in that market Additionally we intend to expand
the portfolio of our institutions masters and doctoral degree programs consistent with our

commitment to quality academic offering and to pursue graduate students because we believe they

represent an attractive segment of the population

Further develop strategic relationships in the military and corporate channels

We intend to broaden our relationships with military and corporate employers as well as seek

additional relationships in these channels Through our dedicated channel development teams we are

able to cost-effectively target specific segments of the market as well as better understand the needs of

students in these segments so that we can design programs that more closely meet their needs We
believe our value proposition is attractive to potential students in these markets In the military

segment individuals may frequently change locations or may seek to complete program intermittently

over the course of several years In the corporate channel employers value our traditional campus

heritage while our affordability allows employer tuition reimbursement to be used more efficiently



Deliver measurable academic outcomes and positive student experience

Our institutions are committed to offering an educational solution that supports measurable

academic outcomes thereby allowing our students to increase their probability of success in their

chosen profession We use comprehensive course development program as well as tools and ongoing

assessments to define the desired outcomes for course to design the course to deliver these outcomes

and to measure each students progress
towards achieving these outcomes as they progress through

course Our online platform supports
this objective as we are able to monitor each students action in

an online course Additionally our students benefit from the strong sense of community that exists

from being associated with traditional campus and student community including the related student

activities We believe our combination of measurable outcomes and positive experience is important

to helping students persist through graduation

Approach to Academic Quality

Rigorous curricula

We are committed to offering academically rigorous curricula which provide students the

knowledge and skills necessary to be successful in their respective professions Our institutions

curricula are developed to ensure consistent high-quality learning experience for all students Faculty

and subject matter experts design our curricula to emphasize the requisite professional knowledge and

skills that our students will need following graduation Our institutions programs and curricula are

continuously monitored and undergo regular reviews to ensure their quality efficacy and relevance

Qualified faculty

Faculty members are selected based upon academic credentials prior teaching experience and

performance in faculty orientation and in the classroom Our faculty members have more than 10 years

of instructional experience on average and all hold graduate degrees in their respective fields of

instruction and typically have relevant practitioner experience As of December 31 2010 we had

approximately 2900 adjunct faculty members and 60 full-time campus faculty members All of our

faculty members have earned graduate degree and of the faculty members teaching graduate courses

88% at Ashford University and 100% at University of the Rockies have earned doctoral degrees

All faculty members participate in an extensive initial interview and orientation Online faculty

candidates must participate in three weeks of online training to understand the instructional design of

our courses our online platform and teaching expectations The online environment that we use to

train and evaluate candidates is designed to replicate the learning experience of our students as well as

provide platform for the candidates to demonstrate their competence as instructors

Faculty members participate in ongoing professional development as well as regional face-to-face

meetings designed to ensure appropriate levels of faculty engagement and student learning Our

instructional specialists are team of faculty members who assess the performance of and provide

feedback to our online faculty to ensure quality and consistent delivery across all of our programs Our

instructional specialists evaluate online faculty on their ability to

motivate and engage students in active and positive dialogue

respond promptly to students and provide needed expertise

establish clear expectations and outcomes that maintain academic standards

provide constructive criticism

advance written communication skills

establish trust among the community of students and



inspire an atmosphere of sincerity and encouragement

We believe our instructional specialists serve critical role in allowing us to deliver quality education

to our students

We believe that supporting faculty in classroom duties as well as in their professional

development is an integral component to the success of our students We place significant emphasis on

supporting and rewarding faculty for quality teaching and have implemented programs designed to

provide necessary faculty support We employ faculty mentors to acclimate new instructors to our

online platform and instructional model and we employ teaching assistants to assist faculty members in

certain online undergraduate courses Faculty members are encouraged to be active in their field by

presenting at national conferences conducting research writing and joining professional organizations

Additionally faculty members may earn recognition for excellence such as earning acceptance into the

Ashford University Provosts Circle or Teaching Academy or by receiving formal faculty recognition

awards

We believe providing supportive community for our faculty is critical to the success of our

institutions Accordingly we foster sense of community among our online and our campus faculty

through in-person gatherings as well as online community building We hold regional faculty meetings

two to four times per year where all of our online faculty from specific region are invited to gather to

discuss experiences best practices and effective teaching approaches

Consistent delivery

We use standard curricula texts and syllabi each time given course is taught to ensure

consistency in delivery The course sequences we offer are standardized in given program to enable

consistent delivery Courses have clear consistent objectives which enable us to measure learning

outcomes every
time course is given Additionally standard course student assessment materials are

used to guarantee consistent approach Our uniform content course objectives assessment process

and course sequences allow us to consistently deliver our programs to large student population

Effective student services

Each student is provided dedicated support team to assist in pursuing academic objectives

Financial aid and student services personnel help each new student evaluate financial service options

and provide assistance in reviewing prior credits and planning scheduled classes Each student is also

assigned teaching assistant at the beginning of matriculation to serve as personal writing coach and

is offered access to writing skills assistance tutoring services and library resources

Academic assessment and oversight

An academic leadership team and each institutions board of trustees provide oversight to ensure

the academic integrity of all program offerings Academic quality is measured and assessed by our

faculty and monitored by our instructional specialists and assessment staff In order to measure the

efficacy of our programs we have implemented technologically-enabled assessment model that allows

for continuous assessment thoughtful review and revision of courses when necessary Faculty

performance is routinely reviewed by our instructional specialists to assess the quality of the student

learning experience

Surveys

We use internal and external surveys to monitor the quality of our academic programs and student

experience In the past 11 student satisfaction
surveys we have conducted 96% indicated they would

recommend Ashford University to others seeking degree Additionally in Ashford Universitys 2010



alumni
survey

which we conducted 99% of working alumni participating in the survey felt their

education prepared them for their current occupation and 93% responded that they were satisfied or

very satisfied with Ashford University

In the Noel-Levitz Student Satisfaction Survey administered by an external source in the spring of

2010 Ashford University outperformed the national online learners average with respect to their

college experience meeting their expectations the overall satisfaction of their experience at Ashford

University as well as if they would erLroll at Ashford University if given the opportunity to do it over

again

Accreditation

Both of our institutions are accredited by the Higher Learning Commission Our continuing

accreditations are testament to the quality of our academic programs Ashford University was

originally accredited in 1950 and received its most recent 10-year reaccreditation in 2006 The

University of the Rockies was originally accredited in 2003 for five years
and received seven-year

reaccreditation in 2008 For additional information on the Higher Learning Commission visit

http//www.ncahlc.org or call 1-800-621-7440

In September 2010 we announced that Ashford University has initiated the process
of seeking

regional accreditation from the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities of the

Western Association of Schools and Colleges For more information related to the potential change in

accreditation see RegulationAccreditationPotential change in primary institutional accreditor for

Ashford University below

Curricula and Scheduling

As of December 31 2010 our institutions offered 71 degree programs and 134 specializations

Specialization areas are comprised of select number of courses within an existing program which

supplement that programs required courses Specialization areas focus on one area of study and may

also be offered under the designation of concentration endorsement or track We offer programs and

specialization areas through Ashford Universitys four colleges the College of Business and

Professional Studies the College of Education the College of Liberal Arts and the College of Health

Human Services and Science and through the University of the Rockies two schools the School of

Organizational Leadership and the School of Professional Psychology

Online courses are offered with weekly start dates throughout the year except for two weeks total

in late December and early January Courses typically run five to six weeks and all courses are offered

in an asynchronous format so students can complete their coursework as their schedule permits

Online students typically enroll in one course at time This focused approach to learning allows the

student to engage fully in each course

Our campus-based courses are typically nine or 16 weeks and have one start per term with two to

five terms per year Undergraduate campus-based students can enroll in up to six concurrent courses at

time and typically enroll in at least four courses in given semester

Doctoral students both online and campus-based are required to participate in periodic
seminars

located on campus as well as compose and defend dissertation on an approved topic

Total credits required to obtain degree are consistent for online and campus-based programs An

associates degree requires 61 credits bachelors degree requires 120 credits masters degree

typically requires minimum of 33 credits at Ashford University and 39 credits at the University of the

Rockies doctoral degree at the University of the Rockies requires minimum of 62 credits



Program Development

Potential new programs and specializations are determined based on proposals submitted by faculty

and staff and on an assessment of overall market demand Our faculty and academic leadership work in

collaboration with our marketing team to research and select new programs that are expected to have

strong market demand and that can be developed at reasonable cost Programs are reviewed by the

appropriate college and must also receive approval through the normal governance process at the

relevant institution

Once program is selected for development subject matter expert is assigned to work with our

curriculum development staff to define measurable program objectives Each course in program is

designed to include learning activities that address the program objectives and assess learning

outcomes new program is reviewed for approval through the appropriate governance structures

Following the approval online programs are conformed to the standards of our online learning

management system and the marketing department creates marketing plan for the program In most

cases the time frame to identify develop and approve new program is approximately six months

Assessment

Each institution has developed and implemented comprehensive assessment plan focused on

student learning and effective instruction The plans measure learning outcomes at the course program

and institutional levels Learning outcomes are unique to each institution and demonstrate the skills

that graduates should be able to demonstrate upon completion of their respective program With the

assistance of our dedicated assessment team our faculty routinely evaluates and revises courses and

learning resources based upon outcomes and institutional research data Using direct and indirect

measurements student performance is assessed on an ongoing basis to ensure student success Both

Ashford University and the University of the Rockies have been accepted into the Higher Learning

Commissions Assessment Academy which promotes continuous improvement cycle in the area of

assessment

In addition to course and program assessments our facultys performance is continuously assessed

by our institutional specialists and by results of student surveys at the completion of each course The
results of all of our assessment practices are reviewed by an assessment team and based on their

conclusions recommendations may be made to add or modify our programs

Student Support Services

To promote academic success support new students and enhance persistence we offer broad

array of services that assist students at our institutions majority of our student support services are

accessible online permitting convenient student access Our service infrastructure includes academic

administrative technology and library services

Academic

Students enrolling in an undergraduate program are given access to teaching assistants who serve

as personal writing coaches and provide feedback and guidance on academic matters We also offer

students access to an online writing center that utilizes virtual writing tutor and provides sample

essays an automated reference generator and tutorials on utilizing our online library For students with

disabilities we provide appropriate educational accommodations through our disability support services

team
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Administrative

We offer students access to our administrative services telephonically as well as via the Internet

We believe online accessibility provides the convenience and self-service capabilities that our students

value Each student is assigned an enrollment advisor financial services advisor and an academic

advisor who work together as team and serve as students main point of contact Financial service

advisors work with enrollment advisors to ensure that the student is financially prepared to pursue their

degree Academic advisors work with the student to evaluate any past credits they have earned to plan

their degree path and to schedule their classes

Technology

We provide online technology support to assist our students and faculty with technology-related

issues Our internal technology support team is available daily from 800 am EST to 1000 pm EST In

addition we provide our students with support 24 hours per day seven days per week to address

common issues such as password resets and questions related to our learning management system

Library

We provide access to online and campus libraries containing materials to assist students and faculty

with research and instruction Our libraries satisfy the criteria established by the Higher Learning

Commission for us to offer undergraduate masters and doctoral degree programs

Campus Operations

Ashford University is located on an aggregate of over 160 acres in Clinton Iowa across several

locations Since our acquisition of Ashford University in March 2005 we have invested in enhancing

and expanding the physical infrastructure of the campus which currently includes buildings used for

academic athletic administrative housing and student services Throughout 2010 we expanded the

physical campus through the acquisition of additional infrastructure to be used as student housing

ii the completion of new athletic facility including an artificial turf soccer field and an outdoor

track and iii the acquisition of an indoor tennis center In addition several buildings on campus were

renovated and updated to support the increase in campus enrollment reflecting our commitment to the

heritage that Ashford Universitys physical campus represents

The University of the Rockies is located in Colorado Springs Colorado We have begun to

implement plan to further enhance the infrastructure of the University of the Rockies and to expand

classroom space to accommodate increased enrollment at this institution

Campus enrollments at our institutions were 859 in the aggregate as of December 31 2010 We

believe that the continued growth of our campus enrollment our commitment to academic quality

student athletics and social activities and community involvement by students at our campuses will

continue to contribute to the heritage of the institutions As result we intend to continue to seek

opportunities to invest in developing our campus operations
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Marketing Recruiting and Retention

Marketing

We develop and participate in various marketing activities to generate leads for prospective

students and to build the Ashford University and University of the Rockies brands For our online

student population we align ourselves with working adults many of whom have already completed
some postsecondarv courses and are seeking an accessible affordable education from quality

institution In 2010 we implemented new admissions policies that increased the minimum age to 22 for

all online students it Ashford University The new policy was focused at attracting more mature

students with greater commitment to completing their degrees For our Ashford University campus-
based student population we attract traditional college students typically between the ages of 18 and

24

Our leads are primarily generated from online sources Our main source of leads is third party
online lead aggregators We also purchase keywords from search providers to generate online leads

directly rather than acquiring them through lead aggregators Additionally we have an in-house team

focused on generating online leads through search engine optimization techniques In select instances

primarily for potential campus-based students we utilize print television and radio media campaigns as

well as direct mail to generate leads

We use print media as well as trade show appearances and sponsorships to enhance the brand

equity of Ashford
University and the University of the Rockies These campaigns are designed to

increase awareness among potential students differentiate us from other postsecondary education

providers start dialogues between our enrollment advisors and potential students motivate existing
students to re-register and encourage referrals from existing students

Our military arid corporate channel relationships are developed and managed by our channel

development teams Our military development specialists and corporate liaisons work with

representatives in these organizations to demonstrate the quality impact and value that our programs
can provide to individuals in the organizations as well as to the organizations themselves We also

attend trade shows and conferences to communicate our value proposition to potential channel

partners

Militay relationships Ashford University offers tuition grants and book benefits to members of

the military including active duty members veterans utilizing VA education benefits National Guard

members reservists civilian employees of the Department of Defense and Coast Guard spouses of

active duty National Guard and reservists and immediate family members utilizing VA education

benefits University of the Rockies offers tuition grants and book benefits to active duty members
reservists and members of the National Guard and extends book benefits to veterans utilizing VA
education benefits civilian employees of the Department of Defense and Coast Guard spouses of

active duty National Guard and reservists and immediate family members
utilizing VA education

benefits In conjunction with the 2009 Supplemental Appropriations Bill which extends the G.I Bill

benefits to the children of fallen soldiers both institutions began offering tuition grants and/or book
benefits to the children of military personnel who lost their lives while serving their country

Additionally our institutions participate in the G.I Bills Yellow Ribbon Education Enhancement

Program which allows colleges and universities to enter into dollar-for-dollar matching agreements with

the federal government to pay veterans educational costs above those covered by the base G.I Bill

benefit As of December 31 2010 18.6% of our students were affiliated with the
military

Ashford Univei sity is Letter-of-Instruction school in the GoArmyEd program We believe this

helps facilitate the by which active-duty soldiers may apply for courses through Ashford

University which has direct link to the GoArmyEd web site Ashford University is also U.S Coast

Guard SOCCOAST-4 member Ashford University is part of more than 40 other colleges and
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universities in the SOCCOAST-4 degree network in offering bachelor degree programs to Coast Guard

students their adult family members and Coast Guard civilian personnel We plan to use these

relationships to expand our educational offerings to military personnel

Corporate relationships We develop corporate relationships to offer our programs to employees of

large companies Based on these relationships corporations make information about Ashford University

and the University of the Rockies available to their employees In addition to our current corporate

liaisons we have national corporate team to focus exclusively on partnering with corporations to

address their respective company education initiatives and education reimbursement programs

Recruiting

We employ team structure in our recruiting operations Each team consists of enrollment

advisors financial service advisors and academic advisors Our teams provide single point of contact

and facilitate all aspects of enrollment and integration of prospective student into program of study

Our team structure promotes internal accountability among employees involved in identifying

recruiting enrolling and retaining new students

All leads are managed through our proprietary CRM system which directs lead for prospective

student to recruiting team and assigns an enrollment advisor within that team to serve as the primary

liaison for that prospective student Once contact with the prospective student is established our

enrollment advisors along with the academic and financial service advisors begin an assessment

process
to determine if our program offerings match the students needs and objectives Additionally

our enrollment advisors communicate other criteria including expected duration and cost of our

programs to prospective students Through our proprietary systems our enrollment advisors are able to

generate comparison of tuition levels across our competitors in order for prospective students to

make more informed decisions

Each enrollment advisor undergoes comprehensive training program that addresses our academic

offerings financial aid options our value proposition
and the regulatory environment in which we

operate including the restrictions that regulations impose on the recruitment process We place

significant emphasis on regulatory requirements and encourage an environment of strict compliance

An enrollment advisor typically does not achieve full productivity until four to six months after the

advisors date of hire

As of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 we employed 1619 1175 and 749 enrollment advisors

respectively

Retention

Providing superior learning experience to every
student is key component in retaining students

at our institutions We feel that our team-based approach to recruitment and the robust student

services we provide enhances retention because of each students interaction with their contact in the

team and the accountability inherent in the team structure We also incorporate systematic approach

to contacting students at key milestones during their enrollment providing encouragement and

highlighting
their progress Additional contact points include quarterly updates on the school and

campus life There are frequent personal interactions between academic advisors and students which we

view as key component to our retention strategy Additionally we employ retention committee that

monitors performance metrics and other key data to analyze student retention rates as well as the

causes and potential risks for student drops Also our student grievance department serves as neutral

third party for students to raise any concerns or complaints Such concerns and complaints are then

elevated to the appropriate department so we may proactively address any issues potentially impacting

retention
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Admissions

Our admissions process is designed to offer access to prospective students who seek the benefits of

postsecondary education Ashford University undergraduate students may qualify in various ways
including by having high school diploma or General Education Development equivalent Graduate

level students at Ashford University and the University of the Rockies are required to have an

undergraduate degree from an accredited college and may be required to have minimum grade point

average or meet other criteria to qualify for admission to certain programs

Enrollment

We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting

period student is considered an active student if he or she has attended class within the prior

30 days unless the si udent has graduated or provided us with notice of withdrawal

The following table summarizes our enrollments as of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

December 31 December 31 December 31
2010 2009 2008

Doctoral 618 0.8% 428 0.8% 113 0.3%

Masters 8414 10.8 5350 10.0 2266 7.2

Bachelors 57905 74.3 41571 77.4 26340 83.5

Associates 10720 13.8 6117 11.4 2699 8.6

Other 235 0.3 222 o.t 140 o.4

Total 77892 100.0% 53688 100.0% 31558 100.0%

Ashford
University Online 75243 96.6% 51936 96.7% 30892 97.9%

Ashford University Campus 724 0.9 503 0.9 500 1.6

University of the Rockies Online 1790 2.3 1112 2.1 29 0.1

University of the Rockies Campus 135 0.2 137 0.3 137 0.4

Total 77892 100.0% 53688 100.0% 31558 100.0%

Includes students who are taking one or more courses with us but have not declared that they are

pursuing specific degree

As of Decembe 31 2010 71% of our online students were female 50% have identified

themselves as minorities and the average age of our online students was 35 We have online students

from all 50 states and from the District of Columbia

Tuition and Fees

The price of our institutions courses varies based upon the number of credits per course with
most courses representing three credits the degree level of the program and the discipline For the

2010-2011 academic year which began on July 2010 our price per credit is $372 for undergraduate
online courses and ranges from $486 to $882 for graduate online courses Based on these per credit

prices our prices for three-credit course are $1116 for undergraduate online courses and range from

$1458 to $2646 for graduate online courses For the 2010-2011 academic year we charge fixed

$7860 block tuition for undergraduate campus-based students
taking between 12 and 18 credits per

semester For campus-based students taking more than 18 credits the cost is an additional $458 per
credit For part time campus-based students taking 11 credits or less the cost is $458 per credit Total

credits required to obtain degree are consistent for online and campus-based programs an associates

degree requires 61 credits bachelors degree requires 120 credits masters degree typically requires
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minimum of 33 credits at Ashford University and 39 credits at the University of the Rockies

doctoral degree at the University of the Rockies requires minimum of 62 credits

Revenue realized from tuition is reduced by the amount of scholarships we award to our students

For the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 we awarded institutional scholarships of

$80.2 million $42.8 million and $14.7 million respectively to our students

Tuition prices
for students in our online programs increased by an average of 5.0% for our

2010-2011 academic year
which was comparable to the increase in the 2009-2010 academic year Tuition

increases have not historically been and may not in the future be consistent across our programs due

to market conditions and differences in operating costs of individual programs Tuition for our

traditional campus-based programs did not increase in the 2010-2011 academic year as compared to an

increase of 2.5% in our 2009-2010 academic year

Seasonality

Our results of operations are generally subject to seasonal trends See Part II Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsFactors

Affecting ComparabilitySeasonality

Student Financing

Our students finance their education at our institutions through combination of the following

financing options

Title IV programs

If student attends any institution certified as eligible by the U.S Department of Education the

Department and meets applicable
student eligibility standards that student may receive grants and

loans to fund their education under programs provided for by Title IV of the Higher Education Act

An institution participating in Title IV programs must ensure that all program funds are accounted for

and disbursed properly To continue receiving program funds students must demonstrate satisfactory

academic progress
toward the completion of their program of study

In the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 Ashford University derived 85.0% 85.5%

and 86.8% respectively and the University of the Rockies derived 85.9% 84.6% and 80.8%

respectively of their respective revenues in each case calculated on cash basis in accordance with

applicable Department regulations from Title IV programs administered by the Department

FFEL and Federal Direct Loans The Federal Family Education Loan FFEL and Federal Direct

Loan Programs consist of two types of loans Stafford loans which are either subsidized or

unsubsidized and PLUS loans which are made available to graduate and professional students as well

as parents of dependent undergraduate students The FFEL program was administered and funded by

private lenders and guaranteed by federally recognized guaranty agencies which are then reimbursed by

the Department Recent legislation prohibits new federally-guaranteed loans from being made under

the FFEL Program commencing July 2010 instead such loans would be required to be made under

the Federal Direct Loan Program which is described below As of July 2010 both of our institutions

had fully transitioned to the Federal Direct Loan Program

With subsidized Stafford loan the federal government pays the interest on the loan while the

student is in school and during grace periods and any approved periods of deferment until the

students obligation to repay the loan begins Unsubsidized Stafford loans are not based on financial

need and are available to students who do not qualify for subsidized Stafford loan or in some cases

in addition to subsidized Stafford loan Loan funds are paid to us and we in turn credit the students

account for tuition and fees and disburse any amounts in excess of tuition and fees to the student
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Under the Stafford loan program dependent undergraduate student can borrow up to $5500 for

the first academic year $6500 for the second academic
year

and $7500 for each of the third and

fourth academic years Students classified as independent and dependent students whose parents have

been denied PLUS loan for undergraduate students can obtain up to an additional $4000 for each of

the first and second academic years and an additional $5000 for each of the third and fourth academic

years Students enrolled in graduate programs can borrow up to $20500 per academic year

Pell Under the Pell Program the Department makes grants to undergraduate students who
demonstrate financial need Effective July 2008 the maximum annual grant student can receive

under the Pell Program is $4731 Under the August 2008 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act
students are able for the first time to receive Pell Grant funds for attendance on year-round basis

and can potentially receive more in given year than the traditionally defined maximum annual

amount For the 20 10-2011 award year the maximum Pell Grant award is $5550 Recent proposed

legislation would also provide for automatic increases in the maximum amount of Pell Grant for which

student would be eligible subject to federal appropriations

Federal Work Study Program Under the Federal Work Study Program federal funds are made
available to pay up to 75% of the cost of part-time employment of eligible students based on their

financial need to perform work for the school or for off-campus public or non-profit organizations

Non Title IV funding sources

Other funding sources consist of cash private loans state grants corporate reimbursement

military benefits and in the case of the University of the Rockies institutional loans In the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 Ashford University derived 15.0% 14.5% and 13.2%

respectively and the University of the Rockies derived 14.1% 15.4% and 19.2% respectively of their

respective revenues in each case calculated on cash basis in accordance with applicable Department

regulations from these other funding sources

Financial aid processing

We have engaged Affiliated Computer Services Inc or ACS to provide call center and

transactional
processing services for the online financial aid student populations at Ashford University

and the University of the Rockies including services related to disbursement eligibility review and

Title IV fund returns We believe our engagement of ACS centralizes these processing services to

improve student financing outcomes and enhances our efforts to comply with Title IV rules and

regulations If our engagement with ACS were terminated we would handle these processing services

using our own resources or engage another third party vendor

Technology

We have created scalable technology system that is secure reliable and redundant and permits

our courses and support services to be offered online

Online course delivery and management

We use the eCollege online learning platform provided by Pearson eCollege third-party software

and services provider for our online platform The platform provides an online learning management
system and provides for the storage management and delivery of course content The platform includes

collaborative spaces for student communication and participation with other students and faculty grade
and attendance management for

faculty and assessment capabilities to assist us in maintaining quality

Pearson eCollege hosts the software for us in its data center to allow us to efficiently scale the

applications to mcci the needs of our growing student population Access to our systems is provided

through our student portals an extension of our individual university websites These portals are
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dynamic destinations for students to securely access personal information and services and also serve as

vehicles for student communications activities and student support services

Internal administration

We employ proprietary CRM system for lead management document management workflow

analytics and reporting Our CRM suite enables rapid response to new leads We believe our CRM

system is able to support the needs of our business for the foreseeable future We also utilize an online

application portal to accept integrate and process student applications

We utilize CampusVue student information system provided by Campus Management Corp to

manage student data including grades attendance status and financial aid and to generate periodic

management reports This system interfaces with our learning management system

Infrastructure

Our core infrastructure and servers are located in secure data center at our corporate

headquarters All of our servers are on scalable and redundant meshed network All systems
and

their associated data are included in backup and recovery plan We currently use industry standard

servers and related equipment We also have disaster recovery plan in place

Student Community and Activities

Athletics

Our athletic teams at Ashford University compete as members of the Midwest Collegiate

Conference and the NAJA We field teams as the Ashford University Saints in mens baseball

basketball bowling cross country golf soccer tennis and track and field and in womens basketball

bowling cross country golf soccer softball track and field tennis and volleyball

Student organizations and activities

Our students have the ability to participate in wide range of social and recreational activities and

organizations including Ashford Universitys student-run newspaper and interest groups ranging from

choir and fine arts to cheerleading Additionally we periodically have influential corporate political

and academic leaders on campus to speak to students on variety of topical issues

Graduation

Ashford University held three ceremonies on campus in 2010 for students graduating from our

online and campus-based programs In the three combined ceremonies we hosted approximately 4800

family members and guests
of 1305 attending graduates Of the students in attendance approximately

95% were graduating from online programs We believe the opportunity to attend traditional

graduation ceremony on campus is an important component of recognizing our online students for their

achievements It also provides online students with the opportunity to further develop their connection

to us and to our broader student population

Employees

As of December 31 2010 we had approximately 3000 full time and adjunct faculty members Our

adjunct faculty are part-time employees and we engage them on course-by-course basis Adjunct

faculty are compensated fixed amount per course which varies among faculty members based on each

individuals experience and background In addition to teaching assignments adjunct faculty may also

be asked to serve on student committees such as comprehensive examination and dissertation

committees or assist with course development
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As of December 31 2010 we also employed more than 3900 non-faculty staff in university

services academic advising and academic support enrollment services university administration

financial aid information technology human resources corporate accounting finance and other

administrative functions None of our employees is party to any collective bargaining or similar

agreement with us

Competition

The postsecondary education market is highly fragmented and competitive with no private or

public institution representing significant market share We compete primarily with public and private

degree-granting regionally accredited colleges and universities Many colleges and universities enroll

working adults in addition to traditional 18 to 24 year-old students In addition many of those colleges

and universities offer variety of distance education and online initiatives

We believe that the competitive factors in the postsecondary education market include the

following

reputation of the college or university among students and employers

qualified and experienced faculty

program costs

relevant practical and accredited program offerings

regulatory approvals

convenient flexible and dependable access to programs and classes

relative marketing and selling effectiveness

the time necessary to earn degree and

level of student support services

We expect to encounter increased competition as result of new entrants to the online education

market including traditional colleges and universities that had not previously offered online education

programs

Intellectual Properly

Intellectual prciperty is important to our business We rely on combination of patents copyrights

trademarks service marks trade secrets domain names and agreements with third parties to protect

our proprietary rights In many instances our course content is produced for us by faculty and other

content experts under work-for-hire agreements pursuant to which we own the course content in return

for fixed development fee In certain limited cases we license course content from third parties on

royalty fee basis

We have trademark and service mark registrations and pending applications in the United States

and select foreign jurisdictions We also own domain name rights to www.ashford.com

www.ashford.edu www.ashforduniversity.edu www.rockies.edu and www.universityoftherockies.com as

well as other words and phrases important to our business We have also applied for patent protection

in the United States for our Constellation technology
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Environmental Matters

We believe our facilities are in compliance with federal state and local laws and regulations
that

have been enacted or adopted regulating the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise

relating to the protection of the environment Compliance with these laws and regulations has not had

and is not expected to have material effect on our capital expenditures results of operations or

competitive position

Financial Information about Segments and Geographic Areas

We operate our business in one reportable segment and we have no foreign operations or assets

located outside of the United States For information about our revenues from external customers

measures of profits and losses and total assets see our consolidated financial statements which are

included elsewhere in this report

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The names of our executive officers and their ages titles and biographies as of February 2011

are set forth below

Name Age Position

Andrew Clark 45 CEO and President and Director

Daniel Devine 46 Executive Vice President/Chief Financial Officer

Jane McAuliffe 44 Executive Vice President/Chief Academic Officer

Rodney Sheng 44 Executive Vice President/Chief Administrative Officer

Ross Woodard 45 Senior Vice President/Chief Marketing Officer

Charlene Dackerman 50 Senior Vice President of Human Resources

Thomas Ashbrook 46 Senior Vice President/Chief Information Officer

Diane Thompson 55 Senior Vice President Secretary and General Counsel

Douglas Abts 37 Senior Vice President/Strategy and Corporate Development

Our executive officers are appointed by and serve at the discretion of our board of directors

Each executive officer is full-time employee There is no family relationship between any of our

executive officers or directors

Andrew Clark has served as our Chief Executive Officer and director since November 2003

and as our President since February 2009 Mr Clark also served from March 2005 to December 2008

on the Board of Trustees for Ashford University and currently serves on the University of the Rockies

Board of Trustees which he joined in September 2007 Prior to joining us in November 2003

Mr Clark consulted with several private equity firms examining the postsecondary education sector

Prior to 2003 Mr Clark worked for Career Education Corporation as Divisional Vice President of

Operations and Chief Operating Officer for American InterContinental University in 2002 From 1992

to 2001 Mr Clark worked for Apollo Group Inc University of Phoenix where he served in various

management roles culminating in his position as Regional Vice President for the Mid-West region from

1999 to 2001 Mr Clark earned an M.B.A from the University of Phoenix and B.A from Pacific

Lutheran University

Daniel .1 Devine joined us in January 2004 and currently serves as our Executive Vice President/

Chief Financial Officer Prior to Mr Devines appointment as Executive Vice President/Chief Financial

Officer in January 2011 Mr Devine served as our Senior Vice President/Chief Financial Officer from

November 2008 until December 2010 and as our Chief Financial Officer from January 2004 until

November 2008 Mr Devine has over 20 years of senior finance experience From March 2002 to

December 2003 Mr Devine served as the Chief Financial Officer of A-Life Medical From 1994 to

2000 Mr Devine served in various management roles for Mitchell International Inc culminating in his
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position as Chief Financial Officer from 1998 to 2000 From 1987 to 1993 Mr Devine served in various

management roles for Foster Wheeler Corporation culminating in his position of divisional Chief

Financial Officer from 1990 to 1993 Mr Devine earned B.A from Drexel
University and is

certified public accountant

Jane McAuliffe joined us in July 2005 and currently serves as our Executive Vice President/Chief

Academic Officer Prior to Dr McAuliffes appointment as Executive Vice President/Chief Academic

Officer in January 011 Dr McAuliffe served as our Senior Vice President/Chief Administrative

Officer from November 2008 until December 2010 and as our Vice President of Academic Affairs

from September 2007 until November 2008 Dr McAuliffe also served as Chancellor/President of

Ashford University from July 2005 to December 2010 From 2003 to 2005 Dr McAuliffe served as

President of Argosy University/Sarasota Campus in Sarasota Florida Prior to 2003 Dr McAuliffe

served in various management roles including Vice President for Academic Affairs at American

InterContinental University in 2002 and prior to that Dean Associate Dean and Program Director in

the College of Education at the University of Phoenix from 1996 to 2002 Dr McAuliffe earned

Ph.D M.A and B.A from Arizona State University

Rodney Sheng joined us in January 2004 and currently serves as our Executive Vice President/

Chief Administratie Officer Prior to Mr Shengs appointment as Executive Vice President/Chief

Administrative Officer in January 2011 Mr Sheng served as our Senior Vice President/Chief

Administrative Officer from November 2008 to December 2010 and as our Vice President of

Operations from January 2004 until November 2008 Mr Sheng has over 20
years of experience in the

postsecondary sector during which time he has worked for four different colleges and universities and

served in variety of management roles From 1995 to 2003 Mr Sheng worked for Apollo Group Inc

University of Phoenix From 2000 to 2002 Mr Sheng served as Vice President/Campus Director and

opened two campuses for the University of Phoenix in the state of Ohio In 2002 Mr Sheng was

responsible for the marketing and recruitment for 12 learning centers throughout the Southern

California metropolitan area Mr Sheng earned an M.A from the University of Phoenix and B.A
from San Diego Stte University

Ross Woodard joined us in June 2004 and has served as our Senior Vice President/Chief

Marketing Officer since November 2008 From June 2004 to February 2005 Mr Woodard served as

our Director of E-Commerce and from March 2005 to October 2008 he served as our Vice President of

Marketing From June 1992 to May 2004 Mr Woodard held multiple senior management positions

with Road Runner Sports From 1998 to 2004 Mr Woodard served as Director of E-Commerce for

Road Runner Sports and was responsible for the internet sales and marketing channel From 1992

through 1997 Mr Woodard served in various management roles with Road Runner Sports including

Director of Sales From 1989 to 1992 he served as Regional Manager for Nike Inc in San Diego
Mr Woodard earned B.A from San Diego State University

Charlene Dackrman joined us in September 2004 and has served as our Senior Vice President of

Human Resources since November 2008 From September 2004 to December 2005 Ms Dackerman
served as our Director of Human Resources and from January 2006 to October 2008 she served as

our Vice President of Human Resources Ms Dackerman has worked in the postsecondary sector for

over 18 years From 1986 to 2002 Ms Dackerman served in various management roles for Kelsey

Jenney College including College Director Campus Director Dean and Director of Admissions

Ms Dackerman earned an M.S from National University and B.S from Humboldt State University

Thomas Ashbrook joined us in November 2008 and has served as our Senior Vice President/Chief

Information Officer since that time From March 2005 to March 2008 Mr Ashbrook served as the

Divisional Information Officer for Fremont Investment Loan California industrial bank and

lending institution where he led information technology strategy for the residential business From 2001

to 2005 Mr Ashbrook served as the Senior Vice President of Technology Solutions for Fidelity
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National Information Solutions subsidiary of Fidelity National Financial Mr Ashbrook earned B.S

from California State University Long Beach

Diane Thompson joined us in December 2008 and has served as our Senior Vice President

Secretary and General Counsel since that time From September 1997 to November 2008

Ms Thompson served in various management roles for Apollo Group Inc University of Phoenix

From November 2000 to February 2006 Ms Thompson served as Vice President/Counsel for Apollo

Group Inc University of Phoenix and from March 2006 to November 2008 Ms Thompson served as

Chief Human Resources Officer From October 1992 to July 1996 Ms Thompson served as an

attorney in the Pima County Attorneys Office in Tucson Arizona Ms Thompson earned B.A from

St Cloud University an M.A from Antioch University and J.D from the University of Arizona

College of Law

Douglas Abts joined us in August 2010 and has served as our Senior Vice President Strategy

and Corporate Development since that time Mr Abts spent seven years at Science Applications

International Corporation in San Diego most recently serving as Corporate Vice President for Mergers

and Acquisitions He previously held the titles of Vice President for Strategic Development and

Business Development Manager For six years Mr Abts served his country as member of the United

States Navy He was SEAL Team Operations Officer and was ranked as the top
Lieutenant on

250-person SEAL Team Mr Abts holds an M.B.A from Harvard Business School and B.A in

Communication from Stanford University

In June 2003 Mr Clark acquired and subsequently hired the management to operate Foundation

College an education provider which conducted campus-based training programs through the

California Employment Training Panel From November 2003 to August 2004 Ms Dackerman served

as President and Chief Financial Officer of Foundation College Due to significant
decrease in state

funding the business filed for bankruptcy in December 2005

Additional Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in May 1999 under the name TeleUniversity Inc and we

changed our name to Bridgepoint Education Inc in February 2004 Our web site is located at

www.bridgepointeducation.com We make available free of charge on our web site our Annual Report

on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to

those reports
filed pursuant to Section 13a or 15d of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably

practicable after we electronically file such material with or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange

Commission SEC The reference to our website is intended to be an inactive textual reference and

the contents of our website are not intended to be incorporated
into this report
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REGULATION

Ashford University and the University of the Rockies are accredited institutions of higher

education which are subject to extensive regulation by variety of agencies These agencies include the

Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools the Higher
Learning Commission the agency that accredits our institutions thereby providing an independent
assessment of educational quality Our institutions are also subject to regulation by educational

licensing authorities in states where our institutions are physically located or conduct certain operations
State authorization or exemption from it in the states where school is physically located is also

prerequisite for eligibility to participate in Title IV programs We are also subject to regulation by the

U.S Department of Education the Department due to our participation in federal student financial

aid programs authorized by Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965 as amended the Higher
Education Act which we refer to in this report as Title IV programs To participate in Title IV

programs school must obtain and maintain authorization by the state education agency or agencies

where it is physically located be accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the Department and

be certified by the as an eligible institution Certification by the Department carries with it

an extensive set of regulations The laws regulations and standards of the Department the Higher

Learning Commission and state agencies address the vast majority of our operations

Accreditation

Ashford University and the University of the Rockies have been
institutionally accredited since

1950 and 2003 respectively by the Higher Learning Commission The Higher Learning Commission is

one of six regional accrediting agencies that accredits colleges and universities in the United States

Most traditional public and private non-profit degree-granting colleges and universities are accredited

by one of these six agencies Accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission is recognized by the

Department as reliable indicator of educational quality Accreditation is private non-governmental

process for evaluating the quality of an educational institution and its programs and an institutions

effectiveness in carrying out its mission in areas including integrity student performance curriculum
educational effectiveness faculty physical resources administrative capability and resources financial

stability and governance To be recognized by the Department an accrediting agency among other

things must adopt specific standards to be maintained by educational institutions conduct peer-review

evaluations of institutions compliance with those standards monitor compliance through periodic

institutional reporting and the periodic renewal process and publicly designate those institutions that

meet the agencys criiteria An accredited institution is subject to periodic review by its accrediting

agency to determine whether it continues to meet the performance integrity quality and other

standards required for accreditation An institution that is determined not to meet the standards of

accreditation may have its accreditation revoked or not renewed

Evaluations and renewals of accreditation

The Higher Learning Commission renewed Ashford Universitys accreditation in 2006 for the

maximum period of en years The renewal followed review process including change in ownership
review resulting from our acquisition of the university in 2005 as well as comprehensive evaluation in

connection with the regularly scheduled renewal process following the universitys previous ten-year

grant of accreditation in 1995 In connection with this renewal the Higher Learning Commission also

approved the universitys online delivery of all programs already approved for campus-based

offering without seeking any further approval ii an additional graduate degree the Master of Arts in

Organizational Management in both campus-based and online delivery modalities and iii the

universitys awarding of up to 99 credits to students from transfer sources including both credits earned

at other educational institutions and through assessments of college-level learning experiences acquired
outside the traditional university classroom The Higher Learning Commission also directed the
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university to submit progress reports
in June 2007 and June 2008 regarding success in meeting its

enrollment revenue and expense projections and in making capital improvements at the Iowa campus

Those reports were timely filed and the university was notified in October 2008 that no further

financial reporting is required One outcome of the comprehensive evaluation included the scheduling

of visit to Ashford Universitys campus for April 2010 to focus on review of institutional

finances effectiveness and outcomes of current experiential learning formats and transfer credit

policies and the impact on the Clinton campus of campus-based programs offered online

In April 2010 Ashford University hosted visiting team from the Higher Learning Commission

which conducted focused visit to evaluate effectiveness and outcomes of current experiential

learning formats and transfer credit and student academic load In June 2010 the Board of Trustees

of the Higher Learning Commission confirmed the successful completion of the focused visit and

recommended review of Ashford Universitys transfer policy and practice
and online credit load

including full and representative sample of the student body during the commissions next visit

The University of the Rockies was granted its initial accreditation from the Higher Learning

Commission in 2003 for period of five years Its accreditation was renewed by the Higher Learning

Commission in 2008 for period of seven years with comprehensive evaluation scheduled during the

2015-2016 academic year The renewal followed review process including change of ownership

review resulting from our acquisition of the university in 2007 as well as comprehensive evaluation in

connection with the regularly
scheduled renewal process following the universitys previous five year

grant of accreditation in 2003 The university has been scheduled to report to the Higher Learning

Commission by May 31 2011 concerning institutional planning

In November 2009 as result of our initial public offering both Ashford University and the

University of the Rockies participated in change of control accreditation visit from the Higher

Learning Commission The visiting team recommended to the Higher Learning Commission that both

institutions continue to meet the commissions eligibility requirements and accreditation criteria and

ii should receive their next comprehensive evaluations in 2014-2015 per the commission policy that

states an institution must have comprehensive review no later than five years following change in

control visit In May 2010 the recommendation of the new comprehensive visit dates was placed in

front of review committee from the Higher Learning Commission based upon the commission policy

that if visiting team is recommending five or fewer years
for the next comprehensive visit the

decision must be reviewed by review committee The review committee agreed with the

recommendations of the visiting team and determined that each institution would receive its next

comprehensive review in five years

Following the on-site focused visit to the University of the Rockies following our initial public

offering to verify that the institution continues to meet Higher Learning Commission requirements the

Higher Learning Commission advised the University of the Rockies that it could submit request to

offer three new graduate programs The university submitted the request and received confirmation

from the Higher Learning Commission in December 2010 that the offering of the new graduate

programs was approved

Accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission is important to our institutions for the following

reasons

it establishes comprehensive criteria designed to promote educational quality and effectiveness

it represents public acknowledgement by recognized independent agency of the quality and

effectiveness of our institutions and their programs

it facilitates the transferability of educational credits when our students transfer to or apply for

graduate school at other regionally accredited colleges and universities and
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the Department relies on accreditation as an indicator of educational quality and effectiveness in

determining schools eligibility to participate in Title IV programs as do certain corporate and

government ponsors in connection with tuition reimbursement and other student aid programs

We believe tha regional accreditation is viewed favorably by certain students when choosing
school by other schools when evaluating transfer and graduate school applications and by certain

employers when ev luating the credentials of candidates for employment

In addition by approving Ashford Universitys offerings of approved campus-based programs
through online delivery modalities and by approving increased transfer credit allowance and prior

learning assessment accreditation supports our mission of serving students by providing innovative

online programs and allowing student accessibility through increased transfer of credit for prior
traditional and non-traditional learning

Changes to Higher Larning Commission jurisdiction

In June 2010 tie Board of Trustees of the Higher Learning Commission adopted revised bylaws
which outline the bLsis on which an institution may claim that it is within the Higher Learning
Commissions jurisdiction The revised bylaws provide subject to specified grace periods and

grandfathering provsions that an institution must be incorporated within state in the 19-state north
central region and also have substantial presence in the north central region as defined by
commission policy to be considered within the commissions jurisdiction In November 2010 the

Higher Learning Commission adopted policy which specifies that an institution would be considered
to have substantiil presence in the north central region only if the institution can demonstrate to
the commission that its operations are substantially in the north central region The institution must

provide evidence that the majority of its educational administration and activity business operations
and executive and administrative leadership are located or operating within the north central region
and that it has at least one campus or additional location as applicable located in the north central

region

The Higher Le rning Commission will evaluate an institution that was accredited by the

commission as of JuLy 2010 such as Ashford University and the University of the Rockies against
the substantial presence definition at the time of the commissions next comprehensive evaluation of
such institution excpt where the commission has information to indicate that an institution does not
meet this requiremeit and initiates subsequent to July 2012 an inquiry to review jurisdiction
Ashford University nd the University of the Rockies are each scheduled for their next comprehensive
evaluations in 2014-015

Ashford Univerity and the University of the Rockies have campuses in are incorporated in and
have business operal ions administration and

leadership in Iowa and Colorado respectively both of

which states are located in the north central region However because both institutions also have
business operations administration and

leadership located outside of the north central region it is

uncertain whether the Higher Learning Commission would determine that these institutions have
substantial presence in the north central region under the definition in the adopted new policy The
Higher Learning Commission has indicated that it intends to develop more detailed plan for

reviewing complianc with the substantial presence requirement If the Higher Learning Commission
were to determine ti at Ashford University and the

University of the Rockies do not have substantial

presence in the north central region and are outside the commissions jurisdiction the institutions

would be subject to reconsideration of their affiliated status with the Higher Learning Commission If

the institutions were no longer accredited by an accrediting body recognized by the Department they
would be ineligible to participate in Title IV programs until they obtained accreditation by another

accrediting body recognized by the Department at which time they would need to file an application
with the Department for reinstatement
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Potential change in primary institutional accreditor for Ashford University

In September 2010 we announced that Ashford University had initiated the process of seeking

regional accreditation from the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities of the

Western Association of Schools and Colleges WASC Ashford University is working collaboratively

with both WASC and the Higher Learning Commission to facilitate the change in the Universitys

institutional accrediting body During the process Ashford University will continue to maintain its

current regional accreditation with the Higher Learning Commission Prior to initiating the

accreditation process
with WASC Ashford University notified the Department of its intention to

change its primary accreditor

The decision to seek WASC accreditation reflects careful analysis performed by the institutions

faculty and administration taking into account the dynamics of its student enrollment its faculty and

staff profile and the development of its programmatic offerings Based on this analysis and taking into

account how the institutions academic and administrative activity is becoming concentrated in

California Ashford Universitys governing board concluded that it is appropriate for the institution to

operate under the auspices of WASC which is the regional accrediting body having jurisdiction over

California institutions

WASC has established procedures through which institutions may move through the stages leading

to accreditation To begin the accreditation process Ashford University must first submit an application

to enable WASC to verify that the institution meets all of WASCs eligibility criteria Ashford

University submitted this application in January 2011 An Eligibility Review Committee ERC panel

comprised of peer reviewers appointed by WASC will then review the eligibility application If the

ERC panel determines that Ashford University meets WASCs eligibility criteria the institution must

next submit an application for accreditation together with supporting narrative and documentation

Upon receipt of the application for accreditation and related materials WASC will appoint site

visit team and schedule one or more visits the purpose of which is to validate the information provided

in the institutions application particularly its compliance with WASC standards Prior to the

submission of the final team report to WASC Ashford University will be given an opportunity to

review the report for correction of errors of fact and to prepare written response to the final team

report which will be provided to WASC for consideration along with the report If upon review of the

application and supporting documentation including the team report and the institutions response

Ashford University is found to be in substantial compliance with all of WASCs standards WASC may

grant initial accreditation typically with comprehensive review cycle of five years Depending on the

circumstances WASC may also grarLt initial accreditation with requirements for interim reports special

visits or both If initial accreditation from WASC is secured then Ashford University will commence

the
process

of redesignating
its primary institutional accreditor from the Higher Learning Commission

to WASC

Authorization by U.S Congress of Title IV Programs

The U.S Congress must reauthorize the Higher Education Act on periodic basis usually every

five to six years It was reauthorized most recently in August 2008 extending Title IV programs

through September 2014 The U.S Congress may propose and pass revisions to the Higher Education

Act between reauthorizations subject to approval by the President Also the U.S Congress determines

the funding levels for Title IV programs annually through the budget and appropriations process

On March 30 2010 the U.S Congress passed and President Obama signed into law the Health

Care and Education Affordability Act of 2010 or HCEAA Among other things the HCEAA amended

the Higher Education Act to prohibit new federally guaranteed loans from being made under the FFEL

Program beginning on July 2010 at which time institutions were required to certify loans through
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the Federal Direct Loan Program rather than through the FFEL Program As of July 2010 both of

our institutions had ully transitioned to the Federal Direct Loan Program

Department Regulat on of Title IV Programs

To be eligible tc participate in Title IV programs an institution must comply with the Higher
Education Act and gulations thereunder that are administered by the Department Among other

things the law and regulations require that an institution be licensed or authorized to offer its

educational program by the states in which it is physically located ii maintain institutional

accreditation by an ccrediting agency recognized for such purposes by the Department and iii be

certified to participal in Title IV programs by the Department Our institutions participation in Title

IV programs subject us to extensive oversight and review pursuant to regulations promulgated by the

Department Those egulations are subject from time to time to revision and amendment by the

Department The Departments interpretation of its regulations likewise is subject to change As

result it is difficult predict how Title IV program requirements will be applied in all circumstances

Recent Department ruemaking

In June 2010 the Department published in the Federal Register Notice of Proposed Rulemaking

June NPRM rela ted to Title IV program integrity issues and foreign school issues The June

NPRM addressed ea of the 14 topics discussed at the negotiated rulemaking sessions held in

November 2009 December 2009 and January 2010 including among others the following the

definition of high school diploma for the purposes of
establishing institutional eligibility to participate

in Title IV programs and student eligibility to receive Title IV aid standards regarding the payment of

incentive compensatin establishing requirements for institutions to submit information on program

completers for progrtms that prepare students for gainful employment in recognized occupations

revising the definition of what constitutes substantial misrepresentation made by an institution

standards regarding he
sufficiency of states authorization of an institution for the purpose of

establishing an institutions
eligibility to participate in Title IV programs and the definition of credit

hour for purposes of determining program eligibility for Title IV student financial aid

In July 2010 the Department published in the Federal Register another Notice of Proposed

Rulemaking July NPRM related to definition of gainful employment for purposes of

determining whether certain educational programs comply with the Title IV requirement of preparing
students for gainful employment in recognized occupation

In September 2010 the Department announced that final regulations regarding the 14 topics

addressed in the June NPRM and July NPRM would be published in the Federal Register in two

phases

Final regulaticns for all topics other than gainful employment would be published on or around

November 010 and would go into effect on July 2011

Final regulations for sections of the proposed gainful employment rules unrelated to programs
eligibility to receive federal student aid e.g rules regarding graduation rate and job placement
disclosures and approval of new programs would also be published on or around November

2010 and would go into effect on July 2011 and

Final regulations for sections of the proposed gainful employment rules related to programs
eligibility to receive federal student aid will be published in early 2011 and would go into effect

on July 201 as contemplated in the July NPRM

In October 2010 the Department published in the Federal Register consistent with the

Departments announcement in September 2010 final regulations addressing all 14 topics addressed in

the June NPRM and July NPRM other than sections of the proposed gainful employment rules related
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to programs eligibility to receive federal student aid The final regulations published in the Federal

Register are effective July 2011 except for rules pertaining to verification and updating of student

aid application information which are effective July 2012

Incentive compensation

The Higher Education Act prohibits an institution from making any commission bonus or other

incentive payments based directly or indirectly on success in securing enrollments or financial aid to

any persons or entities engaged in student recruiting or admissions activities or in making decisions

about the award of student financial assistance Under current Department regulations there are 12

safe harbor provisions which specify certain activities and arrangements that an institution may carry

out without violating the prohibition against incentive compensation reflected in the Higher Education

Act including among others the following

an institution may make up to two adjustments upward or downward to covered employees

salary or fixed hourly wage rate within any 12-month period without the adjustment being

considered an incentive payment provided that no adjustment is based solely on the number of

students recruited admitted enrolled or awarded financial aid

covered employee may be compensated based upon students successfully completing their

educational programs and

the incentive payment prohibition in the Higher Education Act does not apply to managerial

and supervisory employees who do not directly manage or supervise employees who are directly

involved in recruiting or admissions activities or the awarding of Title IV funds

In the final regulations published in October 2010 the Department eliminated all 12 safe harbors

effective July 2011 taking the position that any commission bonus or other incentive payment based

in any part directly or indirectly on securing enrollments or awarding financial aid is inconsistent with

the incentive payment prohibition in the Higher Education Act The Department contends that

institutions do not need to rely on safe harbors to protect compensation that complies with the Higher

Education Act and that institutions can readily determine if payment or compensation is permissible

under the Higher Education Act by analyzing whether it is commission bonus or other incentive

payment defined as an award of sum of money or something of value other than fixed salary or

wages paid to or given to person or entity for services rendered and whether the commission

bonus or other incentive payment is provided to any covered person based in any part directly or

indirectly upon success in securing enrollments or the award of financial aid which are defined as

activities engaged in for the purpose of the admission or matriculation of students for any period of

time or the award of financial aid covered person is any person engaged in student recruitment or

admission activity or in making decisions about the award of financial aid which is defined as any

employee who undertakes recruiting or admitting of students or the award of Title IV funds and any

higher
level employee with responsibility for recruitment or admission of students or making decisions

about awarding Title IV funds

The regulation states that the prohibition does not apply to fixed salary and wages and the

Department maintains in the preamble accompanying the publication of the regulation that an

institution can still make merit-based adjustments to employee compensation provided that such

adjustments are not based in any part directly or indirectly upon success in securing enrollments or

the award of financial aid Among other examples cited in the preamble accompanying the regulation

the Department states that an institution may maintain hierarchy of recruitment personnel with

different levels of responsibility with salary scales that reflect an added amount of responsibility an

institution may promote or demote recruitment personnel based on merit and an institution may

make compensation decision based on seniority or length of employment provided that in each case
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compensation decisiDns are consistent with the Higher Education Acts prohibition on incentive

compensation

We will have to modify some of our compensation practices as result of the elimination of the

safe harbors Such change could affect our ability to compensate our enrollment advisors and other

employees and execitives in manner that appropriately reflects their relative merit which in turn

could reduce th effectiveness of our employees and make it more difficult for us to attract and

retain staff with the desired talent and motivation to succeed and impair our ability to sustain and

grow our business aid enrollments at our institutions

Gainful employment

Under the Higi er Education Act schools operated on for-profit basis are eligible to participate

in Title IV programs only to the extent that their educational programs lead to gainful employment in

recognized occupation with the limited exception of qualified programs leading to bachelors

degree in liberal art

Under current aw an institution generally is required to obtain approval of new degree-granting

educational progranis Under the final regulations published in October 2010 and effective July 2011
if for-profit institution seeks to provide new program as defined by applicable Department

regulations whether or not degree-granting that prepares students for gainful employment in

recognized occupation it must submit notice to the Department at least 90 days before the first day
of class of such program The notice must describe how the institution determined the need for the

new program and how the program was designed to meet local market needs or for an online

program regional oi national market needs The institution must also describe how the program was

reviewed or approved by or developed in conjunction with business advisory committees program

integrity boards puHic or private oversight or regulatory agencies and businesses that would likely

employ graduates of the program An institution is not required to submit employer affirmations or

enrollment projections for program The institution must include in its notice that the program has

been approved by it accrediting agency or is otherwise included in the institutions accreditation by its

accrediting agency well as description of any wage analysis it may have performed that is related

to the new program Unless otherwise required by the Department to obtain approval for the new

program an institutiDn that provides notice may proceed with its plans to offer the new program
based on its determination that the program is an eligible program that prepares students for gainful

employment in recognized occupation However if concern or need for additional information

about the new program is identified by Department staff after receiving notice of the new program the

Department may alert the institution at least 30 days before the first day of class that the Department
must approve the prgram for Title IV purposes If any new program submitted by our institutions is

identified as being subject to Department review for Title IV purposes it could result in difficulties or

delays in introducing the program which could have negative impact on our growth and enrollments

For each program leading to gainful employment in recognized occupation the final regulations

also require institutions to provide prospective students with information concerning the occupation
that the program pr pares students to enter the programs on-time graduation rate the tuition and

fees it charges stuc lent for completing the program within normal time along with the costs of books
supplies room and hoard the placement rate for students completing the program and the median

loan debt incurred bi students who completed the program Institutions must also provide the

Department with infrmation that will allow determination of student debt levels and incomes after

program completion It is unclear at this time the level of administrative burden or effect on growth
and enrollments at our institutions that may result from the new reporting and disclosure

requirements
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The Department has yet to adopt final gainful employment regulations regarding program

eligibility In the July NPRM the Department proposed to assess whether program leads to gainful

employment by applying two tests including debt-to-income test and repayment rate test

Under the debt-to-income test the Department would annually calculate the ratio of the

annual loan payment for the program to the average annual earnings of the students who

completed the program and the ratio of the annual loan payment for the program to the

discretionary income of students who completed the program The annual loan payment would

be calculated using the median loan debt upon graduation of all students who completed the

program in the three most recently completed award years prior to the earnings year and using

standard repayment terms i.e 10-year repayment schedule and the current annual interest

rate on Federal unsubsidized loans Loan debt would include Title IV loans except Parent

PLUS loans and any private educational loans or debt obligations arising from institutional

financing plans but would not include any student loan that student incurred at prior

institutions or subsequent institutions unless the institutions are under common ownership or

control or are otherwise related entities Average annual earnings would be calculated by the

Department using actual average annual earnings obtained from the Social Security

Administration or another federal agency for the students who completed the program in the

most recent three-fiscal year period Discretionary income would be calculated based on the

difference between average annual earnings and 150 percent
of the most current Poverty

Guideline for single person in the continental United States The 2010 Poverty Guideline was

$10830

Under the repayment rate test the Department would annually calculate loan repayment rate

by dividing the original outstanding principal
balance of all loans repaid by the original

outstanding principal balance of all FFEL and Direct loans which entered repayment in the

prior four federal fiscal years and are owed by students who attended the program i.e not just

borrowers who completed the program loan would be counted as repaid if the borrower

made loan payments during the most recent fiscal year that reduced the outstanding

principal balance made qualifying payments on the loan under the Public Service Loan

Forgiveness Program or paid the loan in full excluding loans paid in full through

consolidation unless and until the consolidated loan is paid in full loan would not be counted

as repaid if the borrower is meeting its legal obligations
but is not actively repaying the loan

such as loan in deferment or forbearance or on an income-contingent repayment plan and

paying only interest The ratio excludes loan amounts for borrowers in military or in-school

deferment and borrowers entering repayment in the final six months of the most recent federal

fiscal year The original outstanding principal balance would be the balance on FFEL and Direct

loans including capitalized interest on the date those loans entered repayment

Based on the programs performance under these two tests the program may be fully eligible have

restricted eligibility or be ineligible to participate in Title IV programs as follows

Fully eligible programs would have either at least 45% loan repayment rate or

graduates with debt-to-income ratio of less than 20% of discretionary income or 8% of

average annual earnings Unless fully eligible program passes
both benchmarks institutions

would have to disclose the programs repayment rates and debt-to-income ratios and alert

current and prospective students that they may have difficulty repaying loans obtained for

attending that program

Ineligible programs would have less than 35% loan repayment rate and graduates with

debt-to-income ratio above 30% of discretionary income and 12% of average annual earnings

An ineligible program may not offer Title IV aid to new students but can provide aid to current

students for the remainder of the award
year

in which the program became ineligible and the

29



following award year The institution would have to disclose the programs repayment rates and

debt-to-income ratios and alert students that they may have difficulty repaying loans obtained for

attending that program

All other programs would be restricted programs The proposed regulations would limit the

enrollment Title IV recipients in restricted programs to the average number enrolled during

the prior three award years require the institution to demonstrate employer support for the

program wai consumers and current students that they may have difficulty repaying loans

obtained for attending the program and provide the most recent debt measures for the program
Institutions would demonstrate employer support for program by providing documentation

from emp1oyrs not affiliated with the institution affirming that the curriculum of the program

aligns with tli recognized occupations at those employers businesses and that there are

projected job vacancies or there is expected demand for those occupations at those businesses

The number and locations of the businesses for which affirmation is required must be

commensurate with the anticipated size of the program

Institutions with one or more ineligible or restricted programs would be subject to provisional

certification Under the proposed regulations programs may not be found ineligible to participate in

Title IV programs on account of the proposed new gainful employment regulations until the 2012-2013

award year The proposed regulations would also establish transition year during the award year

beginning July 2012 which would cap the number of programs which may be deemed ineligible

If such program eligibility rules are adopted by the Department as proposed we may need to

modify or eliminate some of the educational programs at our institutions or delay the introduction of

new programs whith could have negative impact on our growth and enrollments The Department is

expected to publish final gainful employment regulations regarding program eligibility in early 2011
which regulations are expected to become effective July 2012

State authorization

To be eligible to participate in Title IV programs an institution must be licensed or authorized to

offer its educational programs by the states in which it is physically located in accordance with the

Departments regulations Ashford Universitys campus is located in Iowa and is authorized to offer

postsecondary progr ms in Iowa The institution is exempt from having to register as postsecondary

school in the state of Iowa based primarily on its accreditation from the Higher Learning Commission
The University of Rckies is located in Colorado and is authorized in the state of Colorado based in

part on its accredita ion from the Higher Learning Commission The final regulations published in

October 2010 which take effect on July 2011 impose new requirements for an institution to be

considered legally authorized in state which is requirement for the institution to remain eligible

to participate in Title IV programs The final regulation provides that the Secretary of Education would

consider an institution to be legally authorized by state if among other things it meets one of the

following requireme ts

the state esta lishes the institution by name as an educational institution through charter

statute consttutional provision or other action issued by an appropriate state agency or state

entity and is authorized to operate educational programs beyond secondary education including

programs leading to degree or certificate

the institutiol complies with any applicable state approval or licensure requirements except that

the state may exempt the institution from any such requirement based on the institutions

accreditation by one or more accrediting agencies recognized by the Secretary of Education or

the institution being in operation for at least 20 years and
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the state has process applicable to all institutions except tribal and federal institutions to

review and appropriately act on complaints concerning the institution and to enforce applicable

state laws

The Department stated when it published the final regulations that it will not publish
list of

states that meet or fail to meet the above requirements and it is uncertain how the department will

interpret these requirements in each state The Department also stated that institutions unable to

obtain state authorization in state under one of the above-mentioned sets of requirements may

request one-year extension of the effective date of the regulation to July 2012 and if necessary an

additional one-year extension of the effective date to July 2013 To receive an extension of the

effective date an institution must obtain from the state an explanation of how one-year extension will

permit the state to modify its procedures to comply with the regulations

The final regulations also provide that if an institution is offering postsecondary education through

distance or correspondence education to students in state in which it is not physically located or in

which it is otherwise subject to state jurisdiction as determined by the state the institution must meet

any state requirements for it to be legally offering postsecondary distance or correspondence education

to students in that state Additionally upon request by the Department an institution must be able to

document that it has the applicable state approval Although our institutions have
process

for

evaluating the compliance of their online educational programs with state requirements regarding

distance and correspondence learning and have experienced no significant restrictions on their

educational activities to date as result of such requirements state regulatory requirements for online

education vary among the states are not well developed in many states are imprecise or unclear in

some states and are subject to change For more information see State Education Licensure and

Regulation below Moreover it is also unclear whether and to what extent state agencies may augment

or change their regulations in this area as result of new Department regulations and increased

scrutiny Any failure to comply with state requirements or any new or modified regulations could

result in our inability to enroll students or receive Title IV funds for students in those states and could

result in restrictions on our growth and enrollments

Administrative capability

Department regulations specify extensive criteria by which an institution must establish that it has

the requisite administrative capability to participate
in Title IV programs To meet the administrative

capability standards an institution must among other things

comply with all applicable Title IV program requirements

have an adequate number of qualified personnel to administer Title IV programs

have acceptable standards for measuring the satisfactory academic progress of its students

have procedures in place for awarding disbursing and safeguarding Title IV funds and for

maintaining required records

administer Title IV programs with adequate checks and balances in its system of internal control

over financial reporting

not be and not have any principal or affiliate who is debarred or suspended from federal

contracting or engaging in activity that is cause for debarment or suspension

provide financial aid counseling to its students

refer to the OIG any credible information indicating that any student parent employee third

party servicer or other agent
of the institution has engaged in any fraud or other illegal conduct

involving Title IV programs
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timely submit all required reports and financial statements and

not otherwis appear to lack administrative capability

Financial responsibidity

The Higher Education Act and Department regulations establish standards of financial

responsibility which an institution must satisfy to participate in Title IV programs The Department

evaluates complian with these standards annually upon receipt of an institutions annual audited

financial statements and also when an institution applies to the Department to reestablish its eligibility

to participate in Title IV programs following change in ownership One financial responsibility

standard is based oi the institutions composite score which is derived from formula established by

the Department tht is weighted average of three financial ratios

equity ratio which measures the institutions capital resources financial viability and ability to

borrow

primary rese ve ratio which measures the institutions ability to support current operations from

expendable resources and

net income ratio which measures the institutions ability to operate at profit or within its

means

The formula defines each of the three ratios and assigns strength factor and weighting

percentage to each ratio The weighted scores for the three ratios are then added to produce

composite score for the institution The composite score is number between negative 1.0 and

positive 3.0 It must be at least 1.5 for the institution to be deemed financially responsible without the

need for further Department financial oversight In addition to having an acceptable composite score

an institution must among other things provide the administrative resources necessary to comply with

Title IV program quirements meet all of its financial obligations including required refunds to

students and any Title IV liabilities and debts he current in its debt payments and not receive an

adverse qualified disclaimed opinion by its accountants in its audited financial statements

In the third qurter of 2010 consistent with our internal calculations the Department notified us

that Ashford Unive-sity received composite score of 2.9 for the fiscal year ended December 31 2009
and that the University of the Rockies received composite score of 1.8 for the fiscal

year ended

December 31 2009 in each case satisfying the composite score requirement of the Departments
financial responsibility test which institutions must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs

We expect the omposite scores for Ashford University and the University of the Rockies both to

be 3.0 for the year ended December 31 2010 However this is subject to determination by the

Department once it receives and reviews our audited financial statements for the
year

ended

December 31 2010

Return of Title 1VJii ids for students who withdraw

If student whD has received Title IV funds withdraws the institution must determine the amount
of Title IV program funds the student has earned pursuant to applicable regulations If the student

withdraws during the first 60% of any payment period which for our undergraduate online students

typically is 20-week term consisting of four five-week courses and for our campus-based students is

16-week semester the amount of Title IV funds that the student has earned is equal to pro rata

portion of the funth the student received or for which the student would otherwise be eligible for the

payment period If he student withdraws after the 60% threshold then the student is deemed to have

earned 100% of the Title IV funds received If the student has not earned all of the Title IV funds

disbursed the institution must return the unearned funds to the appropriate lender or the Department
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in timely manner which is generally no later than 45 days after the date the institution determined

that the student withdrew If an institutions annual financial aid compliance audit in either of its two

most recently completed fiscal years
determines that 5% or more of such returns were not timely made

the institution must submit letter of credit in favor of the Department equal to 25% of the Title IV

funds that the institution should have returned for withdrawn students in its most recently completed

fiscal year For the
year

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 our institutions did not exceed the 5%

threshold for late refunds sampled

The 90/10 rule

Pursuant to provision of the FEigher Education Act as reauthorized in August 2008 for-profit

institution loses its eligibility to participate
in Title IV programs if the institution derives more than

90% of its revenues calculated on cash basis in accordance with applicable Department regulations

from Title IV program funds for two consecutive fiscal years commencing with the institutions first

fiscal year that ends after the new laws effective date of August 14 2008 This rule is commonly

referred to as the 90/10 rule Any institution that violates the 90/10 rule becomes ineligible to

participate in Title IV programs for at least two fiscal years In addition an institution whose rate

exceeds 90% for any single year will be placed on provisional certification and may be subject to other

enforcement measures

In the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 Ashford University derived 85.0% 85.5%

and 86.8% respectively and the University of the Rockies derived 85.9% 84.6% and 80.8%

respectively of their respective revenues calculated on cash basis in accordance with applicable

Department regulations from Title IV funds

Recent changes in federal law that increased Title IV grant and loan limits and any additional

increases in the future may result in an increase in the revenues we receive from Title IV programs
which could make it more difficult for our institutions to satisfy the 90/10 rule However such effects

may be mitigated at least on temporary basis by another provision in the rule that allows institutions

to exclude for three years from their Title IV revenues when calculating their compliance the

additional $2000 per undergraduate student in certain annual federal student loan amounts that

became available starting in July 2008 Additionally recent changes permit institutions to include in

their calculation as non-Title IV revenues certain non-cash revenues such as institutional loan

proceeds under certain circumstances For Ashford University we have not excluded amounts

attributable to the increased annual federal loan limits from our 90/10 calculations

Student loan defaults

For each federal fiscal year the Department calculates rate of student defaults for each

educational institution which is known as cohort default rate An institution may lose its eligibility

to participate in the Direct Loan FFEL and Pell programs if for each of the three most recent federal

fiscal
years

for which information is available 25% or more of its students who became subject to

repayment obligation in that federal fiscal year defaulted on such obligation by the end of the following

federal fiscal year In addition an institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan or

FFEL programs if its cohort default rate exceeds 40% in the most recent federal fiscal year for which

default rates have been calculated by the Department Ashford Universitys two-year cohort default

rates for the 2008 2007 and 2006 federal fiscal
years were 13.3% 13.3% and 4.1% respectively The

two-year cohort default rates for the University of the Rockies for the 2008 2007 and 2006 federal

fiscal years were 2.5% 0.0% and 0.0% respectively The draft cohort default rates for the 2009 federal

fiscal year for Ashford University and the University of the Rockies were 15.3% and 3.3% respectively

An institution whose cohort default rate equals or exceeds 25% in any one of the three most recent

fiscal years for which rates have been issued by the Department may be placed on provisional

certification by the Department
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The August 200 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act included significant revisions to the

requirements concerning cohort default rates Under the revised law the period for which students

defaults on their loans are included in the calculation of an institutions cohort default rate was

extended by one adi itional year which is expected to increase the cohort default rates for most

institutions That change was effective with the calculation of institutions cohort default rates for the

federal fiscal year er ding September 30 2009 which rates are expected to be calculated and issued by

the Department in 2012 The Department will not impose sanctions based on rates calculated under

this new methodology until three consecutive years of rates have been calculated which is expected to

occur in 2014 Until that time the Department will continue to calculate rates under the old calculation

method and impose sanctions based on those rates The revised law also increases the threshold for

ending an institutions participation in the relevant Title IV programs from 25% to 30% effective for

final three-year cohcrt default rates published on or after the 2012 federal fiscal year The revised law

changes the threshold for placement on provisional certification to 30% for two of the three most

recent fiscal years for which the Department has published official three-year cohort default rates

Ashford Universitys unofficial or trial three-year cohort default rates for the 2008 2007 and 2006

federal fiscal years were 21.7% 17.4% and 6.1% respectively The trial three-year cohort default rates

for the University of the Rockies for the 2008 2007 and 2006 federal fiscal years were 2.5% 1.4% and

0.0% respectively TI he three-year cohort default rates are considered trial because as mentioned

above institutions are not required to calculate prior three-year repayment rates until 2012 and the

rates will not be the basis for measurement of compliance until 2014

Potential effect of noncompliance with Title IV regulations

The Department can impose sanctions for violating the statutory and regulatory requirements of

Title IV programs including

transferring an institution from the advance method or the heightened cash monitoring level one

method of Tii le IV payment which permit the institution to receive Title IV funds before or

concurrently with disbursing them to students to the heightened cash monitoring level two

method of payment or to the reimbursement method of payment which delay an institutions

receipt of Title IV funds until student eligibility has been verified

requiring an institution to post letter of credit in favor of the Department as condition for

continued TitLe IV certification

imposing Dnetary liability against an institution in an amount equal to any funds determined

to have been improperly disbursed

initiating proc eedings to impose fine or to limit suspend or terminate an institutions

participation Title IV programs

taking emergency action to suspend an institutions participation in Title IV programs without

prior notice or prior opportunity for hearing

failing to grant an institutions application for renewal of its certification to participate in

Title IV programs or

referring matter for possible civil or criminal prosecution

In addition the agencies that guarantee Title IV private lender loans for our students could

initiate proceedings limit suspend or terminate our ability to obtain guarantees of our students

loans through that aency

If sanctions wer imposed resulting in substantial curtailment or termination of our participation

in Title IV programs our enrollments revenues and results of operations would be materially and

adversely affected II we lost our eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or if the amount of
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available Title IV program funds were reduced we would seek to arrange or provide alternative

sources of financial aid for students We believe that one or more private organizations would be

willing to provide financial assistance to our students but there is no assurance of that Additionally

the interest rate and other terms of such financial aid would likely not be as favorable as those for

Title IV program funds and we might be required to guarantee all or part of such alternative

assistance or might incur other additional costs in connection with securing such alternative assistance

It is unlikely that we would be able to arrange alternative funding to replace all the Title IV funding

our students receive Accordingly our loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV programs or

reduction in the amount of available Title IV program funding for our students would be expected to

have material adverse effect on our enrollments revenues and results of operations even if we could

arrange or provide alternative sources of student financial aid

In addition to the actions that may be brought against us as result of our participation in

Title IV programs we are also subject to complaints and lawsuits relating to regulatory compliance

brought not only by our regulatory agencies but also by other government agencies and third parties

such as current or former students or employees and other members of the public including lawsuits

filed pursuant to the federal False Claims Act

Compliance reviews audits and reports

Our institutions are subject to reviews in connection with periodic renewals of certification to

participate in Title IV programs as well as announced and unannounced compliance reviews and audits

by various external agencies including the Department and its Office of Inspector General OIG
State licensing agencies the U.S Department of Veterans Affairs and accrediting bodies may also

conduct audits and reviews of similar fashion See AccreditationEvaluations and renewals of

accreditation above In addition as part of the Departments ongoing monitoring of institutions

administration of Title IV programs the Higher Education Act requires institutions to submit to the

Department an annual Title IV compliance audit conducted by an independent certified public

accounting firm In addition to enable the Department to make determination of an institutions

financial responsibility each institution must annually submit audited financial statements prepared in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America or GAAP
and Department regulations

The OIG is responsible for among other things promoting the effectiveness and integrity of the

Departments programs and operations With respect to educational institutions that participate in

Title IV programs the OIG conducts its work primarily through an audit services division and an

investigations division The audit services division typically conducts general audits of institutions to

assess their administration of federal funds in accordance with applicable rules and regulations The

investigation services division typically conducts focused investigations of particular allegations of fraud

abuse or other wrongdoing against institutions by third parties such as lawsuit filed under seal

pursuant to the federal False Claims Act

On January 21 2011 Ashford University received final audit report from the OIG regarding the

compliance audit commenced in May 2008 and covering the period July 2006 through June 30 2007

The audit covered Ashford Universitys administration of Title IV program funds including compliance

with regulations governing institutional and student eligibility awards and disbursements of Title IV

program funds verification of awards and returns of unearned funds during that period and its

compensation of financial aid and recruiting personnel during the period May 10 2005 through

June 30 2009
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The final audit report contained audit findings in each case for the period July 2006 through

June 30 2007 awai year 2006-2007 which we summarize as follows

Finding 1The university designed compensation plan for enrollment advisors that provided

incentive payments based on success in securing enrollments and did not establish that its plan

and practices qualified for the regulatory safe harbors

Finding 2i he university did not always perform return of Title IV aid calculations properly

resulting in improper retention of total of $29036 of Title IV program funds for 38

students in the OIGs sample sets of 85 students

Finding 3i he university did not in all instances return Title IV program funds timely for

Title IV students who withdrew or went on leave of absence from school

Finding 4i he form formerly used by the university to obtain authorizations to retain student

credit balanc did not comply with applicable regulations

Finding 5i he university did not in all instances disburse Title IV program funds in accordance

with applicaUe regulations or university policy because they were made prior to the students

being eligibk to receive them

Finding 6i he university did not in all instances maintain documentation to support online

students leaves of absence due to the lack of support for the start dates for 19 leaves of

absence

Each finding is accompanied by one or more recommendations to the Departments Office of

Federal Student Aid or FSA as summarized below

For Finding the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to provide records of

all salary adjustments made to enrollment advisors during award
year

2006-2007 and any

documentatinn not disclosed to the OIG that demonstrates that any specific adjustments made

during that period qualified for the regulatory safe harbors

For Findings and the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to remit to

the Departm nt and appropriate lenders certain amounts identified by the OIG $29036 for

Finding and ii undertake file review for award year 2006-2007 to identify the amount of

Title IV funds that were improperly retained or disbursed and to remit such amounts to the

Department appropriate lenders

For Finding the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to cease drawing

disbursing ar holding credit balances of Title IV program funds for which there are no

currently ass ssed institutional charges

For Findings and the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to

develop and implement certain remedial policies and procedures

For Findings and generally and for Finding in the event the university cannot establish

that its salary adjustments for enrollment advisors qualified for the safe harbor the OIG

recommended that the FSA consider whether to take appropriate action under Subpart of 34

C.ER Part 68 Under Subpart the FSA may seek to impose fine against the university or

to limit suspend or terminate the universitys participation in Title IV programs

The findings and recommendations of the final audit report represent the opinions of the OIG
and the issuance of final audit determinations and corrective action to be taken if any will be made by

the FSA
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Ashford University expects that the FSA will consider the findings and recommendations in the

final audit report and engage in dialog with the university prior to determining what if any action to

take and issuing Final Audit Determination Letter concluding the audit The OIG requested that

Ashford University provide response to the FSA regarding the final audit report and the university

responded in timely manner If the FSA were to determine to assess monetary liability or

commence an action under Subpart Ashford University would have an opportunity to contest the

assessment or proposed action through administrative proceedings with the right to seek review of any

final administrative action in the federal courts Although we believe Ashford University operates in

substantial compliance with Department regulations that are applicable to the areas under review we

cannot predict the ultimate findings potential liabilities or remedial actions if any that the FSA may
include in the Final Audit Determination Letter or the result of any administrative proceedings

including Subpart proceedings that may arise out of the Final Audit Determination Letter

Adding teaching locations and implementing new educational programs

The requirements and standards of accrediting agencies state education agencies and the

Department limit our ability in certain instances to establish additional teaching locations or implement

new educational programs The Higher Learning Commission the Colorado Commission on Higher

Education and other state education agencies that may authorize or accredit us or our programs

generally require institutions to notify them in advance of adding certain new locations or implementing

certain new programs and upon notification may undertake review of the quality of the facility or the

program and the financial academic and other qualifications of the institution

If an institution participating in Title IV programs plans to add new location or educational

program the institution must apply under certain circumstances to the Department to have the

additional location or educational program designated as within the scope of the institutions Title IV

eligibility Under current law degree-granting institutions are not required to obtain the Departments

approval of additional programs that lead to degree at the same or lower degree level as degree

programs previously approved by the Department Similarly an institution is not required to obtain

advance approval for new programs that prepare students for gainful employment in the same or

related recognized occupation as an educational program that has previously been designated by the

Department as an eligible program at that institution if the program meets certain minimum length

requirements However under new law effective July 2011 an institution will be required to notify

the Department in advance of all new programs as defined in the regulation and if required wait for

the Departments approval If an institution that is required to obtain the Departments advance

approval for the addition of new program or new location fails to do so the institution may be liable

for repayment of Title IV program funds received by the institution or by students in connection with

that program or enrolled at that location

Acquiring other schools

If we were to seek to acquire an existing accredited institution participating in Title IV programs
we would need to obtain the approval of the state education agency that authorizes the school being

acquired any accrediting agency that accredits the school being acquired and the Department The

level of review varies by individual state and by individual accrediting commission with some requiring

approval of such an acquisition before it occurs and with others only considering approval after the

acquisition has occurred The receipt of required approvals from applicable state education agencies

and accrediting agencies is
necessary prerequisite to the Departments certifying the acquired school

to participate in Title IV programs In addition the Departments certification of school following

change in ownership and control is always provisional certification The restrictions imposed by any of

the applicable regulatory agencies could delay or prevent our acquisition of other schools in some

circumstances or our ability to operate or grow the acquired schools
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Change in ownership resulting in change of control

The Department and most state and accrediting agencies require institutions of higher education

to report or obtain approval of certain changes of control and changes in other aspects of institutional

organization or opc rations Transactions or events that constitute change of control may include

significant acquisitins or dispositions of an institutions common stock and significant changes in the

composition of an institutions board The types of thresholds for such reporting and approval vary

among the states and among accrediting agencies The Higher Learning Commission issued amended

policies in June 20 which among other provisions provide that disposition of stock by holder

that reduces the hclders ownership below 25% of the outstanding stock of publicly traded company

is change of control requiring the prior approval of the Higher Learning Commission The amended

policies also provide that sale of more than 10% and less than 25% of the outstanding common stock

of publicly trade company must be reported to the staff of the Higher Learning Commission which

may determine in some cases that such sale requires prior approval or additional monitoring by the

Higher Learning Commission The Department regulations provide that change of control occurs for

publicly traded rporation if either person acquires such ownership and control of the

corporation so that the corporation is required to file current report on Form 8-K with the SEC

disclosing change of control or ii the corporations largest stockholder who owns at least 25% of

the total outstanding voting stock of the corporation ceases to own at least 25% of such stock or

ceases to be the largest stockholder significant purchase or disposition of our voting stock including

disposition of vol ing stock by Warburg Pincus could be determined by the Department to be

change of control under this standard In such event the regulatory procedures applicable to change

in ownership and control would have to be followed in connection with the transaction Similarly if

such disposition were deemed change of control by the Higher Learning Commission or applicable

state educational li ensing agency any required regulatory notifications and approvals would have to be

made or obtained

Privacy of student records

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 or FERPA and the Departments FERPA

regulations require educational institutions to protect the privacy of students educational records by

limiting an institutions disclosure of students personally identifiable information without the

students prior writ ten consent FERPA also requires institutions to allow students to review and

request changes to their educational records maintained by the institution to notify students at least

annually of this inspection right and to maintain records in each students file listing requests for access

to and disclosures of personally identifiable information and the interest of such party in that

information If an nstitution fails to comply with FERPA the Department may require corrective

actions by the institution or may terminate an institutions receipt of further federal funds In addition

educational institutions are obligated to safeguard student information pursuant to the Gramm-Leach

Bliley Act or GLBA federal law designed to protect consumers personal financial information held

by financial institutions and other entities that provide financial services to consumers GLBA and the

applicable GLBA egulations require an institution to among other things develop and maintain

comprehensive written information security program designed to protect against the unauthorized

disclosure of personally identifiable financial information of students parents or other individuals with

whom such institution has customer relationship If an institution fails to comply with the applicable

GLBA requirements it may be required to take corrective actions be subject to monitoring and

oversight by the deral Trade Commission or FTC and be subject to fines or penalties imposed by

the FTC For-profit educational institutions are also subject to the general deceptive practices

jurisdiction of the FTC with respect to their collection use and disclosure of student information
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State Education Licensure and Regulation

Iowa and Colorado

Ashford Universitys campus is located in Iowa and the institution is exempt from having to

register as postsecondary school in the state of Iowa The University of the Rockies campus is

located in Colorado and is authorized to operate by the Colorado Commission on Higher Education

We do not have campuses in any states other than Iowa and Colorado The Higher Education Act

requires Ashford University to maintain its exemption from registration in Iowa or become registered

in its absence and requires the University of Rockies to maintain its authorization from the Colorado

Commission on Higher Education in order to participate in Title IV programs To maintain our

Colorado authorization we must comply with requirements under Colorado statutes and rules for

continued authorization Failure to maintain our Iowa exemption or our Colorado authorization would

cause Ashford University or the University of the Rockies respectively to lose their authorization to

deliver educational programs and to grant degrees and other credentials and lose their eligibility to

participate in Title IV programs Effective July 2011 the Department regulations impose new Title

IV program requirements for an institution to be considered legally authorized by state See

Department Regulation of Title IV ProgramsState authorization above

Additional state regulation

Most state education agencies impose regulatory requirements on educational institutions

operating within their boundaries Some states have sought to assert jurisdiction over out-of-state

educational institutions offering online programs that have no physical location or other presence in the

state but that have some activity in the state such as enrolling or offering educational services to

students who reside in the state employing faculty who reside in the state or advertising to or

recruiting prospective students in the state In addition to Iowa and Colorado we have determined that

our activities in certain states constitute presence requiring licensure or authorization under the

requirements of the state education agency in those states and in other states we have obtained state

education agency approvals as we have determined necessary in connection with our marketing and

recruiting activities We review state licensure requirements when appropriate to determine whether our

activities in those states constitute presence or otherwise require licensure or authorization Because

we enroll students from all 50 states and from the District of Columbia we may have to seek licensure

or authorization in additional states in the future State regulatory requirements for online education

vary among the states are not well developed in many states are imprecise or unclear in some states

and are subject to change ConsequerLtly state education agency could disagree with our conclusion

that we are not required to obtain license or authorization in the state and could restrict one or more
of our business activities in the state including the ability to recruit or enroll students in that state or

to continue providing services or advertising in that state If we fail to comply with state licensing or

authorization requirements for any state we may be subject to the loss of state licensure or

authorization by that state or be subject to other sanctions including restrictions on our activities in

that state fines and penalties The loss of any required license or authorization in states other than

Iowa and Colorado could prohibit us from recruiting prospective students or from offering services to

current students in those states Effective July 2011 the Department regulations impose new Title IV

state authorization requirements for institutions that offer postsecondary education through distance

education to students in states in which it is not physically located or in which it is otherwise subject to

state jurisdiction as determined by the state See Department Regulation of Title IV ProgramsState
authorization above
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Item 1A Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves risk Before making an investment in our common stock you

should carefully cow ider the following risks as well as the other information contained in this report

including our annua consolidated financial statements and Part II Item Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financia Condition and Results of Operations The risks described below are those which we

believe are the matei ial risks we face Any of the risks described below could significantly and adversely

affect our business rospects financial condition and results of operations As result the trading price of

our common stock could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment Additional risks and

uncertainties not pre ently known to us or not believed by us to be material could also impact us

Risks Related to th Extensive Regulation of Our Business

If our institutions fail to comply with extensive regulatory requirements we could face monetary liabilities or

penalties restrictions on our operations or growth or loss of access to federal loans and grants for our

students on which are substantially dependent

In the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 Ashford University derived 85.0% 85.5%

and 86.8% respectively and the University of the Rockies derived 85.9% 84.6% and 80.8%

respectively of thei respective revenues in each case calculated on cash basis in accordance with

applicable Department regulations from federal student financial aid programs referred to in this

report as Title IV programs administered by the Department To participate in Title IV programs

school must be legally authorized to operate in the state in which it is physically located accredited by

an accrediting agen recognized by the Secretary of the Department as reliable indicator of

educational quality and certified as an eligible institution by the Department As result we are

subject to extensive regulation by state education agencies our accrediting agency and the Department

These regulatory requirements cover many aspects of our operations including our educational

programs facilities instructional and administrative staff administrative procedures marketing

recruiting financial operations and financial condition These regulatory requirements can also affect

our ability to acquile or open additional schools to add new or expand existing educational programs

to change our corprate structure or ownership and to make other substantive changes The state

education agencies our accrediting agency and the Department periodically revise their requirements

and modify their interpretations of existing requirements

If one of our iistitutions fails to comply with any of these regulatory requirements the

Department can impose sanctions on such institution including

transferring he institution to the heightened cash monitoring level two method of payment or to

the reimbunement method of payment which would adversely affect the timing of the

institutions -eceipt of Title IV funds

requiring th institution to post letter of credit in favor of the Department as condition for

continued Title IV certification

imposing netary liability against the institution in an amount equal to any funds determined

to have beei improperly disbursed

initiating priceedings to impose fine or to limit suspend or terminate the institutions

participation in Title IV programs

taking emergency action to suspend the institutions participation in Title IV programs without

prior notice or prior opportunity for hearing

failing to grant the institutions application
for renewal of its certification to participate in

Title IV pro grams or
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referring matter for possible civil or criminal investigation

If sanctions were imposed resulting in substantial curtailment or termination of our participation

in Title IV programs our enrollments revenues and results of operations would be materially and

adversely affected Additionally if administrative proceedings were initiated alleging regulatory

violations or seeking to impose any such sanctions or if third party were to initiate judicial

proceedings alleging such violations the mere existence of such proceedings could damage our

reputation We cannot predict with certainty how all of these regulatory requirements will be applied or

whether we will be able to comply with all of the requirements We have described some of the most

significant regulatory risks that apply to us in the following paragraphs

Because we operate in highly regulated industry we are also subject to compliance reviews and

claims of noncompliance and lawsuits by government agencies regulatory agencies and third parties

including claims brought by third parties on behalf of the federal government under the federal False

Claims Act If the results of these reviews or proceedings are unfavorable to us or if we are unable to

defend successfully against such lawsuits or claims we may be required to pay money damages or be

subject to fines limitations loss of Title IV funding injunctions or other penalties Even if we

adequately address issues raised by an agency review or successfully defend lawsuit or claim we may
have to divert significant financial and management resources from our ongoing business operations to

address issues raised by those reviews or to defend against those lawsuits or claims Claims and lawsuits

brought against us may damage our reputation or adversely affect our stock price even if such claims

and lawsuits are eventually determined to be without merit

The Departments Office of Inspector General conducted compliance audit of Ashford University and has

issued final audit report that contains findings of noncompliance and recommendations for certain

administrative remedies

On January 21 2011 Ashford University received final audit report from the Departments
Office of Inspector General or OIG regarding the compliance audit commenced in May 2008 and

covering the period July 2006 through June 30 2007 The audit covered Ashford Universitys

administration of Title IV program funds including compliance with regulations governing institutional

and student eligibility awards and disbursements of Title IV program funds verification of awards and

returns of unearned funds during that period and its compensation of financial aid and recruiting

personnel during the period May 10 2005 through June 30 2009

The final audit report contained audit findings in each case for the period July 2006 through

June 30 2007 award year 2006-2007 and related recommendations to the Departments Office of

Federal Student Aid or FSA For more information regarding the OIGs final audit
report

and the

findings and recommendations contained therein see RegulationDepartment Regulation of Title IV

ProgramsCompliance reviews audits and reports in Part Item of this report

Ashford University expects that the FSA will consider the findings and recommendations in the

final audit report and engage in dialog with the university prior to determining what if any action to

take If the FSA were to determine to assess monetary liability or commence an action to limit

suspend or terminate the universitys participation in Title IV programs Ashford University would have

an opportunity to contest the assessment or proposed action through series of administrative

proceedings with the right to seek review of any final administrative action in the federal courts

Although we believe Ashford University operates in substantial compliance with Department

regulations that are applicable to the areas under review we cannot predict the ultimate extent of the

potential liability or remedial actions if any that might result from the recommendations by the OIG
in the final audit report Such findings and related remedial action could have material adverse effect

on our reputation in the industry our cash flows and results of operations our ability to recruit

students and our business
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Our schools may be anctioned or subject to lawsuits if they pay impermissible commissions bonuses or other

incentive payments to individuals involved in certain recruiting admissions or financial aid awarding

activities

The Higher Ed ication Act prohibits an institution from making any commission bonus or other

incentive payment based directly or indirectly on securing enrollments or financial aid to any persons or

entities involved in tudent recruiting or admissions activities or in making decisions about the award

of student financial assistance Although the Departments regulations currently set forth 12 safe

harbors which des ribe compensation arrangements that do not violate the incentive compensation

rule including the ayment and adjustment of salaries and bonuses under certain conditions the law

and regulations do not establish clear criteria for compliance in all circumstances and the Department

no longer reviews and approves compensation plans prior to their implementation Additionally

effective July 2011 the Department eliminated all 12 safe harbors For more information regarding

the elimination of the 12 safe harbors by the Department see RegulationDepartment Regulation of

Title IV Programs -Incentive compensation in Part Item of this report

If one of our institutions were to violate the incentive compensation rule it could be subject to

monetary liabilities or to administrative action Subpart proceeding to impose fine or to limit

suspend or terminate its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs which could have material

adverse effect on our enrollment revenues and results of operations In Finding of the OIGs final

audit report
related to its compliance audit of Ashford University the OIG asserted that Ashford

University during tie 2006-2007 award year designed compensation plan for enrollment advisors that

provided incentive payments based on success in securing enrollments and did not establish that its

plan and practices qualified for the regulatory safe harbors To the extent Ashford University cannot

establish that its salary adjustments for enrollment advisors in the 2006-2007 award year qualified for

the regulatory safe aarbors the OIG recommended that the Departments Office of Federal Student

Aid take appropriale action to impose fine on the university or to limit suspend or terminate the

institutions eligibili for Title IV programs For more information regarding the OIGs final audit

report see Regula ionDepartment Regulation of Title IV ProgramsCompliance reviews audits

and reports in Par Item of this report

Additionally scveral of our competitors have been faced with lawsuits brought by current or

former employees rursuant to the federal False Claims Act alleging violations of the incentive

compensation rule Defending False Claims Act lawsuit could be costly and could divert

managements time and attention from our business regardless of whether the claim has merit The

adverse resolution uf such lawsuit could lead to monetary liability including treble damages and

attorneys fees and other sanctions which could have material adverse effect on our business results

of operations and financial condition

The Departments elimination of the 12 safe harbor provisions which specify certain activities and

arrangements that ait institution may carry out without violating the prohibition against incentive

compensation reflected in the Higher Education Act could impair our ability to sustain and grow our

business at historicai levels

Under current Department regulations there are 12 safe harbor provisions which specify certain

activities and arrangements that an institution may carry out without violating the prohibition against

incentive compensation reflected in the Higher Education Act In final regulations published by the

Department in October 2010 the Department eliminated all 12 safe harbors effective July 2011 For

more information regarding the elimination of the 12 safe harbors see RegulationDepartment

Regulation of Title IV ProgramsIncentive compensation in Part Item of this report

We will have to modify some of our compensation practices as result of the elimination of the

safe harbors Such change could affect our ability to compensate our enrollment advisors and other
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employees in manner that appropriately reflects their relative merit which in turn could reduce

the effectiveness of our employees and make it more difficult for us to attract and retain staff with the

desired talent and motivation to succeed and ii impair our ability to sustain and grow our business

and enrollments at our institutions either of which could have material adverse effect on our

enrollments revenues and results of operations As other institutions have disclosed and as our pilot

programs with revised compensation structures have indicated we expect that our enrollment advisors

new enrollment
productivity will decline as result of the changes in compensation methodology and

that the majority of the impact will be realized in the second half of 2011

Final regulations that may be adopted by the Department relating to our students gainful employment in

recognized occupation may require us to modify or eliminate some of the programs at our institutions

Under the Higher Education Act proprietary schools are eligible to participate in Title IV

programs only to the extent that their educational programs lead to gainful employment in

recognized occupation with the limited exception of qualified programs leading to bachelors degree
in liberal arts In July 2010 the Department proposed to assess whether program leads to gainful

employment by applying two tests debt-to-income test and repayment rate test Based on

programs performance under these two tests the program may be fully eligible have restricted

eligibility or be ineligible to participate in Title IV programs For more information regarding the

debt-to-income test and repayment rate test and related restrictions on eligibility see Regulation
Department Regulation of Title IV ProgramsGainful employment in Part Item of this report

If such program eligibility rules are adopted by the Department as proposed we may need to

modify or eliminate some of the educational programs at our institutions or delay the introduction of

new programs which could have negative impact on our growth and enrollments The Department is

expected to publish final gainful employment regulations regarding program eligibility in early 2011
which regulations are expected to become effective July 2012

Final regulations adopted by the Department requiring our institutions to notify the Department in advance of

introducing new programs could delay the introduction of such programs and negatively impact our growth

Under final regulations adopted by the Department in October 2010 if an institution seeks to

provide new program that prepares students for gainful employment in recognized occupation it

must submit notice to the Department at least 90 days before the first day of class of such program

containing the information specified in the regulations For information regarding the required contents

of the notice see RegulationDepartment Regulation of Title IV ProgramsGainful employment in

Part Item of this report

Unless otherwise required by the Department to obtain approval for the new program an

institution that provides notice may proceed with its plans to offer the new program based on its

determination that the program is an eligible program that prepares students for gainful employment in

recognized occupation However if concern or need for additional information about the new

program is identified by Department staff after receiving notice of the new program the Department

may alert the institution at least 30 days before the first day of class that the Department must

approve the program for Title IV purposes If any new program submitted by our institutions is

identified as being subject to Department review for Title IV purposes it could result in difficulties or

delays in introducing the program which could have negative impact on our growth and enrollments
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If one of our instituti ns offers classes to students in state in which it is not physically located and fails to

meet applicable state requirements to offer such classes in that state we may be unable to enroll students in

such state or receive Title IV funds for students in such state

Final regulations adopted by the Department in October 2010 provide that effective July 2011

if an institution is fering postsecondary education through distance or correspondence education to

students in state ii which it is not physically located or in which it is otherwise subject to state

jurisdiction as deter mined by the state the institution must meet any state requirements for it to be

legally offering post secondary distance or correspondence education to students in that state

additionally an inst tution must be able to document upon request by the Department that it has the

applicable state approval

Although our iistitutions have process
for evaluating the compliance of their online educational

programs with state requirements regarding distance and correspondence learning and have

experienced no significant restrictions on their educational activities to date as result of such

requirements state regulatory requirements for online education vary among the states are not well

developed in many are imprecise or unclear in some states and are subject to change Moreover

it is also unclear wi ether and to what extent state agencies may augment or change their regulations in

this area as result of new Department regulations and increased scrutiny Any failure to comply with

state requirements or any new or modified regulations could result in our inability to enroll students

or receive Title IV lunds for students in those states and could result in restrictions on our growth and

enrollments

We must periodically seek recertification to participate in Title IV programs and may in certain

circumstances be subject to review by the Department prior to seeking recertification

An institution hat is certified to participate in Title IV programs must periodically seek

recertification from the Department to continue participating in such programs including when it

undergoes chane of control as defined by the Department Our current certification for Ashford

University is scheduled to expire on June 30 2011 Our current certification for the University of the

Rockies is scheduled to expire on June 30 2016 The Department may also review our institutions

continued certificat on to participate in Title IV programs if we undergo change of control In

addition the Depai tment may take emergency action to suspend an institutions certification without

advance notice if it determines the institution is violating Title IV requirements and determines that

immediate action necessary to prevent misuse of Title IV funds If the Department did not renew or

if it withdrew our iistitutions certifications to participate
in Title IV programs our students would no

longer be able to rceive Title IV funds which would have material adverse effect on our enrollment

revenues and resuli of operations

Action by the U.S Congress to revise the laws governing federal student financing programs or reduce funding

for these programs could negatively impact our enrollments revenue and results of operations

The U.S Congress must periodically reauthorize the Higher Education Act and annually determine

the funding level each Title IV program In 2008 the Higher Education Act was reauthorized

through September 30 2014 by the Higher Education Opportunity Act The U.S Congress may

propose and pass revisions to the Higher Education Act between reauthorizations subject to approval

by the President Also the U.S Congress determines the funding levels for Title IV programs annually

through the budgel and appropriations process Changes to the Higher Education Act are likely to

result from subsequent reauthorizations and other changes may occur to the Higher Education Act or

to Title IV prograri funding levels and the scope and substance of any such changes cannot be

predicted
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In the past year there has been increased focus by the U.S Congress on the role that proprietary

educational institutions play in higher education On June 17 2010 the Education and Labor

Committee of the U.S House of Representatives held hearing to examine the manner in which

accrediting agencies review higher education institutions policies on credit hours and program length
This followed report from the Office of the Inspector General of the U.S Department in December
2009 criticizing the accreditation of proprietary school by regional accrediting body and requesting

that the Department review the appropriateness of its recognition of the accrediting body On June 24
2010 the Health Education Labor and Pensions Committee of the U.S Senate HELP Committee
released report entitled Emerging Risk An Overview of Growth Spending Student Debt and

Unanswered Questions in For-Profit Higher Education and held the first in series of hearings to

examine the proprietary education sector Earlier the Chairmen of each of these education committees

together with other members of Congress requested the Government
Accountability Office GAO

to conduct review and prepare report with recommendations regarding various aspects of the

proprietary sector including recruitment practices educational quality student outcomes the

sufficiency of integrity safeguards against waste fraud and abuse in federal student aid programs and

the degree to which proprietary institutions revenue is composed of Title IV and other federal funding
sources The results of portion of this review by the GAO were reported at HELP Committee

hearing on August 2010 entitled For Profit Schools The Student Recruitment Experience Sen
Tom Harkin the Chairman of the HELP Committee stated at the August hearing that he is concerned

about the practices of proprietary schools the increasing amount of Title IV funding received by the

proprietary sector and the effectiveness of accrediting bodies in ensuring academic and other standards

In addition Sen Harkin has stated that the recently proposed regulations by the Department regarding

incentive compensation of recruiting personnel gainful employment standards and other matters while

useful are only start to addressing the problems he perceives in the sector Following the August

hearing Sen Harkin requested broad range of detailed information from 30 groups of proprietary

institutions including Ashford University and the University of the Rockies Our institutions have been
and intend to continue being responsive to the requests of the HELP Committee On September 30
2010 the HELP Committee held third hearing and Sen Harkins staff released memorandum
entitled The Return on the Federal Investment in For-Profit Education Debt Without Diploma
On February 2011 Sen Harkin spoke on the floor of the U.S Senate and asserted that proprietary

schools including Ashford University engage in overly aggressive and misleading tactics to recruit

students

On March 2011 we received correspondence from the HELP Committee inviting our CEO and

President to testify at hearing scheduled for March 10 2011 regarding Bridgepoint Education Inc

and Ashford University

We cannot predict what legislation if any will emanate from these Congressional committee

hearings or what impact any such legislation might have on the proprietary education sector and our

business in particular Any action by Congress that significantly reduces Title IV program funding or

the eligibility of our institutions or students to participate in Title IV programs would have material

adverse effect on our enrollments revenues and results of operations Congressional action could also

require us to modify our practices in ways that could increase our administrative costs and reduce our

profit margin which could have material adverse effect on our enrollments revenues and results of

operations

If the U.S Congress significantly reduced the amount of available Title IV program funding we
would attempt to arrange for alternative sources of financial aid for our students which may include

lending funds directly to our students but it is unlikely that private sources would be able to provide as

much funding to our students on terms as favorable as are currently provided by Title IV In addition

private organizations could require us to guarantee all or part of this assistance and we might incur

other additional costs For these reasons private alternative sources of student financial aid would only

partly offset if at all the impact on our business of reduced Title IV program funding
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Our failure to mainlain institutional accreditation would result in loss of eligibility to participate in Title IV

programs

An institution must be accredited by an accrediting agency recognized by the Department in order

to participate in Title IV programs Each of our schools is accredited by the Higher Learning

Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools which is recognized by the

Department as reliable authority regarding the quality of education and training provided by the

institutions it accre dits Ashford University was reaccredited by the Higher Learning Commission in

2006 for term of ten years and the University of the Rockies was reaccredited by the Higher

Learning Commiss on in 2008 for term of seven years

To remain acc edited our institutions must continuously meet accreditation standards relating to

among other thing performance governance institutional integrity educational quality faculty

administrative capt bility resources and financial stability If either of our institutions fails to satisfy any

of the Higher Leai ning Commissions standards it could lose its accreditation Loss of accreditation

would denigrate the value of our institutions educational programs and would cause them to lose their

eligibility to participate
in Title IV programs which would have material adverse effect on our

enrollment revenues and results of operations

If Ashford University and the University of the Rockies are considered to be outside of the Higher Learning

Commission jurisdiction under new policy the institutions could lose accreditation and become ineligible

for Title IV programs

The Higher Larning Commission has recently adopted revised bylaws and related policies which

outline the basis which an institution may claim that it is within the commissions jurisdiction The

revised bylaws proiide subject to specified grace periods and grandfathering provisions that an

institution must be incorporated within state in the 19-state north central region and also have

substantial preser
ce in the north central region as defined by commission policy to be considered

within the commisions jurisdiction For more information see RegulationAccreditationChanges

to Higher Learning Commission jurisdiction in Part Item of this report The Higher Learning

Commission will eialuate an institution that was accredited by the commission as of July 2010 such

as Ashford University and the University of the Rockies against the substantial presence definition

at the time of the commissions next comprehensive evaluation of such institution except where the

commission has in ormation to indicate that an institution does not meet this requirement and initiates

subsequent to July 2012 an inquiry to review jurisdiction Ashford University and the University of

the Rockies are eech scheduled for their next comprehensive evaluations in 2014-2015

Ashford Univrsity and the University of the Rockies have campuses in are incorporated in and

have business operations administration and leadership in Iowa and Colorado respectively both of

which states are lccated in the north central region However because both institutions also have

business operations administration and leadership located outside of the north central region it is

uncertain whether the Higher Learning Commission would determine that these institutions have

substantial presenee in the north central region under the definition in the adopted new policy
If the

Higher Learning Commission determines that Ashford University and the University of the Rockies do

not have substai Ltial presence in the north central region and are outside the commissions

jurisdiction the in stitutions will be subject to reconsideration of their affiliated status with the Higher

Learning Commision If the institutions were no longer accredited by an accrediting body recognized

by the Department they would be ineligible to participate in Title IV programs until they obtained

accreditation by another accrediting body recognized by the Department at which time they would

need to file an ap lication with the Department for reinstatement The ineligibility of our institutions

to participate in itle IV programs would have material adverse effect on our enrollments revenues

and results of ope rations

46



Ashford University could experience difficulties or delays in changing its primary accreditor

In September 2010 we announced that Ashford University has initiated the
process

of seeking

regional accreditation from the Accrediting Commission for Senior Colleges and Universities of the

Western Association of Schools and Colleges WASC Ashford University is currently accredited by

and in good standing with the Higher Learning Commission

Although Ashford University is working collaboratively with both WASC and the Higher Learning

Commission to facilitate the migration of accreditation it could experience difficulties or delays in

receiving initial accreditation from WASC If Ashford University is unable to obtain initial accreditation

from WASC the institutions academic reputation and ability to grow enrollments could be negatively

affected Additionally if Ashford University does not receive WASC accreditation and loses

accreditation from the Higher Learning Commission e.g due to the Higher Learning Commissions

proposed new jurisdictional requirements requiring substantial presence in the 19-state north

central region which will become effective on July 2012 the institution would no longer be

accredited by an accrediting body recognized by the Department and would be ineligible to participate

in Title IV programs until it obtained accreditation by another accrediting body recognized by the

Department at which time it would need to file an application with the Department for reinstatement

If Ashford University becomes ineligible to participate in Title IV programs it will have material

adverse effect on our enrollments revenue and results of operations

If our accrediting body loses recognition by the Department we could lose our ability to participate in Title IV

programs

In December 2009 the OIG issued an Alert Memorandum calling into question the Higher

Learning Commissions compliance with the applicable Department regulations related to the Higher

Learning Commissions status as recognized by the Department Specifically in matters unrelated to us

the OIG asserted in the Alert Memorandum that the Higher Learning Commission did not make

appropriate assessments as to credit hours with respect to the distance education programs of one of

the Higher Learning Commissions accredited institutions and as such the OIG recommended that the

Department determine whether the Higher Learning Commission is in compliance with applicable

regulations and if not take appropriate action to limit suspend or terminate the Higher Learning

Commissions recognition by the Secretary of Education Additionally in May 2010 the OIG issued

final management report to the Higher Learning Commission in which the OIG found that the Higher

Learning Commission does not have an established definition of credit hour or minimum requirements

for program length and the assignment of credit hours which the OIG asserted could result in inflated

credit hours the improper designation of full-time student status and the over-awarding of Title IV

funds

The Department reportedly informed the Higher Learning Commission that the Higher Learning

Commission could come into compliance with the applicable regulations if it accepted set of

corrective actions and that if the Higher Learning Commission did not accept the corrective actions

the Department would initiate limitation suspension or termination action against the Higher

Learning Commission The Higher Learning Commission reportedly informed the Department that the

Higher Learning Commission accepted the Departments corrective action plan in May 2010 We do

not know whether the Department will take further action If the Department ceased to recognize the

Higher Learning Commission for any reason Ashford University and the University of the Rockies

would not be eligible to participate in Title IV programs beginning 18 months after the date such

recognition ceased unless the Higher Learning Commission was again recognized or our institutions

were accredited by another accrediting body recognized by the Department The ineligibility of our

institutions to participate in Title IV programs would have material adverse effect on our

enrollments revenues and results of operations
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If one of our instititions does not maintain necessary state authorization in the states in which it is physically

located it may not operate or participate in Title IV programs

To participate in Title IV programs an institution must be authorized by the relevant education

agency of the stat in which it is physically located

Ashford Ui Liversity is located in the State of Iowa and is authorized to offer postsecondary

programs in Iowa The institution is exempt from having to register as postsecondary school in

the State Iowa Such exemption may be lost or withdrawn if Ashford University fails to

comply wit requirements under Iowa law for continued exemption

The Univei sity of the Rockies is located in the State of Colorado and is authorized by the

Colorado Commission on Higher Education Such authorization may be lost or withdrawn if the

University the Rockies fails to comply with requirements under Colorado statutes and rules

for continud authorization

The final regulations published in October 2010 which that take effect on July 2011 impose new

requirements for institution to be considered legally authorized in state which is required for

the institution to emain eligible to participate in the Title IV programs The final regulations provide

that the Secretary of Education would consider an institution to be legally authorized by state if it

meets one of seve a1 sets of requirements See RegulationDepartment Regulation of Title IV

ProgramsState uthorization The Department stated when it published the final regulations that it

will not publish list of states that meet or fail to meet the requirements and it is uncertain how the

Department will ii iterpret these requirements in each state The Department also stated that

institutions unable to obtain state authorization in state under the one of the above-mentioned sets of

requirements may request one-year extension of the effective date of the regulation to July 2012
and if necessary an additional one-year extension of the effective date to July 2013 To receive an

extension of the elective date an institution must obtain from the state an explanation of how

one-year extensiot will permit the state to modify its procedures to comply with the regulations

Loss of state uthorization by one of our institutions in the state in which it is physically located

or the failure of the state authorization to meet the requirements under the new regulations within the

time periods provided by the regulations would terminate our ability to provide educational services

through such institution as well as make such institution ineligible to participate in Title IV programs

which would have material adverse effect on our enrollments revenues and results of operations

The failure of our institutions to demonstrate financial responsibility may result in loss of eligibility to

participate in Title Wprograms or require the posting of letter of credit in order to maintain eligibility to

participate in Title Wprograms

To participate in Title IV programs an eligible institution must among other things satisfy specific

measures of finarnial responsibility prescribed by the Department or post letter of credit in favor of

the Department aid possibly accept other conditions to the institutions participation in Title IV

programs For moe information regarding the Departments financial responsibility requirements see

RegulationDepartment Regulation of Title IV ProgramsFinancial responsibility in Part Item

of this report If we are found not to have satisfied the Departments financial responsibility

requirements we ould be limited in our access to or lose Title IV program funding which would

have material acverse effect on our enrollment revenues and results of operations

The failure of our institutions to demonstrate administrative capability may result in loss of eligibility to

participate in Title Wprograms

Department regulations specify extensive criteria by which an institution must establish that it has

the requisite admi iistrative capability to participate in Title IV programs For more information
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regarding the Departments administrative capability standards see RegulationDepartment

Regulation of Title IV ProgramsAdministrative capability in Part Item of this report

If an institution fails to satisfy any of these criteria or comply with any other Department

regulations the Department may impose sanctions including

transferring the institution to the heightened cash monitoring level two method of payment or to

the reimbursement method of payment which would adversely affect the timing of the

institutions receipt of Title IV funds

requiring the institution to post letter of credit in favor of the Department as condition for

continued Title IV certification

imposing monetary liability against the institution in an amount equal to any funds determined

to have been improperly disbursed

initiating proceedings to impose fine or to limit suspend or terminate the institutions

participation in Title IV programs

taking emergency action to suspend the institutions participation in Title IV programs without

prior notice or prior opportunity for hearing

failing to approve the institutions application for renewal of its certification to participate in

Title IV programs or

referring matter for possible civil or criminal investigation

If we are found not to have satisfied the Departments administrative capability requirements we

could be limited in our access to or lose Title IV program funding which would have material

adverse effect on our enrollment revenues and results of operations

Our institutions are subject to sanctions if they fail to correctly calculate and return Title IV program funds in

timely manner for students who withdraw before completing their educational program

An institution participating in Title IV programs must correctly calculate the amount of unearned

Title IV program funds that have been disbursed to students who withdraw from their educational

programs before completion and must return those unearned funds in timely manner generally

within 45 days of the date the school determines that the student has withdrawn Under Department

regulations failure to make timely returns of Title IV program funds for 5% or more of students

sampled on the institutions annual compliance audit in either of its two most recently completed fiscal

years can result in an institutions having to post
letter of credit in an amount equal to 25% of its

prior year returns of Title IV program funds

If unearned funds are not properly calculated and returned in timely manner an institution is

also subject to monetary liabilities or an action to impose fine or to limit suspend or terminate its

participation in Title IV programs In Finding of the OIGs final audit report pertaining to its

compliance audit of Ashford University the OIG asserted that Ashford University during the

2006-2007 award year did not in all instances return Title IV funds timely for students who withdrew

or went on leave of absence from school Accordingly the OIG recommended that the FSA

require Ashford University to develop and implement certain remedial policies and procedures and

ii take appropriate action to impose fine on the university or to limit suspend or terminate the

institutions eligibility for Title IV programs For more information about the OIGs final audit report

see RegulationDepartment Regulation of Title IV ProgramsCompliance reviews audits and

reports in Part Item of this report
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We may lose our eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if the percentage of our revenue derived from

those programs is to high

Pursuant to provision of the Higher Education Act for-profit institution loses its eligibility to

participate in Titlc IV programs if the institution derives more than 90% of its revenues calculated on

cash basis in accDrdance with applicable Department regulations from Title IV funds for two

consecutive fiscal years This rule is commonly referred to as the 90/10 rule Any institution that

violates the 90/10 ule becomes ineligible to participate in Title IV programs for at least two fiscal

years In addition an institution whose rate exceeds 90% for any single year will be placed on

provisional certification and may be subject to other enforcement measures

In the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 Ashford University derived 85.0% and 85.5%

respectively and the University of the Rockies derived 85.9% and 84.6% respectively of their

respective revenues calculated on cash basis in accordance with applicable Department regulations

from Title IV func Ineligibility to participate in Title IV programs would have material adverse

effect on our enroLlments revenues and results of operations Recent changes in federal law which

increased Title IV grant and loan limits and any additional increases in the future may result in an

increase in the re enues we receive from Title IV programs which could make it more difficult for us

to satisfy the 90/1 rule

We may lose our eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if our student loan default rates are too high

For each federal fiscal year the Department calculates rate of student defaults for each

educational instituion which is known as cohort default rate An institution may lose its eligibility

to participate in the Direct Loan FFEL and Pell programs if for each of the three most recent federal

fiscal years for which information is available 25% or more of its students who became subject to

repayment obligation in that federal fiscal year defaulted on such obligation by the end of the following

federal fiscal year In addition an institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan

and FFEL prograns if its cohort default rate exceeds 40% in the most recent federal fiscal year for

which default rate have been calculated by the Department Ashford Universitys two-year cohort

default rates for ti 2008 2007 and 2006 federal fiscal years were 13.3% 13.3% and 4.1%

respectively The two-year cohort default rates for the University of the Rockies for the 2008 2007 and

2006 federal fiscal years were 2.5% 0.0% and 0.0% respectively The draft cohort default rates for the

2009 federal fiscal year for Ashford University and the University of the Rockies were 15.3% and 3.3%

respectively An institution whose cohort default rate equals or exceeds 25% in any one of the three

most recent fiscal iears for which rates have been issued by the Department may be placed on

provisional certific tion by the Department

The August 08 reauthorization of the Higher Education Act includes significant revisions to the

requirements concrning cohort default rates Under the revised law the period for which students

defaults on their li ans are included in the calculation of an institutions cohort default rate has been

extended by one additional year which is expected to increase the cohort default rates for most

institutions That hange was effective with the calculation of institutions cohort default rates for the

federal fiscal year ending September 30 2009 which rates are expected to be calculated and issued by

the Department in 2012 The Department will not impose sanctions based on rates calculated under

this new methodolgy until three consecutive years of rates have been calculated which is expected to

occur in 2014 Uni il that time the Department will continue to calculate rates under the old calculation

method and impose sanctions if necessary based on those rates The revised law also increases the

threshold for ending an institutions participation in the relevant Title IV programs from 25% to 30%
effective for final hree-year cohort default rates published on or after the 2012 federal fiscal year

Ineligibility to pan icipate in Title IV programs would have material adverse effect on our

enrollments reven ie and results of operations The revised law changes the threshold for placement on

provisional certificition to 30% for two of the three most recent fiscal
years

for which the Department
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has published official three-year cohort default rates Ashford Universitys unofficial or trial three-year

cohort default rates for the 2008 2007 and 2006 federal fiscal years were 21.7% 17.4% and 6.1%

respectively The trial three-year cohort default rates for the University of the Rockies for the 2008

2007 and 2006 federal fiscal years were 2.5% 1.4% and 0.0% respectively The three-year cohort

default rates are considered trial because as mentioned above institutions are not required to

calculate prior three-year repayment rates until 2012 and the rates will not be the basis for

measurement of compliance until 2014

Our failure to comply with regulations of various states could preclude us from recruiting or enrolling

students in those states or result in such students being ineligible for Title IV financial aid

Various states impose regulatory requirements on educational institutions operating within their

boundaries Several states have sought to assert jurisdiction over online educational institutions that

have no physical location or other presence in the state but that offer educational services to students

who reside in the state or that advertise to or recruit prospective students in the state State regulatory

requirements for online education are inconsistent between states and are not well developed in many

jurisdictions As such these requirements are subject to change and in some instances are unclear or

are left to the discretion of state employees or agents Our changing business and the constantly

changing regulatory environment require us to regularly evaluate our state regulatory compliance

activities If we are found not to be in compliance and state seeks to restrict one or more of our

business activities within that state we may not be able to recruit students from that state and may

have to cease recruiting or enrolling students in that state

Although under current law the only state authorizations required for Ashford University and the

University of the Rockies to participate in Title IV programs are the exemption for Ashford University

in the State of Iowa and the University of the Rockies authorization from the Colorado Commission of

Higher Education the loss of licensure or authorization in other states or the assertion by other states

that licensure is required within their states could prohibit us from recruiting or enrolling students in

those states However effective July 2011 the Department regulations will impose new Title IV state

authorization requirements for institutions that offer postsecondary education through distance

education to students in states in whiclh it is not physically located or in which it is otherwise subject to

state jurisdiction as determined by the state See RegulationDepartment Regulation of Title IV

ProgramsState authorization in Part Item of this report Our failure to comply with these

requirements in one or more states could result in our inability to provide Title IV funds to students in

those states

If regulators do not approve or if they delay their approval of transactions involving change of control of

our company our ability to participate in Title IV programs may be impaired

If we or either of our institutions undergoes change of control under the standards of applicable

state education agencies the Higher Learning Commission or the Department we must seek the

approval of each such regulatory agency For more information see RegulationDepartment

Regulation of Title IV ProgramsChange in ownership resulting in change of control in Part

Item of this report failure by us or one of our institutions to reestablish its state authorization

Higher Learning Commission accreditation or Department certification as applicable following

change of control could result in suspension or loss of operating authority or the ability to participate

in Title IV programs which would have material adverse effect on our enrollments revenues and

results of operations
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We cannot offer new programs expand our physical operations into certain states or acquire additional

schools if such acti9ns are not approved in timely fashion by the applicable regulatoiy agencies and we may
have to repay Title IV funds disbursed to students enrolled in any such programs states or acquired schools if

we do not obtain prior approval

Our expansio efforts include offering new educational programs some of which may require

regulatory approv In addition we may increase our physical operations in additional states and seek

to acquire additioial schools If we are unable to obtain the necessary approvals for such new

programs operatins or acquisitions from the Department the Higher Learning Commission or any

applicable state education agency or other accrediting agency or if we are unable to obtain such

approvals in timely manner our ability to consummate the planned actions and provide Title IV

funds to any affected students would be impaired which could have material adverse effect on our

expansion plans II we were to determine erroneously that any such action did not need approval or

had all required Dprovals we could be liable for repayment of the Title IV program funds provided to

students in that
pi ogram or at that location

Our regulatory environment and our reputation may be negatively influenced by the actions of other

postsecondary institutions

In recent years Congressional federal state and accrediting agency investigations and civil

litigation have ben commenced against several postsecondary educational institutions These

investigations and lawsuits have alleged among other things deceptive trade practices and

noncompliance wih Department regulations These allegations have attracted adverse media coverage

and have been thc subject of federal and state legislative hearings Although the media regulatory and

legislative focus hts been primarily on the allegations made against these specific companies broader

allegations against the overall postsecondary sector may negatively impact public perceptions of

postsecondary educational institutions including Ashford University and the University of the Rockies

Such allegations cuuld result in increased scrutiny and regulation by the Department Congress

accrediting bodies state legislatures or other governmental authorities on all postsecondary institutions

including ours

Risks Related to Our Business

If we become involred in protracted litigation or other legal proceedings we could incur significant defense

costs and losses in he event of adverse outcomes

From time to time we are party to various lawsuits claims and other legal proceedings that arise

in the ordinary course of business If we become involved in protracted litigation or legal proceedings

we could incur in the event of adverse outcomes significant defense costs monetary losses or

restrictions on our business any of which could have material adverse effect on our enrollments

revenues and resu ts of operations

For more inf rmation regarding current legal proceedings involving us including civil

investigative demand from the Attorney General of the State of Iowa see Legal Proceedings in

Part Item of tis report

Our financial pefo rmance depends on our ability to continue to develop awareness among to recruit and to

retain students

Building awai eness among potential students of Ashford University and the University of the

Rockies and the programs we offer is critical to our ability to attract prospective students It is also

critical to our suc ess that we convert these prospective students to enrolled students in cost-effective
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manner and that these enrolled students remain active in our programs Some of the factors that could

prevent us from successfully recruiting and retaining students in our programs include

the emergence of more and better competitors

factors related to our marketing efforts including the costs of Internet advertising and broad-

based branding campaigns

performance problems with our online systems

failure to maintain accreditation and eligibility for Title IV programs

student dissatisfaction with our services and programs

decrease in the perceived or actual economic benefits that students derive from our programs

or programs provided by private sector postsecondary education companies generally

adverse publicity regarding us or online or private sector postsecondary education generally

price reductions by competitors that we are unwilling or unable to match and

decline in the acceptance of online education or education provided by private sector

postsecondary education companies

Strong competition in the postsecondary education market especially in the online education market could

decrease our market share increase our cost of recruiting students and put downward pressure on our tuition

rates

Postsecondary education is highly competitive We compete with traditional public and private two-

and four-year colleges as well as with other postsecondary schools Traditional colleges and universities

may offer programs similar to ours at lower tuition levels as result of government subsidies

government and foundation grants tax-deductible contributions and other financial sources not

available to for-profit postsecondary institutions In addition some of our competitors including both

traditional colleges and universities have substantially greater brand recognition and financial and other

resources than we have which may enable them to compete more effectively for potential students We

also expect to face increased competition as result of new entrants to the online education market

including traditional colleges and universities that had not previously
offered online education

programs

We may not be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors and may face

competitive pressures that could adversely affect our business We may be required to reduce our

tuition or increase spending in order to retain or to attract students or to pursue new market

opportunities We may also face increased competition in maintaining and developing new marketing

relationships with corporations particularly as corporations become more selective as to which online

universities they will encourage their employees to attend and from which they will hire prospective

employees

System disruptions and vulnerability from security risks to our technology infrastructure could impact our

ability to generate revenue and could damage the reputation of our institutions

The performance and reliability of our technology infrastructure is critical to our reputation and to

our ability to attract and retain students We license the software and related hosting and maintenance

services for our online platform from Pearson eCollege eCollege and the software and related

maintenance services for our student information system from Campus Management Corp both of

which are third-party software and service providers We also develop and utilize proprietary software

primarily for our customer relationship management or CRM system Any system error or failure or
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sudden and significant increase in bandwidth usage could result in the unavailability of systems to us or

our students

Our compute networks may also be vulnerable to unauthorized access computer hackers

computer viruses nd other security problems user who circumvents security measures could

misappropriate pr prietary information or cause interruptions or malfunctions in operations As

result we may be required to expend significant resources to protect against this threat Although we

continually monitor the security of our technology infrastructure we cannot assure you that these

efforts will protect our computer networks against the threat of security breaches

We may not be able to retain our key personnel or hire and retain the personnel we need to sustain and grow

our business

Our success pends largely on the skills efforts and motivations of our executive officers who

generally have sigr ificant experience with our company and within the education industry Due to the

nature of our business we face significant competition in attracting and retaining personnel who

possess the skill sets we seek In addition key personnel may leave us and may subsequently compete

against us We do iot carry life insurance on our key personnel for our benefit The loss of the services

of any of our key personnel or our failure to attract and retain other qualified and experienced

personnel on accej table terms could impair our ability to sustain and grow our business In addition

because we operat in highly competitive industry our hiring of qualified executives or other

personnel may cause us or such persons to be subject to lawsuits alleging misappropriation of trade

secrets improper solicitation of employees or other claims

If we are unable to zire and to continue to develop new and existing employees responsible for student

recruitment the effectiveness of our student recruiting efforts would be adversely affected

To support our planned enrollment and revenue growth we intend to hire develop and train

significant number of additional employees responsible for student recruitment and ii retain and

continue to develo and train our current student recruitment personnel Our ability to develop and

maintain strong tudent recruiting function may be affected by number of factors including our

ability to integrate and motivate our enrollment advisors our ability to effectively train our enrollment

advisors the length of time it takes new enrollment advisors to become productive regulatory

restrictions on the method of compensating enrollment advisors and the competition in hiring and

retaining enrollmeit advisors

decline in the oveall growth of enrollment in postsecondary institutions or in the number of students

seeking degrees online or in our core disciplines could cause us to experience lower enrollment at our schools

We have expeiienced significant growth since we acquired Ashford University in 2005 However
while we have coniinued to achieve growth in revenues and enrollment year-over-year these growth

rates have decline in recent periods and may continue to decline in the future According to

November 2009 study by Eduventures projects compound annual growth rate of 13% in online

postsecondary enrcllment over the five-year period ending fall 2014 This rate of growth is slower than

the 25.3% compou rid annual growth rate for the prior five-year period ended in fall 2008 when online

enrollment increasd by an aggregate of 1.3 million In order to maintain current growth rates we will

need to attract hrger percentage of students in existing markets and expand our markets by creating

new academic
prof rams In addition if job growth in the fields related to our core disciplines is weaker

than expected fewr students may seek the types of degrees that we offer
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Our success depends in part on our ability to update and expand the content of existing programs and to

develop new programs and specializations on timely basis and in cost-effective manner

The updates and expansions of our existing programs and the development of new programs and

specializations may not be accepted by existing or prospective students or employers If we do not

adequately respond to changes in market requirements our business will be adversely affected Even if

we are able to develop acceptable new programs we may not be able to introduce these new programs

as quickly as students require or as quickly as our competitors introduce competing programs To offer

new academic program we may be required to obtain appropriate federal state and accrediting

agency approvals which may be conditioned or delayed in manner that could significantly affect our

growth plans In addition to be eligible for federal student financial aid programs new academic

program may need to be approved by the Department

Establishing new academic programs or modifying existing programs requires us to make

investments in management and capital expenditures incur marketing expenses and reallocate other

resources We may have limited experience with the programs in new disciplines and may need to

modify our systems and strategy or enter into arrangements with other educational institutions to

provide new programs effectively and profitably If we are unable to increase enrollment in new

programs offer new programs in cost-effective manner or are otherwise unable to manage effectively

the operations of newly established academic programs our revenues and results of operations could be

adversely affected

Our failure to keep pace with changing market needs could harm our ability to attract students

Our success depends to large extent on the willingness of employers to hire promote or increase

the pay of our graduates Increasingly employers demand that their new employees possess appropriate

technical and analytical skills and also appropriate interpersonal skills such as communication and

teamwork These skills can evolve rapidly in changing economic and technological environment

Accordingly it is important that our educational programs evolve in response to those economic and

technological changes

The expansion of existing academic programs and the development of new programs may not be

accepted by current or prospective students or by the employers of our graduates Even if we develop

acceptable new programs we may not be able to begin offering those new programs in timely fashion

or as quickly as our competitors offer similar programs If we are unable to adequately respond to

changes in market requirements due to regulatory or financial constraints unusually rapid technological

changes or other factors the rates at which our graduates obtain jobs in their fields of study could

suffer our ability to attract and retain students could be impaired and our business could be adversely

affected

We are subject to laws and regulations as result of our collection and use of personal information and any

violations of such laws or regulations or any breach theft or loss of such information could adversely affect

us

Possession and use of personal information in our operations subjects us to risks and costs that

could harm our business We collect use and retain large amounts of personal information regarding

our applicants students faculty staff and their families including social security numbers tax return

information personal and family financial data and credit card numbers We also collect and maintain

personal information about our employees in the ordinary course of our business Our services can be

accessed globally through the Internet Therefore we may be subject to the application of national

privacy laws in countries outside the United States from which applicants and students access our

services Such privacy laws could impose conditions that limit the way we market and provide our

services Our computer networks and the networks of certain of our vendors that hold and manage
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confidential information on our behalf may be vulnerable to unauthorized access employee theft or

misuse computer hackers computer viruses and other security threats Confidential information may
also inadvertently become available to third parties when we integrate systems or migrate data to our

servers following an acquisition of school or in connection with periodic hardware or software

upgrades Due to le sensitive nature of the personal information stored on our servers our networks

may be targeted by hackers seeking to access this data user who circumvents security measures

could misappropriate sensitive information or cause interruptions or malfunctions in our operations

Although we use security and business controls to limit access and use of personal information third

party may be able io circumvent those security and business controls which could result in breach of

student or employee privacy In addition errors in the storage use or transmission of personal

information could result in breach of privacy for current or prospective students or employees

Possession and use of personal information in our operations also subjects us to legislative and

regulatory burdens that could require notification of data breaches and could restrict our use of

personal information and violation of any laws or regulations relating to the collection or use of

personal informati in could result in the imposition of fines against us or lawsuits brought against us
As result we mar be required to expend significant resources to protect against the threat of these

security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by these breaches major breach theft or loss of

personal information regarding our students and their families or our employees that is held by us or

our vendors or violation of laws or regulations relating to the same could have material adverse

effect on our reput tion result in lawsuits and could result in further regulation and oversight by

federal and state authorities and increased costs of compliance

If we fail to maintaiiz adequate systems and processes to detect and prevent fraudulent activity in student

enrollment and finai cial aid our business could be adversely impacted

As we continu to grow we are susceptible to an increased risk of fraudulent activity by outside

parties with respect to student enrollment and student financial aid programs While we believe past

incidents of fraudulent activity have been relatively isolated we cannot be certain that our systems and

processes will alwas be adequate in the face of increasingly sophisticated and ever-changing fraud

schemes The potential for outside parties to perpetrate fraud in connection with the award and

disbursement of Tiile IV program funds including as result of identity theft may be heightened due

to our nature as an online education provider We must maintain systems and
processes to identify and

prevent fraudulent applications for enrollment and financial aid

The Department requires institutions that participate in Title IV programs to refer to the OIG any
credible informatio indicating that any applicant employee third-party servicer or agent of the

institution that acts in capacity that involves administration of the Title IV programs has been

engaged in any frald or other illegal conduct involving Title IV programs If the
systems and processes

that we have establ Lshed to detect and prevent fraud are inadequate the Department may find that we
do not satisfy its administrative capability requirements This could result in our being limited in our

access to or our loing Title IV program funding which would adversely affect our enrollment

revenues and results of operations In addition our ability to participate in Title IV programs is

conditioned on our maintaining accreditation by an accrediting agency that is recognized by the

Secretary of Educai ion Any significant failure to adequately detect fraudulent activity related to

student enrollment and financial aid could cause us to fail to meet our accrediting agencies standards

Furthermore unde the Higher Education Act accrediting agencies that evaluate institutions that offer

distance learning pi ograms as we do must require such institutions to have processes through which

the institution estallishes that student who registers for distance education program is the same

student who participates in and receives credit for the program Failure to meet our accrediting

agencies standards could result in the loss of accreditation at the discretion of our accrediting agencies
which could result in loss of our eligibility to participate in Title IV programs and would adversely

affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows
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An increase in interest rates could adversely affect our ability to attract and retain students

Interest rates have reached relatively low levels in recent years creating favorable borrowing

environment for students However if Congress increases interest rates on Title IV loans or if private

loan interest rates rise our students would have to pay higher interest rates on their loans Any future

increase in interest rates will result in corresponding increase in educational costs to our existing and

prospective students Higher interest rates could also contribute to higher default rates with respect to

our students repayment of their education loans Higher default rates may in turn adversely impact our

eligibility to participate in some or all Title IV programs which would have material adverse effect

on our enrollment revenues and results of operations

Our growth may place strain on our resources

We have experienced significant growth since we acquired Ashford University in 2005 The growth

that we have experienced in the past as well as any further growth that we experience may place

significant strain on our resources and increase demands on our management information and

reporting systems and financial management controls If we are unable to manage our growth

effectively while maintaining appropriate internal controls we may experience operating inefficiencies

that could increase our costs

We rely on exclusive proprietary rights and intellectual property that may not be adequately protected under

current laws and we may encounter disputes from time to time relating to our use of intellectual property of

third parties

Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our proprietary rights We rely on

combination of copyrights patents trademarks service marks trade secrets domain names and

agreements to protect our proprietary rights We rely on service mark and trademark protection in the

United States and select foreign jurisdictions to protect our rights to the marks Ashford Ashford

University Bridgepoint Classline and Smart Track as well as distinctive logos and other marks

associated with our services We have also applied for patent protection in the United States for our

Constellation technology We rely on agreements under which we obtain rights to use course content

developed by faculty members and other third-party content experts We cannot assure you that these

measures will be adequate that we have secured or will be able to secure appropriate protections for

all of our proprietary rights in the United States or select foreign jurisdictions or that third parties will

not infringe upon or violate our proprietary rights Despite our efforts to protect these rights

unauthorized third parties may attempt to duplicate or copy the proprietary aspects of our curricula

online resource material and other content Our managements attention may be diverted by these

attempts and we may need to use funds in litigation to protect our proprietary rights against any

infringement or violation

We may encounter disputes from time to time over rights and obligations concerning intellectual

property and we may not prevail in these disputes In certain instances we may not have obtained

sufficient rights in the content of course Third parties may raise claim against us alleging an

infringement or violation of the intellectual property of that third party Some third party intellectual

property rights may be extremely broad and it may not be possible for us to conduct our operations in

such way as to avoid those intellectual property rights Any such intellectual property claim could

subject us to costly litigation and impose significant
strain on our financial resources and management

personnel regardless of whether such claim has merit Our insurance may not cover potential claims of

this type adequately or at all and we may be required to alter the content of our classes or pay

monetary damages which may be significant
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We may incur liability for the unauthorized duplication or distribution of class materials posted online for

class discussions

In some instances our faculty members or our students may post various articles or other third-

party content on cLass discussion boards We may incur liability for the unauthorized duplication or

distribution of this material posted online for class discussions Third parties may raise claims against us

for the unauthorizd duplication of this material Any such claims could subject us to costly litigation

and could impose significant strain on our financial resources and management personnel regardless

of whether the clams have merit Our general liability insurance may not cover potential claims of this

type adequately oi at all and we may be required to alter the content of our courses or pay monetary

damages

Our student enrollment and revenues could decrease if the government tuition assistance offered to military

personnel is reduced or eliminated if scholarships which we offer to military personnel are reduced or

eliminated or if our relationships with military bases deteriorate

As of Decemler 31 2010 18.6% of our students were affiliated with the military some of whom
are eligible to receive tuition assistance from the government which they may use to pursue

postsecondary degiees If governmental tuition assistance programs to active duty members of the

military are reduce or eliminated or if our relationships with any military base deteriorates our

enrollment could suffer Additionally we provide scholarships to students who are affiliated with the

military If we redi ce or eliminate our scholarships our enrollment by military personnel may suffer In

addition if we mci ease our scholarships our per student revenue from military affiliated personnel will

decline

Our expenses may cause us to incur operating losses if we are unsuccessful in achieving growth

Our spending is based in significant part on our estimates of future revenue and is largely fixed in

the short term As result we may be unable to adjust our spending in timely manner if our revenue

falls short of our pectations Accordingly any significant shortfall in revenues in relation to our

expectations would have an immediate and material adverse effect on our profitability In addition as

our business grows we anticipate increasing our operating expenses to expand our program offerings

marketing initiativcs and administrative organization Any such expansion could cause material losses to

the extent we do not generate additional revenues sufficient to cover those expenses

Seasonal and other fluctuations in our results of operations could adversely affect the trading price of our

common stock

Although not apparent in our results of operations due to our rapid rate of growth our operations

are generally subject to seasonal trends As our growth rate declines we expect to experience seasonal

fluctuations in results of operations as result of changes in the level of student enrollment While we
enroll students throughout the year first and fourth quarter new enrollments and revenue generally are

lower than other darters due to the holiday break in December and January We generally experience

seasonal increase in new enrollments in August and September of each year when most other colleges

and universities bein their fall semesters These fluctuations may cause volatility in or have an adverse

effect on the markt price of our stock

We have limited operating history Accordingly our historical and recent financial and business results may
not necessarily be representative of what such results will be in the future

We have limited operating history on which you can evaluate our business strategy our financial

results and trends our business As result our historical results and trends including enrollments

cohort default rate and bad debt expense may not be indicative of our future results We are subject
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to risks and uncertainties that are not typically encountered by companies that have longer operating

histories or that are in more mature businesses Therefore our recent operating history may not be

representative of our business going forward and we may not be able to sustain our recent profitability

Government regulations relating to the Internet could increase our cost of doing business affect our ability to

grow or otherwise have material adverse effect on our business

The increasing popularity and use of the Internet and other online services has led and may lead

to the adoption of new laws and regulatory practices in the United States or in foreign countries and to

new interpretations of existing laws and regulations These new laws and interpretations may relate to

issues such as online privacy copyrights trademarks and service marks sales taxes fair business

practices and the requirement that online education institutions qualify to do business as foreign

corporations or be licensed in one or more jurisdictions where they have no physical
location or other

presence New laws regulations or interpretations related to doing business over the Internet could

increase our costs and materially and adversely affect our enrollments

We use third-party software for our online platform and if the provider of that software was to cease to do

business or was acquired by competitor we may have difficulty maintaining the software required for our

online platform or updating it for future technological changes

In September 2009 we entered into license agreement with eCollege pursuant to which we

agreed to license from eCollege an online learning platform for our students The eCollege online

learning platform provides an online learning management system which provides for the storage

management and delivery of course content This platform also includes collaborative spaces
for

student communication and participation with other students and faculty as well as grade and

attendance management for faculty arid assessment capabilities to assist us in maintaining quality We

rely on eCollege for administrative support and hosting of the applicable systems If eCollege ceases to

operate or is unable or unwilling to continue to provide us with services or upgrades on timely basis

we may have difficulty maintaining the software required for our online platform or updating it for

future technological changes

Our failure to comply with environmental laws and regulations governing our activities could result in

financial penalties and other costs

We use hazardous materials at our ground campuses and generate small quantities
of waste such

as used oil antifreeze paint car batteries and laboratory materials Additionally we purchased real

property nearby our Ashford University campus in Clinton Iowa for purposes of future campus

expansion and student housing at which we have identified minor environmental issues We are subject

to variety of environmental laws and regulations governing among other things the use storage and

disposal of solid and hazardous substances and waste and the clean-up of contamination at our facilities

or off-site locations to which we send or have sent waste for disposal If we do not maintain compliance

with any of these laws and regulations or are responsible for spill or release of hazardous materials

we could incur significant costs for clean-up damages and fines or penalties

Our failure to obtain additional capital in the future could adversely affect our ability to grow

We believe that cash flow from operations will be adequate to fund our current operating and

growth plans for the foreseeable future However we may need additional financing in order to finance

our continued growth particularly
if we pursue any acquisitions The amount timing and terms of such

additional financing will vary principally depending on the timing and size of new program offerings

the timing and size of acquisitions we may seek to consummate and the amount of cash flows from our

operations To the extent that we require additional financing in the future such financing may not be
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available on terms acceptable to us or at all and consequently we may not be able to fully implement
our growth strateg

Failure to comply with the terms of our Credit Agreement with Comerica Bank could impair our rights to the

assets we pledged as collateral under this agreement

In January 2010 we entered into Credit Agreement and related documents with Comerica

Bank or Comerica pursuant to which we may borrow up to $50 million pursuant to revolving line of

credit To secure oi obligations under the Credit Agreement and related documents we granted
Comerica first prLority security interest in substantially all of our assets including our real property If

an event of default occurs or if we otherwise fail to comply with any of the negative or affirmative

covenants of the Credit Agreement and related documents Comerica may declare all of the

obligations and indbtedness under the Credit Agreement and related documents due and payable
For more information about the Credit Agreement and related documents see Note Notes Payable
and Long-Term Debt to our annual consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in

this report In such scenario we may lose our right title and interest in the property that secures

such obligations ani indebtedness

If we are not able to integrate acquired institutions our business could be harmed

From time to time we may pursue acquisitions of other institutions Integrating acquired

operations into our business involves significant risks and uncertainties including

inability to iaintain uniform standards controls policies and procedures

distraction managements attention from normal business operations during the integration

process

inability to obtain or delay in obtaining approval of the
acquisition from the

necessary

regulatory aencies or the imposition of operating restrictions or letter of credit requirement
on us or on he acquired school by any of those regulatory agencies

expenses ass ciated with the integration efforts and

unidentified ssues not discovered in our due diligence process including legal contingencies

protracted economAc slowdown and rising unemployment could harm our business

We believe thai many students pursue postsecondary education to be more competitive in the job
market However protracted economic slowdown could increase unemployment and diminish job

prospects generally Diminished job prospects and heightened financial worries could affect the

willingness of students to incur loans to pay for postsecondary education and to pursue postsecondary
education in general As result our enrollment could suffer

In addition many of our students borrow Title IV loans to pay for tuition fees and other

expenses protrac ed economic slowdown could negatively impact our students ability to repay those

loans which would
egatively impact our cohort default rate See Risks Related to the Extensive

Regulation of Our usinessWe may lose eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if our student

loan default rates too high above

Our students aso are frequently able to borrow Title IV loans in excess of their tuition The excess

is received by the st adents as stipend However if student withdraws we must return any unearned
Title IV funds including stipends protracted economic slowdown could negatively impact our
students ability to repay those stipends As result the amount of Title IV funds we would have to

return without reimbursement from students and our bad debt expense could increase and our
results could suffer
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Our corporate headquarters are located in high brush fire danger area and near major earthquake fault

lines

Our corporate headquarters are located in San Diego California in high brush fire danger area

and near major earthquake fault lines We could be materially and adversely affected in the event of

brush fire or major earthquake either of which could significantly disrupt our business

Risk Related to Our Common Stock

The price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly and you could lose all or part of your investment

Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent you from being able to sell your

shares at or above the price you paid for your shares The market price of our common stock has

fluctuated in the past and there is no assurance it will not continue to fluctuate significantly for various

reasons which include

our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry

the publics reaction to our press releases our other public announcements and our filings with

the SEC

changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by research analysts who track our common

stock or the stocks of other companies in our industry

seasonal variations in our student enrollment

new laws or regulations or new interpretations of laws or regulations applicable to our business

changes in our enrollment or in the growth rate of our enrollment

changes in accounting standards policies guidance interpretations or principles

litigation involving our company or investigations or audits by regulators into the operations of

our company or our competitors

sales of common stock by our directors executive officers and significant stockholders and

changes in general conditions in the United States and global economies or financial markets

including those resulting from war incidents of terrorism or responses to such events

In addition in recent years the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume

fluctuations This volatility has had significant impact on the market price of securities issued by

many companies including companies in our industry Changes may occur without regard to the

operating performance of these companies The price of our common stock could fluctuate based upon

factors that have little or nothing to do with our company

If securities or industry analysts change their recommendations regarding our stock adversely or if our

operating results do not meet their expectations our stock price could decline

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry

or securities analysts publish about us or our business If one or more of these analysts cease coverage

of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly we could lose visibility in the financial

markets which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline Moreover if one or

more of the analysts who cover our company downgrade our stock or if our operating results do not

meet their expectations our stock price could decline

61



As public company we are subject to financial and other reporting and corporate governance requirements
that can be difficult for us to satisfy and may divert management attention from our business

As public company we are required to file with the SEC annual and quarterly information and

other reports pursi tant to the Exchange Act We are required to ensure that we have the ability to

prepare financial statements that comply with SEC reporting requirements on timely basis We are

also subject to oth reporting and corporate governance requirements including the listing standards

of the NYSE and ertain provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the regulations promulgated

thereunder which Lmpose significant compliance obligations upon us Specifically we are required to

prepare and distribute periodic reports and other stockholder communications in compliance
with our obligations under the federal securities laws and NYSE rules

create or exand the roles and duties of our board of directors and committees of the board

institute compliance and internal audit functions that are more comprehensive

evaluate am maintain our system of internal control over financial reporting and report on

management assessment thereof in compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of the

Sarbanes-Oley Act and the related rules and regulations of the SEC and the PCAOB

involve and retain outside legal counsel and accountants in connection with the activities listed

above

enhance oui investor relations function and

maintain intrnal policies including those
relating to disclosure controls and procedures

As public cotnpany we are required to commit significant resources and management oversight to

the above-listed requirements which causes us to incur significant costs and which places strain on

our systems and ret ources As result our managements attention might be diverted from other

business concerns

If we are unabLe to implement the requirements of Section 404 in timely manner or with

adequate compliarne our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to report on
the adequacy of ou internal control over financial reporting If we are unable to maintain adequate
internal control over financial reporting we may be unable to report our financial information on

timely basis and suffer adverse regulatory consequences or violations of NYSE listing standards

There could also negative reaction in the financial markets due to loss of investor confidence in

us and the reliabilily of our financial statements

Sales of outstanding shares of our stock into the market in the future could cause the market price of our
stock to drop significantly even if our business is doing well

If our stockholiers sell or indicate an intention to sell substantial amounts of our common stock

in the public market the trading price of our common stock could decline At December 31 2010
52.8 million shares our common stock were outstanding Pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities

Act shares held by non-affiliates for more than six months may generally be sold without restriction
other than current public information requirement and may be sold

freely without any restrictions

after one year Shaies held by affiliates may also be sold under Rule 144 subject to applicable

restrictions includii volume and manner of sale limitations

In addition as of December 31 2010 there were 10.2 million shares underlying outstanding

options and 0.3 milJ ion shares underlying outstanding warrants All shares subject to outstanding

options and warrani are eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions
of various option aid warrant agreements and Rule 144 If these additional shares are sold or if it is

perceived that they will be sold in the public market the trading price of our stock could decline

62



Your percentage ownership in us may be diluted by future issuances of capital stock which could reduce your

influence over matters on which stockholders vote

Subject to NYSE rules our board of directors has the authority without action or vote of our

stockholders to issue all or any part of our authorized but unissued shares of common stock including

shares issuable upon the exercise of options shares that may be issued to satisfy our obligations under

our incentive plans or shares of our authorized but unissued preferred stock Issuances of common

stock or voting preferred stock would reduce your influence over matters on which our stockholders

vote and in the case of issuances of preferred stock likely would result in your interest in us being

subject to the prior rights of holders of that preferred stock

Our principal stockholder has significant influence over matters requiring stockholder approval and access to

our management

As of December 31 2010 Warburg Pincus beneficially owned 65.5% of our outstanding common

stock Warburg Pincus may exercise significant
influence over the election of our directors amendments

to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and other actions requiring the vote or consent of our

stockholders including mergers going private transactions and other extraordinary transactions The

ownership position of Warburg Pincus may have the effect of delaying deterring or preventing change

of control or change in the composition of our board of directors

Additionally in February 2009 we entered into nominating agreement with Warburg Pincus

Under the nominating agreement as long as Warburg Pincus beneficially owns at least 15% of the

outstanding shares of common stock we will subject to our fiduciary obligations
nominate and

recommend to our stockholders that two individuals designated by Warburg Pincus be elected to the

board Additionally if Warburg Pincus beneficially owns less than 15% but more than 5% of the

outstanding shares of common stock we will subject to our fiduciary obligations
nominate and

recommend to our stockholders that one individual designated by Warburg Pincus be elected to the

board Two directors affiliated with Warburg Pincus Patrick Hackett and Adarsh Sarma currently

serve on our board of directors

We currently do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and consequently your only opportunity to

achieve return on your investment is if the price of our common stock appreciates

We do not expect to pay dividends on shares of our common stock in the foreseeable future and

we intend to use cash to grow our business Consequently your only opportunity to achieve positive

return on your investment in us will be if the market price of our common stock appreciates

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may discourage delay or prevent

change of control of our company or changes in our management and therefore may depress the trading

price of our stock

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading price

of our stock by acting to discourage delay or prevent change of control of our company or changes

in our management that the stockholders of our company may deem advantageous These provisions

authorize the issuance of blank check preferred stock that our board of directors could issue

to increase the number of outstanding shares to discourage
takeover attempt

provide for classified board of directors three classes

provide that stockholders may only remove directors for cause
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provide thai any vacancy on our board of directors including vacancy resulting from an
increase in the size of the board may only be filled by the affirmative vote of majority of our
directors thn in office even if less than quorum

provide that special meeting of stockholders may only be called by our board of directors or by
our chief excutive officer

provide that action by written consent of the stockholders may be taken only if the board of

directors firt approves such action except that if Warburg Pincus holds at least 50% of our

outstanding capital stock on fully diluted basis whenever the vote of stockholders is required
at meeting for any corporate action the meeting and vote of stockholders may be dispensed
with and thc action taken without such meeting and vote if written consent is signed by the

holders of itstanding stock having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be

necessary to authorize or take such action at the meeting of stockholders provided that
notwithstanc ing the foregoing we will hold an annual meeting of stockholders in accordance

with NYSE ules for so long as our shares are listed on the NYSE and as otherwise required

by the bylaws

provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make alter or repeal our bylaws
and

establish adance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board of directors or
for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings

Additionally we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law which

generally prohibits Delaware corporation from engaging in any of broad range of business

combinations with tny interested stockholder for period of three years following the date on which
the stockholder became an interested stockholder

Item lB Unresoled Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Corporate headquarters Our corporate headquarters in San Diego California where we house
certain enrollment ervices student support services and corporate functions occupy an aggregate of

323000 square feet pursuant to leases that expire in 2017 and 2018 We occupy an additional 357000
square feet at three locations in San Diego under leases that expire between 2012 and 2020 which
house additional enrollment services student support services and corporate functions We have also

entered into lease for 193000 square feet of space in San Diego to be constructed and occupied in

2012 In February 2111 we entered into lease for 151000 rentable square feet in Denver Colorado
which we expect to begin to occupy in August 2011 such

space will be used for administrative offices

meeting rooms and online support services Additionally we occupy 36700 square feet under lease

that expires in 2014 in Clinton Iowa to complement our California enrollment services and student

services functions

Campus facilitk We own campus facilities consisting of several academic athletic administrative

housing and student services buildings on an aggregate of over 160 acres over four sites in Clinton
Iowa for Ashford

rniversity We lease 39000 square feet in Colorado Springs Colorado for the

University of the Rockies campus under leases that expires between 2012 and 2015

We pledged as collateral to Comerica Bank the properties we own in Iowa as security for the

performance of our obligations under the loan documents we signed in connection with our $50 million

revolving line of cre ut with Comerica Bank For more information regarding this line of credit see
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Note Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt to our annual consolidated financial statements which

are included elsewhere in this report

We believe our existing facilities are suitable and adequate for current requirements and that

additional space can be obtained on commercially reasonable terms to meet future requirements

Item Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are party to various lawsuits claims and other legal proceedings that arise

in the ordinary course of our business

In January 2011 we received copy of complaint in purported class action lawsuit naming us

Ashford University and University of the Rockies as defendants The complaint was filed in the U.S

District Court for the Southern District of California on January 11 2011 and is captioned Scott

Rosendahl and Veronica Clark Bridgepoint Education Inc Ashford University and University of the

Rockies The complaint generally alleges that we and the other defendants engaged in improper

fraudulent and illegal behavior in their efforts to recruit and retain students We believe the lawsuit is

without merit and intend to vigorously defend against it

In February 2011 Ashford University received from the Attorney General of the State of Iowa

Civil Investigative Demand and Notice of Intent to Proceed CID relating to the Attorney Generals

investigation of whether certain of the universitys business practices comply with Iowa consumer laws

The CID contains no specific allegations of wrongdoing Pursuant to the CID the Attorney General

has requested documents and detailed information for the time period January 2008 to present

Ashford University is evaluating the CID and intends to comply with the Attorney Generals request

In February 2011 we received copy of complaint in purported class action lawsuit naming us

Ashford University LLC and certain of our employees as defendants The complaint was filed in the

Superior Court of the State of California in San Diego on February 17 2011 and is captioned

Stevens Bridgepoint Education Inc. The complaint generally alleges that the plaintiffs
and similarly

situated employees were improperly denied certain wage and hour protections
under California law We

believe the lawsuit is without merit and intend to vigorously defend against it

Item Reserved
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PART II

Item Market fr Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity Securities

Market Informatkn

Our common stock has been listed on the NYSE under the symbol BPI since it began trading

on April 15 2009 Shares sold in our initial public offering on April 15 2009 were priced at $10.50 per
share The followii table sets forth for the time periods indicated the high and low sale prices of our

common stock as eported on the NYSE

High Low

2009

Second Quarter beginning April 15 2009 $17.15 9.56

Third Quirter $21.90 $14.90

Fourth Quarter $17.95 $13.59

2010

First Quarter $25.76 $14.17

Second Quarter $27.50 $15.72

Third Quirter $19.31 $12.75

Fourth Quarter $19.67 $13.65

Holders of Record

As of Februari 25 2011 there were 16 holders of record of our common stock including the

Depository Trust Company which holds shares on behalf of an indeterminate number of beneficial

owners

Dividend Policy

We currently iflend to retain any future earnings and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in

the foreseeable future Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our

board of directors tnd will depend upon our financial condition operating results capital requirements

any contractual res rictions and such other factors as our board of directors may deem appropriate

In connection with our $50 million revolving line of credit with Comerica Bank or Comerica
Comerica must pprove dividend payments stock redemptions and other specified cash expenditures

exceeding an aggreate of $75.0 million per year and ii we must at all times maintain on deposit with

Comerica or its affiliates an amount equal to 25% of budgeted cash as specified in the loan

documents related to the line of credit for the month most recently ended For more information

regarding this line of credit see Note Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt to our annual

consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in this report

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None

Purchases of Equity Securities

None within the fourth quarter of 2010

66



Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative 20 month total return provided stockholders on

Bridgepoint Education Inc.s common stock relative to the cumulative total returns of the Russell 3000

index and customized peer group of four companies that includes American Public Education Inc

Capella Education Company Grand Canyon Education Inc and Strayer Education Inc An investment

of $100 with reinvestment of all dividends is assumed to have been made in our common stock in the

peer group and the index on April 15 2009 and its relative performance is tracked through

December 31 2010

COMPARISON OF 20 MONTH CUMULATiVE TOTAL RETURN

Among Bridgepoint Education Inc the Russell 3000 Index

and Peer Group

This performance graph shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange

Act or incorporated by reference into any filing of Bridgepoint Education Inc under the

Securities Act or the Exchange Act except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in

such filing

Item Selected Consolidated Financial Data

You should read the following selected consolidated financial and other data in conjunction with

Part II Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations and our audited consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in this

report The consolidated statement of income data consolidated balance sheet data and consolidated

other data set forth below as of December 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 and 2006 and for the years ended

December 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 and 2006 have been derived from our audited consolidated
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financial statemens Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for

future periods Wt declared no cash dividends during the periods presented

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

In thousands except per share data

Consolidated Stattment of Income Data

Revenue $713233 $454324 $218290 $85709 $28619

Costs and expense
Instructional costs and services1 187399 120089 62822 29837 12510

Marketing and rromotional2 211550 145721 81036 35997 12214

General and adininistrative3 97863 106784 41012 15892 8704

Total costs and expenses 496812 372594 184870 81726 33428

Operating income loss 216421 81730 33420 3983 4809
Interest income 1568 789 322 12 10
Interest expense 210 279 240 544 351

Income loss before income taxes 217779 82240 33502 3451 5150
Income tax expens 90199 35135 7071 164

Net income loss 127580 47105 26431 3287 5150
Accretion of preferred dividends4 645 2006 1856 1718

Net income availal le loss attributable to

common stockhlders $127580 46460 24425 $1431 6868

Earnings loss pei common shareS
Basic 2.37 0.85 0.38 0.01 2.15
Diluted 2.14 0.74 0.16 0.01 2.15

Shares used in con iputing earnings loss per

common shareS
Basic 53724 39349 3335 3311 3197
Diluted 59631 45181 7757 4446 3197

As of December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

In thousands

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash cash equivalints and marketable

securities $299129 $170550 56483 7351 54

Total assets 471225 295231 129246 39057 17091
Total indebtedness including short-term

indebtedness 635 684 5673 4193
Redeemable convertible preferred stock 27062 25056 23200
Total stockholders equity deficit 238241 134609 6109 20143 21692
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Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

In thousands except enrollment data

Consolidated Other Data

Capital expenditures
26568 24249 $15884 3571 $1381

Depreciation and amortization 8565 5890 2452 1236 735

Cash flows provided by used in
Operating activities 189949 131727 70748 10367 1082

Investing activities 94472 70030 16550 2936 1373

Financing activities 32521 7382 5066 134 346

Period end enrollment unaudited6

Online 77033 53048 30921 12104 4111

Campus-based
859 640 637 519 360

Total 77892 53688 31558 12623 4471

In the second quarter of 2009 we recorded non-cash expense of $2.1 million related to the

instructional costs and services portion of the acceleration of exit options which occurred in

connection with our initial public offering See Note 11 Stock-Based Compensation to our

annual consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in this report

In the second quarter of 2009 we recorded non-cash expense of $5.0 million related to the

marketing and promotional portion of the acceleration of exit options which occurred in

connection with our initial public offering See Note 11 Stock-Based Compensation to our

annual consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in this report

In the first quarter of 2009 we recorded $11.1 million related to the settlement of stockholder

claim of which $10.6 million was non-cash See Note 19 Stockholder Dispute to our annual

consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in this report In the second

quarter
of 2009 we recorded non-cash expense of $23.3 million related to the general and

administrative portion of the acceleration of exit options
which occurred in connection with our

initial public offering See Note 11 Stock-Based Compensation to our annual consolidated

financial statements which are included elsewhere in this report In the fourth quarter
of 2008 we

recorded stock-based compensation expense of $1.6 million related to the modification of stock

award held by director See Note 16 Related Party TransactionsDirector Agreement to our

annual consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in this report

The holders of Series Convertible Preferred Stock earned preferred dividends accreting at the

rate of 8% per year compounding annually See Note 10 Redeemable Convertible Preferred

Stock to our annual consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in this

report

All basic and diluted earnings loss per share and average shares outstanding information for all

periods presented have been adjusted to reflect the 1-for-4.5 reverse stock split See Note

Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesReverse Stock Split to our annual consolidated

financial statements which are included elsewhere in this report For more information regarding

earnings per share calculations see Note Earnings Per Share to our consolidated annual

financial statements which are included elsewhere in this report

We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting

period student is considered an active student if he or she has attended class within the prior

30 days unless the student has graduated or has provided us with notice of withdrawal

69



Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following ciscussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements
which are included lsewhere in this report In addition to historical infonnation this discussion includes

forward-looking infrrmation that involves risks and assumptions which could cause actual results to differ

materially from mar agements expectations See Part Item 1A Risk Factors and Special Note

Regarding Forward-Looking Statements at the beginning of this
report

Overview

We are provider of postsecondary education services Our regionally accredited academic
institutions offer asociates bachelors masters and doctoral programs in the disciplines of business
education psychology social sciences and health sciences Our institutions deliver programs online as
well as at their traditional campuses located in Clinton Iowa and Colorado Springs Colorado As of

December 31 2010 our institutions offered approximately 1345 courses 71 degree programs and 134

specializations For more information on our business see BusinessOverview in Part Item of
this report

Key operating data

In evaluating operating performance our management focuses in large part on revenue
ii operating income and iii period end enrollment at our academic institutions online and campus-
based The following table which you should read in conjunction with our annual consolidated
financial statements which are contained elsewhere in this report presents our key operating data for
the

years ended Deember 31 2010 2009 and 2008 in thousands except for enrollment data

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Consolidated Statement of Income Data

Revenue $713233 $454324 $218290

Operating $216421 81730 33420
Consolidatd Other Data

Period end enrollment unaudited2
Online 77033 53048 30921

Campus 859 640 637

Total 77892 53688 31558

In 2009 we recorded $30.4 million related to the acceleration of certain exit options and
$11.1 million related to the settlement of stockholder claim of which $10.6 million was

non-cash See Factors Affecting Comparability below

We deine enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial

reporting period student is considered an active student if he or she has attended
class within the prior 30 days unless the student has graduated or has provided us with

notice of withdrawal

Key historical trends in results of operations

We have experienced significant growth in enrollments revenue and
operating income as well as

improvement in liquidity since our acquisition of Ashford University in March 2005 We believe our
enrollment and revenue growth has been driven primarily by our significant investment in

enrollment advisors md online advertising which commenced immediately upon our acquisition of
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Ashford University and ii students acceptance of our value proposition Our significant growth in

operating income is primarily result of leveraging our fixed costs with increased revenue

The growth that we experienced from the launch of Ashford Universitys first online program in

2005 continued throughout 2010 In 2010 enrollment grew from 53688 at December 31 2009 to

77892 at December 31 2010 an increase of 45% During 2010 we had new student starts of

approximately 82000 In the last five
years including 2010 enrollment growth had compound annual

growth rate of 136% While it would be difficult to maintain such large growth rate we expect to

continue to grow in the next five years We believe that our dynamic structure allows us to expand our

student base as needed while maintaining the same high quality education for all our students Our

revenue has experienced similar growth rates between 2005 and 2010 with compound annual growth

rate of 146%

We have significantly expanded our operations due to our continued growth since our launch In

2010 we entered into leases for space in three buildings with an aggregate of 300000 additional square

feet Additionally we expanded our Ashford University campus by constructing new stadium on

portion of the land acquired in December 2009 We also purchased building to be used as student

housing to allow for additional students on the Ashford University campus

Launch of constellation

In May 2010 we launched Constellation an innovative suite of interactive educational materials

that will increase both the educational quality and affordability of an education for online students at

its Ashford University Constellations Web-based course materials include both text and multimedia

assets developed in cooperation with subject matter experts from across the country as well as Ashford

University faculty Constellation materials replace third-party textbooks which have typically cost online

students $150 per course With Constellation the cost is cut in half to $75 During 2010 we introduced

eight courses and plan to include core courses in approximately 80 percent of degree programs over

the next three years Revenue generated from Constellation was immaterial in 2010 representing less

than one percent of revenue

Liquidity and capital resources and anticipated capital expenditures

We financed our operating activities and capital expenditures during 2010 and 2009 primarily

through cash provided by operating activities At December 31 2010 we had cash cash equivalents and

marketable securities totaling $299.1 million and no long term debt Based on our current level of

operations and anticipated growth in enrollments we believe that our cash flow from operating

activities our existing cash and cash equivalents and other sources of liquidity will provide adequate

funds for ongoing operations planned capital expenditures and working capital requirements for at

least the next 12 months For the
year ending December 31 2011 we expect capital expenditures to be

approximately $52.0 million

On July 30 2010 our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $60.0 million of our

outstanding shares of common stock over the following 12 months During the
year

ended

December 31 2010 we repurchased 3.0 million shares at weighted average cost of $14.05 per share

for total purchase price of $42.2 niillion Approximately $17.8 million remains authorized and

available under the repurchase program As result of the shares repurchased diluted earnings per

share increased $0.04 or 1.9% as result of the fewer shares outstanding

Anticipated future trends in results of operations

In recent years we have seen student enrollments and revenue continue to increase despite

difficult general economic conditions We have not seen any unfavorable impact from the fluctuation in

general economic conditions on our liquidity capital resources or results of operations While we
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cannot guarantee that these trends will continue we believe that the performance of our company has

been resilient in the urrent economic environment due to the continued availability of Title IV

funds to finance student tuition payments ii increased demand for postsecondary education resulting

from deteriorating labor market and iii efficiencies in advertising costs To meet the challenges of

the current economy we plan to continue to invest significantly in enrollment advisors and online and

other advertising which we expect will result in our total student enrollment and operating income

continuing to grow Liough perhaps not at the same rate as in the past particularly given the larger

size of our enrollmer base and the changing regulatory environment including any future changes in

regulation over areas such as incentive compensation or gainful employment For more information on

recent regulatory changes see RegulationDepartment Regulation of Title IV Programs in Part

Item of this report and Risk Factors in Part Item 1A of this report As other institutions have

disclosed and as our pilot programs with revised compensation structures have indicated we expect

that our enrollment Ldvisors new enrollment productivity will decline as result of the changes in

compensation metho1o1ogy and that the majority of the impact will be realized in the second half of

2011

Recent Developments

On March 201 we received correspondence from the U.S Senate Committee on Health

Education Labor and Pensions inviting our CEO and President to testif at hearing scheduled for

March 10 2011 regarding Bridgepoint Education Inc and Ashford University

Key Financial Metrs

Revenue

Revenue consistr principally of tuition technology fees and other miscellaneous fees and is shown

net of scholarships arid refunds Factors affecting our revenue include the number of students who

enroll and who remain enrolled in our courses ii our degree and program mix iii changes in our

tuition rates and iv the amount of the scholarships that we offer Tuition is reduced by the amount of

scholarships we award to our students

Enrollments

We define enrollments as the number of active students on the last day of the financial reporting

period student is considered an active student if he or she has attended class within the prior

30 days unless the Sn ident has graduated or has provided us with notice of withdrawal Enrollments

are function of the number of continuing students at the beginning of each period and new
enrollments during tli period which are offset by students who either graduated or withdrew during

the period Our online courses are typically five or six weeks in length and have weekly start dates

through the year witI the exception of two week break during the holiday period in late December
and early January Our campus-based courses have one start per term with two to five terms per year

Costs and expenses

Instructional cost and services Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to

the administration and delivery of our educational programs This expense category includes

compensation for caripus-based faculty and administrative personnel costs associated with online

faculty curriculum and new program development costs bad debt expense financial aid processing

costs technology lice use costs and costs associated with other support groups that provide service

directly to the studen ts Instructional costs and services also include an allocation of facility and

depreciation costs

Marketing and pr7motional Marketing and promotional expenses include compensation of

personnel engaged in marketing and recruitment as well as costs associated with purchasing leads and
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producing marketing materials Our marketing and promotional expenses are generally affected by the

cost of advertising media and leads the efficiency of our marketing and recruiting efforts salaries and

benefits for our enrollment personnel and expenditures on advertising initiatives for new and existing

academic programs Advertising costs consisting primarily of marketing leads are expensed as incurred

or the first time the advertising takes place We also incur immediate expenses in connection with new

enrollment advisors while these individuals undergo training Enrollment advisors typically do not

achieve anticipated full productivity until four to six months after their dates of hire Marketing and

promotional costs also include an allocation of facility and depreciation costs

General and administrative General and administrative expenses include compensation of

employees engaged in corporate management finance human resources information technology

compliance and other corporate functions General and administrative expenses also include

professional services fees travel and entertainment expenses and an allocation of facility and

depreciation costs

Interest income Interest income consists primarily of interest earned on investments

Interest expense Interest expense consists primarily
of interest charges on our line of credit and

related fees

Factors Affecting Comparability

We believe the following factors have had or can be expected to have significant effect on the

comparability of recent or future results of operations

Stock-based compensation

The amount of stock-based compensation recognized in our consolidated statements of income has

fluctuated year over year primarily due to the increase in fair market value of our common stock

since 2007 which has resulted in higher grant date fair values for our option awards under the Black

Scholes option pricing model ii the modification of certain stock options in March 2009 as discussed

below and iii an increase in the number of stock options granted since becoming public company

On March 28 2009 our board of directors amended the exit options for 10 members of our

management team to add an additional vesting condition so that the number of shares underlying the

options that would not have vested upon the closing of our initial public offering under the original

terms of the options would vest in full upon the closing of such offering This additional vesting

condition constituted modification Accordingly to the extent the exit option vested under the

original vesting conditions the original grant date fair value was recorded on the vesting date and to

the extent each exit option vested under the additional vesting condition the modification date fair

value would be recorded on the vesting date

The compensation expense that was recorded for the exit options during the second quarter of

2009 was $30.4 million Such compensation expense was allocated to the expense category in which the

optionees regular compensation is recorded

Settlement of stockholder dispute

In February 2009 certain holders of common stock and warrants to purchase common stock

asserted various claims against us our directors and officers and Warburg Pincus regarding

amendments to our certificate of incorporation made in connection with financings in 2005 and certain

stock options we granted to our employees The claimants represented 90% of the holders of common

stock and 59% of the shares of common stock subject to warrants outstanding in each case as of

July 27 2005 In March 2009 we reached settlement with the claimants regarding these claims and

recorded total expense of $11.1 million related to the settlement during the three months ended
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March 31 2009 After settling with the claimants we notified the other holders of common stock and

other holders of wan ants to purchase shares of common stock in each case as of July 27 2005

regarding these claini the settlement terms and their ability to participate in the settlement In April

2009 we reached setiwith all of them

Public company expenes

As public comDany we are obligated to file with the SEC annual and quarterly information and

other reports that ar specified in Section 13 of the Exchange Act We are required to ensure that we

have the ability to pr pare financial statements that comply with SEC reporting requirements on

timely basis We are ilso subject to other reporting and corporate governance requirements including

the listing standards of the NYSE and certain provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the regulations

promulgated thereunder which impose significant compliance obligations upon us In addition we have

hired additional personnel and expand our administrative functions to become compliant and maintain

compliance with the regulatory obligations of being public company

Seasonality

Although not apparent in our results of operations due to our growth rate our operations are

generally subject to msonal trends As our growth rate declines we expect to experience seasonal

fluctuations in resu1t of operations as result of changes in the level of student enrollment While we

enroll students throughout the year our fourth quarter revenue generally is lower than other quarters

due to the holiday break in December We generally experience seasonal increase in new enrollments

in August and September of each
year when most other colleges and universities begin their fall

semesters

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Critical accountmg policies are those policies that in managements view are most important in

the portrayal of our tinancial condition and results of operations The footnotes to the consolidated

financial statements 150 include disclosure of significant accounting policies The methods estimates

and judgments that we use in applying our accounting policies have significant impact on the results

that we report in oui financial statements These critical accounting policies require us to make difficult

and subjective judgmnts often as result of the need to make estimates regarding matters that are

inherently uncertain

The discussion cf our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated

financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP The preparation of these

financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of

assets liabilities reve flues costs and expenses On an ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates and

assumptions including those related to revenue bad debts long-lived assets income taxes and stock-

based compensation These estimates are based on historical experience and on various other

assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances The results of our analysis form

the basis for making Eissumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily

apparent from other sources Actual results may differ from these estimates under different

assumptions or condi ions and the impact of such differences may be material to our consolidated

financial statements

Revenue recognition

The majority of ur revenue comes from tuition revenue and is shown net of scholarships and

refunds Tuition revenue is recognized on straight-line basis over the applicable period of instruction

Our online students generally enroll in program that encompasses series of five- to six-week courses

that are taken consecutively over the length of the program Students are billed on course-by-course
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basis when first attending class Our traditional campus-based students enroll in program that

encompasses series of nine-week or 16-week courses These students are billed at the beginning of

each term

Deferred revenue and student deposits represents tuition fees and other student payments and

unpaid amounts due less amounts recognized as revenue We recognize an account receivable and

corresponding deferred revenue for the full amount of course tuition when student first attends class

Payments that are received either directly from the student or from the students source of funding that

exceed amounts billed are recognized as student deposits

If student withdraws from program prior to certain dates the student is entitled to refund of

certain portions of tuition depending on the date the student last attended class If an online student

drops class and the students last date of attendance was in the first week of class the student

receives full refund of the tuition for that class If an online student drops class and the last date of

attendance was in the second week of the class the student receives refund of 50% of the tuition for

that class If an online student drops class and the students last date of attendance was after the

second week of the class the student is not entitled to refund We monitor student attendance in

online courses through activity in the online program associated with that course After two weeks have

passed without attendance in class by the student the student is presumed to have dropped the

course as of the last date of attendance and the students tuition is automatically refunded to the

extent the student is entitled to refund based on the refund policy above We estimate expected

refunds based on historical refund rates and record provision to reduce revenue for the amount that

is expected to be refunded Refunds issued by us for services that have been provided in prior period

have not historically been material Future changes in the rate of student withdrawals may result in

change to expected refunds and would be accounted for prospectively as change in estimate

We also recognize revenue from technology fees that are one-time start up fees charged to each

new online student other than military and scholarship students and students affiliated with certain

corporate reimbursement programs Technology fee revenue is recognized ratably over the average

expected term of student The average expected term of the student is estimated each quarter based

upon historical student duration of attendance and qualitative
factors as deemed necessary

Allowance for doubtful accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from students

inability to pay us for services performed or for inability of students to repay excess funds received for

stipends Bad debt expense is recorded as component of instructional costs and services We calculate

the allowance for doubtful accounts based on our historical collection experience and changes in the

economic environment We also consider other factors such as the age of the receivable the type of

receivable and the students active or inactive enrollment status Certain variables require management

judgment and include inherent uncertainties such as the likelihood of future student attendance and

students ability to qualify for Title IV eligibility Variations in these factors from our historical

experience may impact future estimates of the collectability of accounts receivable and may cause

actual losses due to write-offs of uncollectible accounts to differ from past estimates

Impairments of long-lived assets

We assess potential impairment to our long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable Factors

we consider important which could cause us to assess potential impairment include significant changes

in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business and significant

negative industry or economic trends An impairment loss is recorded when the carrying amount of the

long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value The carrying amount of long-lived asset

is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use
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and eventual disposition of the asset Any required impairment loss is measured as the amount by

which the carrying amount of long-lived asset exceeds its fair value and is recorded as reduction in

the carrying value of the related asset and an expense to operating results

We use various issumptions in determining undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the

use and eventual disiosition of the asset including assumptions regarding revenue growth rates

operating costs certain capital additions assumed discount rates disposition or terminal value and

other economic factors These variables require management judgment and include inherent

uncertainties such as continuing acceptance of our value proposition by prospective students our ability

to manage operating costs and the impact of changes in the economy on our business variation in

the assumptions used could lead to different conclusion regarding the realizability of an asset and

thus could have siçnificant effect on our conclusions regarding whether an asset is impaired and the

amount of impairme it loss recorded in the consolidated financial statements

Income taxes

We utilize the
li..tbility

method of accounting for income taxes Significant judgments are required

in determining the consolidated provision for income taxes During the ordinary course of business

there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax settlement is uncertain As

result we recognize iax liabilities based on estimates of whether additional taxes and interest will be

due These tax liabiliies are recognized when despite our belief that our tax return positions are

supportable we believe that it is more likely than not that those positions may not be fully sustained

upon review by tax authorities We believe that our accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open

audit years based on our assessment of many factors including past experience and interpretations of

tax law This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve series of complex

judgments about future events To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters differs from

our expectations such differences will impact income tax expense in the period in which such

determination is made

We evaluate and account for uncertain tax positions using two-step approach Recognition step

one occurs when we conclude that tax position based solely on its technical merits is

more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination Measurement step two determines the

amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with taxing

authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information Derecognition of tax position that was

previously recognized would occur when we subsequently determine that tax position no longer meets

the more-likely-than- iot threshold of being sustained

We are required to file income tax returns in the United States and in various state income tax

jurisdictions The
pre paration of these income tax returns requires us to interpret the applicable tax

laws and regulations in effect in such jurisdictions which could affect the amount of tax paid by us

The income tax returns however are subject to audits by the various federal and state taxing

authorities As part of these reviews the taxing authorities may disagree with our tax positions The

ultimate resolution oi these tax positions is often uncertain until the audit is complete and any

disagreements are reWe therefore record an amount for our estimate of the additional tax

liability including in crest and penalties for any uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken

in an income tax return We review and update the accrual for uncertain tax positions as more

definitive information becomes available from taxing authorities completion of tax audits and

expiration of statutes of limitations We record interest and penalties related to income tax matters in

income tax expense

In addition to estimates inherent in the recognition of current taxes payable we estimate the

likelihood that we wiLl be able to recover our deferred tax assets each reporting period Realization of

our deferred tax asse Is is dependent upon future taxable income To the extent we believe it is
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more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of our net deferred tax assets will not be realized we

establish valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets Significant judgment is required in

determining any valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets In assessing the need for

valuation allowance we consider all available evidence including past operating results estimates of

future taxable income and the feasibility of ongoing tax planning strategies We recognize windfall tax

benefits associated with the exercise of stock options directly to stockholders equity only when realized

windfall tax benefit occurs when tlhe actual tax benefit realized by us upon an employees disposition

of share-based award exceeds the deferred tax asset if any associated with the award that we had

recorded When assessing whether tax benefit relating to share-based compensation has been realized

we follow the tax law ordering method under which current year share-based compensation deductions

are assumed to be utilized before net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes

Stock-based compensation

We grant options to purchase our common stock to certain employees and directors under our

equity incentive plans The benefits provided under these plans are share-based payments and are

recorded in our consolidated statement of income based upon their fair values

Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date fair value of the award and is

expensed over the vesting period We estimate the fair value of stock options awards on the grant date

using the Black-Scholes option pricing model Determining the fair value of stock-based awards at the

grant date under this model requires judgment including estimating our volatility employee stock

option exercise behaviors and forfeiture rates The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of

stock-based awards represent our best estimates but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and

the application of management judgment

Our computation of expected term was calculated using the simplified method The risk-free

interest rate is based on the United States Treasury yield of those maturities that are consistent with

the expected term of the stock option in effect on the grant date of the award Dividend rates are

based upon historical dividend trends and expected future dividends As we have never declared or

paid any cash dividends and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future

zero dividend rate is assumed in our calculation Because our stock has not been publicly traded for

significant period of time and we had no substantial historical data on the volatility of our stock as of

December 31 2010 our expected volatility is estimated by analyzing the historical volatility of

comparable public companies which we refer to as guideline companies In evaluating the

comparability of the guideline companies we consider factors such as industry stage of life cycle size

and financial leverage

The amount of stock-based compensation expense we recognize during period is based on the

portion of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest We estimate option forfeitures at the time of

grant and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates

The effect of 10% change in estimates to any of the individual inputs to the Black-Scholes option

pricing model would not have material impact to our consolidated financial statements

Options awarded under our equity incentive plans have an exercise price that equals or exceeds

the closing price of our common stock as reported by the NYSE on the date of grant
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of income data as percentage of

revenue for each of he periods indicated

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Costs and xpenses

Instructinal cost and services 26.3 26.4 28.8

Marketing and promotional 29.7 32.1 37.1

General md administrative 13.7 23.5 18.8

Total costs and expenses 69.7 82.0 84.7

Operating income 30.3 18.0 15.3

Interest income 0.2 0.2 0.1
Interest exense 0.0 0.1 0.1

Income before income taxes 30.5 18.1 15.3

Income tax expense 12 7.7 3.2

Net incomc 19% 1ft4% 12J%

Year Ended December 31 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2009

Revenue Our revenue for 2010 was $713.2 million an increase of $258.9 million or 57.0% as

compared to $454.3 million for 2009 Our revenue growth was primarily attributed to enrollment

growth Student enrllment at our academic institutions as of December 31 2010 was 77892 an

increase of 24204 or 45.1% compared to 53688 as of December 31 2009 Enrollment growth is

driven by various factors including prospective students acceptance of our value proposition the quality

of lead generation eforts the number of enrollment advisors and our ability to retain existing students

In addition to the increase in student enrollment the revenue increase was also positively impacted by

the 5% tuition increase effective April 2010 and the decision on April 2009 to move to single

credit hour price for all undergraduate students at Ashford University The tuition increase and the

move to single cre1it hour price accounted for approximately 11.0% and 4.8% respectively of the

revenue increase between periods Revenue increases were partially offset by an increase in institutional

scholarships of $37.4 million between 2010 and 2009 We earned technology fees of $50.5 million for

2010 representing 1% of total revenue during the period compared to technology fees of

$34.7 million for 2009 representing 7.6% of total revenue during that period We increased the

technology fee from $990 to $1290 for degree-seeking online students at Ashford University and

University of the Rockies starting on or after August 2010 which fee increase accounted for

$5.3 million or 2.09 of the revenue increase between periods

Instructional coss and services Our instructional costs and services for 2010 were $187.4 million

an increase of $67.3 million or 56.1% as compared to $120.1 million for 2009 This increase was

primarily due to additional costs necessary to support the increased student enrollment The primary

increases were bad debt expense of $16.4 million instructor fees of $16.1 million direct wages of

$12.8 million financial aid processing of $6.5 million license fees of $6.4 million facilities costs of

$3.9 million and employee benefits of $3.3 million Instructional costs and services decreased as

percentage of revenie to 26.3% for 2010 as compared to 26.4% for 2009 The decrease of 0.1% as

percentage of reveni included relative decreases in direct wages and stock-based compensation of

0.6% and 0.5% respectively The decrease in direct wages was due to efficiencies gained in the areas of

academic management financial aid support and student services that came with larger student base
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The decrease in stock-based compensation was primarily due to the $2.1 million related to the exit

options charge taken in 2009 The decreases were partially offset by relative increases in license fees

and bad debt expense of 0.5% each The increase in license fees was due to the change in online

providers between 2009 and 2010 The increase in bad debt expense from 5.1% in 2009 to 5.6% in 2010

was due to general economic conditions

Marketing and promotional Our marketing and promotional expenses for 2010 were

$211.6 million an increase of $65.9 million or 45.2% as compared to $145.7 million for 2009 The

increase was primarily due to the growth of our enrollment advisor workiorce as well as costs incurred

to purchase additional leads We expanded our enrollment advisor force by 444 or 37.8% during the

year The factors contributing to the overall increase between periods were increases in selling

compensation of $29.9 million advertising of $16.2 million facilities costs of $8.3 million employee

benefits of $6.8 million and other advertising of $5.7 million The increase in selling compensation and

advertising spending is expected to continue as we grow our enrollment advisor workforce and increase

our lead generation efforts to support those advisors Our marketing and promotional expenses as

percentage of revenue decreased to 29.7% for 2010 from 32.1% for 2009 The decrease of 2.4% as

percentage of revenue included relative decreases in stock-based compensation advertising and selling

compensation of 1.1% 0.9% and 0.8% respectively The decrease in stock-based compensation was

primarily due to the $5.0 million related to the exit options charge taken in 2009 The decrease in

advertising and selling compensation was due to efficiencies gained by improvements to our variable

cost structure The decreases were partially offset by relative increase in other advertising of 0.7%

The increase in other advertising was due to increased corporate branding initiatives

General and administrative Our general and administrative expenses for 2010 were $97.9 million

decrease of $8.9 million or 8.4% as compared to $106.8 million for 2009 The decrease was primarily

due to the $23.3 million related to the exit options charge and the $11.1 million related to the

stockholder settlement charge taken in 2009 The decreases were partially offset by increases in

administrative labor of $11.0 million facilities costs of $2.9 million legal and consulting fees of

$2.3 million bank fees of $1.8 million and outside services of $1.7 million Our general and

administrative expenses as percentage of revenue decreased to 13.7% for 2010 from 23.5% for 2009

The 9.8% decrease as percentage of revenue was primarily due to the relative decreases related to

the aforementioned exit option and stockholder settlement charges of 5.2% and 2.4% respectively

Interest income Our interest income for 2010 was $1.6 million an increase of $0.8 million as

compared to $0.8 million for 2009 as result of increased levels of cash and cash equivalents

Interest expense Our interest expense for 2010 was $0.2 million slight decrease of $0.1 million

as compared to $0.3 million for 2009

Income tax expense Income tax expense for 2010 was $90.2 million an increase of $55.1 million

from $35.1 million for 2009 at effective tax rates of 41.4% and 42.7% for 2010 and 2009 respectively

The decrease in our effective tax rate in 2010 as compared to 2009 was primarily due to decrease of

the effect of our permanent differences and uncertain tax positions on larger revenue base The

decrease of these items was partially offset by an increase in our blended state tax rate due to our

increased state footprint

Net income Our net income for 2010 was $127.6 million an increase of $80.5 million as

compared to net income of $47.1 million for 2009 due to the factors discussed above

Year Ended December 31 2009 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2008

Revenue Our revenue for 2009 was $454.3 million an increase of $236.0 million or 108.1% as

compared to $218.3 million for 2008 Our revenue growth was primarily attributed to enrollment
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growth Student enrllment at our academic institutions as of December 31 2009 was 53688 an

increase of 22130 cr 70.1% compared to 31558 as of December 31 2008 Enrollment growth is

driven by various fators including prospective students acceptance of our value proposition the quality

of lead generation efforts the number of enrollment advisors and our ability to retain existing students

In addition to the increase in student enrollment the revenue increase was also positively impacted by

the 5% tuition increase effective April 2009 and the decision to move to single credit hour price

for all undergraduat students at Ashford University The tuition increase and the move to single

credit hour price ace ounted for approximately 6.3% and 11.8% respectively of the revenue increase

between periods These increases were partially offset by an increase in institutional scholarships of

$28.1 million

Instructional cots and services Our instructional costs and services for 2009 were $120.1 million

an increase of $57.3 million or 91.2% as compared to $62.8 million for 2008 This increase was

primarily due to additional costs necessary to support the increased student population as well as

$2.8 million increasc in stock-based compensation of which $2.1 million related to the exit options

charge taken in the second quarter of 2009 Instructional costs and services decreased as percentage

of revenue to 26.4% for 2009 as compared to 28.8% for 2008 The decrease is primarily due to

decrease in direct labor of 1.5% as percentage of revenue from efficiencies gained and as well as

decrease in bad deb expense of 1.1% to 5.1% in 2009 from 6.2% in 2008 due to increased levels of

collection efforts

Marketing and promotional Our marketing and promotional expenses for 2009 were

$145.7 million an increase of $64.7 million or 79.8% as compared to $81.0 million for 2008 The

increase was primarily due to increased marketing labor costs of $33.5 million ii increased

advertising of $12.2 million iii increased facilities costs of $10.3 million iv increased stock-based

compensation of $6.5 million of which $5.0 million related to the exit options charge taken in the

second quarter of 2109 and other selling and marketing costs of $2.2 million The increase in

selling compensatiol and advertising spending is expected to continue as we grow our enrollment

advisor base and increase our lead generation efforts to support those advisors Our marketing and

promotional expenscs as percentage of revenue decreased to 32.1% for 2009 from 37.1% for 2008

The decrease is primarily due to efficiencies gained by improvements to our variable cost structure

specifically related tj marketing wages and advertising

General and administrative Our general and administrative expenses for 2009 were $106.8 million

an increase of $65.8 million or 160.4% as compared to $41.0 million for 2008 The increase was

primarily due to increased stock-based compensation of $26.6 million of which $23.3 million related

to the exit options charge taken in the second quarter
of 2009 ii increased administrative labor of

$13.9 million iii the $11.1 million charge related to the stockholder settlement in the first quarter of

2009 iv increased outside and professional fees of $4.5 million increased depreciation of

$3.2 million vi increased travel of $1.0 million and vii other general and administrative increases of

$5.5 million Our general and administrative expenses as percentage of revenue increased to 23.5%

for 2009 from 18.8% for 2008 primarily due to the increased costs noted above

Interest income Our interest income for 2009 was $0.8 million an increase of $0.5 million from

$0.3 million for 200 as result of increased levels of cash and cash equivalents

Interest expense Our interest expense for 2009 was $0.3 million slight increase of $0.1 million

from $0.2 million for 2008

Income tax expnse Income tax expense for 2009 was $35.1 million an increase of $28.0 million

from $7.1 million for 2008 at effective tax rates of 42.7% and 21.1% for 2009 and 2008 respectively

The increase in our effective tax rate in 2009 as compared to 2008 was primarily due to an increase
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in our uncertain tax positions in 2009 and ii nonrecurring benefit related to the release in 2008 of

the valuation allowance existing at December 31 2007

Net income Our net income for 2009 was $47.1 million an increase of $20.7 million as compared

to net income of $26.4 million for 2008 due to the factors discussed above

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity

We financed our operating activities and capital expenditures during the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 primarily through cash provided by operating activities Our cash and

cash equivalents were $188.5 million at December 31 2010 and $125.6 million at December 31 2009

Our restricted cash was $25000 at both December 31 2010 and December 31 2009 At

December 31 2010 and 2009 we had marketable securities of $110.6 million and $45.0 million

respectively

We manage our excess cash pursuant to the quantitative and qualitative operational guidelines of

our cash investment policy Our cash investment policy which is managed by our investment manager
has the following primary objectives in order of priority preserving principal meeting our liquidity

needs minimizing market and credit risk and providing returns Under the policys guidelines we

invest our excess cash exclusively in high-quality U.S dollar-denominated financial instruments For

discussion of the measures we use to mitigate the exposure of our cash investments to market risk

credit risk and interest rate risk see Part II Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About

Market Risk

Available borrowing facilities

On January 29 2010 we entered into $50 million revolving line of credit with Comerica Bank or

Comerica pursuant to Credit Agreement Revolving Credit Note and Security Agreement which

agreements as amended to date we collectively refer to as the Loan Documents For more information

about the Loan Documents see Note Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt to our annual

consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere in this report The initial proceeds

under the Loan Documents were used in part to refinance the outstanding letters of credit under the

existing Credit Agreement between us and Comerica which we refer to as the Prior Agreement Upon
the effectiveness of the Loan Documents the Prior Agreement was terminated except that letters of

credit outstanding under the Prior Agreement were deemed to be letters of credit issued under the

Loan Documents

As of December 31 2010 we used the availability under the revolving credit facility to issue letters

of credit aggregating $2.4 million We were in compliance with all financial covenants in the Loan

Documents and had no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facility as of

December 31 2010

As
part of our normal business operations we are required to provide surety bonds in certain

states where we do business In May 2009 we entered into surety bond facility with an insurance

company to provide such bonds when required As of December 31 2010 the total available surety

bond facility was $5.0 million and we had issued surety bonds totaling $1.3 million under such facility

Share repurchase

On July 30 2010 our board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $60.0 million of our

outstanding shares of common stock over the following 12 months Under the share repurchase

program which was announced on August 2010 we may purchase shares from time to time in the

open market through block trades or otherwise
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During the year ended December 31 2010 we repurchased 3.0 million shares at weighted

average cost of $14.U5 per share for total purchase price of $42.2 million Approximately

$17.8 million remains authorized and available under the repurchase program

Title IV funding

Our academic institutions derived the substantial majority of their respective revenues from various

federal student financial assistance programs under Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965 For

the years ended Decmber 31 2010 2009 and 2008 Ashford University derived 85.0% 85.5% and

86.8% respectively tnd the University of the Rockies derived 85.9% 84.6% and 80.8% respectively of

their respective revenue calculated on cash basis in accordance with applicable statutory provisions

and Department regulations from Title IV funds Our institutions are subject to significant regulatory

scrutiny on the basis of numerous standards that the institutions must satisfy in order to participate in

Title IV programs For more information regarding Title IV programs and the regulation thereof see

RegulationDeparment Regulation of Title IV Programs in Part Item of this report The

balance of revenues derived by our institutions is from military and government reimbursement cash

pay and corporate reimbursement private loans and the internal loan program at the University of the

Rockies For more information regarding these student financing options see BusinessStudent

Financing in Part Item of this report

If we were ineligible to receive Title IV funding our liquidity would be significantly impacted The

timing of disbursements under Title IV programs is based on federal regulations and our ability to

successfully and timely arrange financial aid for our students Title IV funds are generally provided in

multiple disbursements before we earn significant portion of tuition and fees and incur related

expenses over the period of instruction Students must apply for new loans and grants each academic

year These factors ogether with the timing of our students beginning their programs affect our

operating cash flow

Financial responsibiliuy

In the third quarter of 2010 consistent with our internal calculations the Department notified us

that Ashford University received composite score of 2.9 for the fiscal year
ended December 31 2009

and that the University of the Rockies received composite score of 1.8 for the fiscal
year

ended

December 31 2009 in each case satisfying the composite score requirement of the Departments

financial responsibility test which institutions must satisfy in order to participate in Title IV programs

For more information see RegulationDepartment Regulation of Title IV ProgramsFinancial

responsibility in Pa1t Item of this report

We expect the composite scores for Ashford University and the University of the Rockies both to

be 3.0 for the year ended December 31 2010 However this is subject to determination by the

Department once it receives and reviews our audited financial statements for the year ended

December 31 2010

Internal loan program

In October 200 we implemented program for the University of the Rockies pursuant to which

the institution proviIes direct loans to students The total number of students receiving these loans

during 2010 and 2009 was 179 and 86 respectively The total amount of financing provided during 2010

and 2009 was $2.6 nillion and $1.2 million We have no current plans to implement similar program

for Ashford University
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Operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31 2010 was

$189.9 million compared to $131.7 million for the prior year The increase of $58.2 million was

primarily due to an increase in net income of $80.5 million between periods which reflects that net

income for 2009 included non-cash charges related to the acceleration of exit options of $30.4 million

and the settlement of stockholder claim of $11.1 million of which $10.6 million was non-cash

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31 2009 was

$131.7 million Significant non-cash items included in the reconciliation of net income to net cash

provided by operating activities include the following stock-based compensation of $35.9 million

ii provision for doubtful accounts of $23.2 million iii an increase in deferred income taxes of

$12.4 million and iv the non-cash portion of the stockholder settlement of $10.6 million Changes in

operating assets and liabilities was $21.5 million and was caused primarily by increases in deferred

revenue and student deposits of $54.3 million and ii accounts payable and accrued liabilities of

$5.5 million These were offset by an increase in accounts receivable of $37.5 million

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31 2008 was $70.7 million

Significant non-cash items included in the reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by

operating activities include the following provision for doubtful accounts of $13.4 million ii an

increase in deferred income taxes of $5.7 million iii depreciation and amortization of $2.5 million

and iv stock-based compensation of $1.8 million Changes in operating assets and liabilities was

$32.3 million and was caused primarily by increases in deferred revenue and student deposits of

$50.6 million and ii accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $11.5 million These were offset by an

increase in accounts receivable of $27.7 million

Investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $94.5 million $70.0 million and $16.6 million for 2010
2009 and 2008 respectively Our cash used in investing activities is primarily related to the purchases of

property and equipment and leasehold improvements and marketable securities majority of our

historical capital expenditures are related to the establishment of our initial infrastructure to support

our online operations and to improve our ground campus Capital expenditures were $26.6 million

$24.2 million and $15.9 million for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively For the year ending

December 31 2011 we expect capital expenditures to be approximately $52.0 million

During 2010 we purchased $111.7 million of marketable securities and there were maturities of

$45.0 million

Financing activities

Net cash provided by used in financing activities was $32.5 million $7.4 million and $5.1
million for 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively During 2010 net cash used in financing activities was

primarily related to our stock repurchase of approximately 3.0 million shares at weighted average cost

of $14.05 per share for total of $42.2 million This was partially offset by an excess tax benefit of

option exercises of $7.0 million as well as proceeds from the exercises of stock options and warrants of

$2.2 million

We may utilize commercial financing and lines of credit for the purpose of expansion of our online

business infrastructure and to expand and improve our ground campuses in Clinton Iowa and

Colorado Springs Colorado Based on our current level of operations and anticipated growth in

enrollments we believe that our cash flow from operations existing cash and cash equivalents and

other sources of liquidity will provide adequate funds for ongoing operations planned capital

expenditures and working capital requirements for at least the next 12 months
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Significant Cash and Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth as of December 31 2010 certain significant
cash and contractual

obligations that will affect our future liquidity

Payments Due by Period

Total 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter

In thousands

Operating lease obligations $329653 $50302 $69122 $35596 $174633

Other contractual obligations 23117 12308 10749 60

Uncertain tax positions 8503 8503

Total $361273 $71113 $79871 $35656 $174633

In February 2011 we entered into lease for 151000 rentable square feet of office space in

Denver Colorado We intend to use the new space primarily
for administrative offices meeting rooms

and online support The initial term of the lease is 10
years

and is estimated to commence in

August 2011 The nonthly base rent over the initial term of the lease increases from $0.4 million

during the first year to $0.5 million during the tenth year The total amount of base rent payments over

the initial term of the lease is $43.4 million such payments are excluded from the table above

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 2010 the company has no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are

reasonably likely to have material current or future effect on financial condition changes in financial

condition revenue or expenses results of operations liquidity capital expenditures or capital resources

See the table above for the companys contractual obligations for detailed information about the

companys financial commitments

Segment Informatien

We operate in one reportable segment as single educational delivery operation using core

infrastructure that serves the curriculum and educational delivery needs of both our campus-based and

online students regtrdless of geography Our chief operating decision maker our CEO and President

manages our operations as whole and no expense or operating income information is evaluated by

our chief operating
decision maker on any component level

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 209 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU 2009-13 which amends

ASC Topic 605 Re enue Recognition This update changes the requirements for establishing separate

units of accounting in multiple element arrangement and requires the allocation of arrangement

consideration to each deliverable based on the relative selling price ASU 2009-13 is effective for

revenue arrangemeiits entered into in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 We do not

believe that the ad ption of ASU 2009-13 will have material effect on our consolidated financial

statements

In October 2019 the FASB issued ASU 2009-14 which amends ASC Topic 985 Certain Revenue

Arrangements That include Software Elements This update changes the accounting model for revenue

arrangements that include both tangible products and software elements ASU 2009-14 is effective for

revenue arrangeme ats entered into in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 We do not

believe that the adoption of ASU 2009-14 will have material effect on our consolidated financial

statements
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In December 2010 the FASB issued ASU 2010-28 which amends the criteria for performing

Step of the goodwill impairment test for reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts and

requires performing Step if qualitative factors indicate that it is more likely than not that goodwill

impairment exists The amendments in the update are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after

December 15 2010 We do not believe that the adoption of ASU 2010-28 will have material impact

on our consolidated financial statements

In December 2010 the FASB issued ASU 2010-29 which clarifies that when presenting

comparative financial statements SEC registrants should disclose revenue and earnings of the

combined entity as though any current period business combinations had occurred as of the beginning
of the comparable prior annual reporting period only The update also expands the supplemental pro
forma disclosures to include description of the nature and amount of material nonrecurring pro
forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro forma

revenue and earnings ASU 2010-29 is effective prospectively for material either on an individual or

aggregate basis business combinations entered into in fiscal
years beginning on or after

December 15 2010 with early adoption permitted We do not believe that the adoption of ASU
2010-29 will have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market and credit risk

Pursuant to our cash investment policy we attempt to mitigate the exposure of our cash and

investments to market and credit risk by diversifying concentration risk to ensure that we are not

overly concentrated in limited number of financial institutions ii monitoring and managing the risks

associated with the national banking and credit markets iii investing in U.S dollar-denominated

assets and instruments only iv diversifying account structures so that we maintain decentralized

account portfolio with numerous stable highly-rated and liquid financial institutions and ensuring

that our investment procedures maintain defined and specific scope such that we will not invest in

higher-risk investment accounts including long-term corporate bonds financial swaps or derivative and

corporate equities Accordingly under the guidelines of the policy we invest our excess cash exclusively

in high-quality U.S dollar-denominated financial instruments

Despite the investment risk mitigation strategies we employ we may incur investment losses as

result of unusual and unpredictable market developments and we may experience reduced investment

earnings if the yields on investments deemed to be low risk remain low or decline further in this time

of economic uncertainty In addition unusual and unpredictable market developments may also create

liquidity challenges for certain of the assets in our investment portfolio

We have no derivative financial instruments or derivative commodity instruments

Interest rate risk

To the extent we borrow funds under our lines of credit with Comerica we would be subject to

fluctuations in interest rates See Part II Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations-Liquidity and Capital Resources As of December 31 2010 we
had no borrowings under the line of credit with Comerica

Our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates At

December 31 2010 10% increase or decrease in interest rates would not have material impact on

our future earnings fair value or cash flows related to interest earned from cash cash equivalents or

marketable securities
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Bridgepoint Education Inc

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under

Item 15a1 present fairly in all material respects the financial position of Bridgepoint

Education Inc and its subsidiaries at December 31 2010 and 2009 and the results of their operations

and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America In addition in our

opinion the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15a2 presents

fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the

related consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the Company maintained in all material

respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on criteria

established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for

these financial statements and financial statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control

over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial

Reporting appearing under Item 9A Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial

statements on the financial statement schedule and on the Companys internal control over financial

reporting based on our audits which was an integrated audit in 2010 We conducted our audits in

accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects Our audits of the financial

statements included examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal control

over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial

reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included

performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our

audits provide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only

in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iii provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject

to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Diego California

March 2011

87



Bridgepoint Education Inc

Consolidated Balance Sheets

In thousands except par value

As of December 31

2010 2009

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash eqJivalents
$18858 $125562

Restricted cash
25 25

Marketable securities 90611 44988

Accounts receivable net 58415 43232

Deferred income taxes 7039 4027

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 12650 9581

Total current assets 357258 227415

Property and equipment net 66542 47362

Marketable securities 20000

Goodwill and intangibles 4123 3201

Deferred income taes 15845 13491

Other long term asets 7457 3762

Total assets $471225 $295231

LIABILITIES REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable
5076 2870

Accrued liabilitie 34895 24579

Deferred revenue and student deposits 173576 121752

Other current liabilities 172

Total current liabiliiies 213547 149373

Rent liability
10910 6896

Other long term ha bilities 8527 4353

Total liabilities 232984 160622

Commitments and ontingencies see Note 18

Stockholders equitT

Preferred stock 10.Oi par value

20000 authori zero shares issued and outstanding at December 31 2010

and December 31 2009

Common stock 0.01 par value

300000 shares authorized 55801 issued and 52799 outstanding at

December 2010 54266 shares issued and outstanding at December 31

2009 558 543

Additional paid-in capital 101463 83233

Retained earnings 178413 50833

Treasury stock 3.002 and zero shares at cost at December 31 2010 and

December 31 2009 respectively 42193

Total stockholders equity 238241 134609

Total liabilities redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders equity $471225 $295231

The acconi panying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Consolidated Statements of Income

In thousands except per share data

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Revenue $713233 $454324 $218290

Costs and expenses

Instructional costs and services 187399 120089 62822

Marketing and promotional 211550 145721 81036
General and administrative 97863 106784 41012

Total costs and expenses 496812 372594 184870

Operating income 216421 81730 33420
Interest income 1568 789 322
Interest expense 210 279 240

Income before income taxes 217779 82240 33502
Income tax expense 90199 35135 7071

Net income 127580 47105 26431

Accretion of preferred dividends 645 2006

Net income available to common stockholders $127580 46460 24425

Earnings per common share

Basic 2.37 0.85 0.38

Diluted 2.14 0.74 0.16

Weighted average common shares outstanding used in computing

earnings per common share

Basic 53724 39349 3335

Diluted 59631 45181 7757

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders Equity Deficit

In thousands

Balance at December 31 2007

Stock-based compensa Lion

Accretion of preferred dividends

Net income

Balance at December 31 2008

Stock-based compensa Lion

Accretion of preferrec dividends

Stockholder settlemeni

Preferred stock conversion

Exercise of options

Excess tax benefit of iption

exercises

Stock issued under eniployee stock

purchase plan

Exercise of warrants

Stock issued in initial public

offering net of issu ince costs of

$8.6 million

Net Income

Balance at December 31 2009

Stock-based compensrtion

Exercise of options

Excess tax benefit of uption

exercises

Stock issued under employee stock

purchase plan

Exercise of warrants

Repurchase of commn stock

Net Income

Balance at December 31 2010

Common Stock

Par Value

33

33

448

948 10

77

277

55801 $558

Additional

Paid-in

Capital

1827

124

1703

35943

10570

448
334

The accompanying notes are an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements
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Series

Convertible

Preferred Stock

Shares Amount Shares

19778 25056 3335

2006

19778 27062 3335

645

710

19778 27707 44805

Retained

Earnings

Accumulated

Deficit

20176

1882
26431

4373

645

freasury

Stock Total

$20143
1827

2006

________
26431

6109

35943

645
10577

5454

42 615

926 993

344

5454

616

1002

3500 35

54266 543

1181 11

28069

83233

7939

1029

47105

50833

6966

28104

47105

134609

7939

1040

6966

1106

1190

$101463

127580

$178413

1107

1193

42193 42193
127580

$42193 $238241



Bridgepoint Education Inc

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 127580 47105 26431
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Provision for bad debts 39631 23205 13431
Depreciation and amortization

8565 5890 2452
Amortization of premium/discount 663 66
Deferred income taxes 5366 12418 5658
Stock-based compensation 7939 35943 1827
Excess tax benefit of option exercises 6966 5454
Stockholder settlement non-cash portion 10577
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 73 38

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions

Accounts receivable 54814 37491 27747
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2665 2520 6306
Loans receivable 277

Other assets 3695 2384 471
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 18530 10906 11525
Deferred revenue and student deposits 51824 54327 50608
U.S governmental refundable loan funds 221
Other liabilities

4038 2917 2206
Uncertain tax positions 4612 1152 2394

Net cash provided by operating activities 189949 131727 70748
Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures 26568 24249 15884
Purchases of marketable securities 111690 44922
Restricted cash 641 666
Business acquisition 1500
Capitalized curriculum development costs 1214
Maturities of marketable securities 45000

Net cash used in investing activities 94472 70030 16550
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock net of issuance costs of $8.6 million 28104
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 1040 344
Excess tax benefit of option exercises 6966 5454
Proceeds from issuance of stock under employee stock purchase plan 1107 616

Proceeds from exercise of warrants 1193 1002

Payments on leases payable 634 197 175
Payments on conversion of preferred stock 27707
Repurchase of common stock 42193
Payments on notes payable 234 4891
Net cash used in provided by financing activities 32521 7382 5066
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 62956 69079 49132
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 125562 56483 7351

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 188518 $125562 56483

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Cash paid during the period for

Interest 57 201 240

Income taxes
88883 38457 10704

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities

Purchase of property and equipment through capital lease obligations 381 77

Non-cash purchases of property and equipment 1707 749 965

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements

Nature of Business

Bridgepoint EdiLcation Inc together with its subsidiaries the Company incorporated in 1999

is provider
of postecondary education services Its wholly-owned subsidiaries Ashford University and

the University of th Rockies are regionally accredited academic institutions that offer associates

bachelors masters rnd doctoral programs in the disciplines of business education psychology social

sciences and health ciences These institutions deliver programs online as well as at their traditional

campuses located in Clinton Iowa and Colorado Springs Colorado

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidate financial statements include the accounts of Bridgepoint Education Inc and its

wholly-owned subsid Intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Reverse Stock Split

On March 31 2009 the Companys board of directors approved 1-for-4.5 reverse stock split of

the Companys common stock par value $0.01 per share which was effective as of that date As

result of the reverse stock split every 4.5 shares of the Companys common stock were combined into

one share of commün stock and any fractional shares created by the reverse stock split were rounded

down to the nearest whole share The Company did not reduce the number of shares it is authorized to

issue or change the par value of the common stock The reverse stock split affected all shares of the

Companys common stock as well as options and warrants to purchase shares of the Companys

common stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the effective date of the reverse stock split

Common stock addlLtional paid-in capital retained earnings accumulated deficit and share and per

share data for prior periods have been retroactively restated to reflect the reverse stock split as if it had

occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted ii the United States of America GAAP requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements Actual

results could differ Irom those estimates

Cash and Cash Equialents

The Company invests cash in excess of current operating requirements in short term certificates of

deposit and money narket accounts The Company considers all highly liquid investments with

maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents

Restricted Cash

The Company Iad $25000 in restricted cash as of both December 31 2010 and 2009 The amount

at December 31 2010 and 2009 related to certificate of deposit pledged to the state of Washington

for state licensure rquirements
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Marketable Securities

As of December 31 2010 the Company maintained $110.6 million in marketable securities which

consisted of demand and corporate notes corporate and municipal bonds bonds funds and certificates

of deposit These securities are stated at fair market value using recently quoted market prices The

Companys investments are denominated in U.s dollars investment grade and highly liquid The

Companys investments are comprised of $90.6 million of short-term securities with maturities of less

than one year and $20.0 million of long-term securities with maturities of greater than one year but

less than three years

The Company has classified its marketable securities as available-for-sale and considers as current

assets those investments which will mature or are likely to be sold in less than one year At

December 31 2010 the fair value of the investments approximated the amortized cost

The Company regularly monitors and evaluates the realizable value of its marketable securities If

events and circumstances indicate that decline in the value of these assets has occurred and is

other-than-temporary the Company would record charge to other income expense net in the

consolidated statement of income

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable consists of student accounts receivable which
represent amounts due for

tuition technology fees and other fees from currently enrolled and former students Students generally

fund their education through grants and/or loans under various Title IV programs tuition assistance

from military and corporate employers or personal funds Accounts receivable are stated at the amount

management expects to collect from outstanding balances An allowance for doubtful accounts is

estimated by management based on an assessment of individual accounts receivable over specific

aging and amount and all other balances on pooled basis based on historical collection experience

ii consideration of the nature of the receivable accounts and iii potential changes in the economic

environment The provision for bad debts is recorded within the instructional costs and services line in

the consolidated statements of income

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recognized at cost less accumulated depreciation Depreciation is

computed using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives of the related assets as follows

Buildings 39
years

Furniture office equipment and software
years

Vehicles
years

Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease

term or the estimated useful lives of the assets Upon the retirement or disposition of property and

equipment the related cost and accumulated depreciation is removed and gain or loss is recorded in

the consolidated statements of income Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the period

incurred
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Leases

Leases are evaluated and classified as operating or capital leases Leased property and equipment

meeting certain crit ria are capitalized and the present
value of the related lease payments is

recognized as liability on the consolidated balance sheets Amortization of capitalized leased assets is

computed on the straight-line method over the term of the lease or the life of the related asset

whichever is shorter

If the Compan receives tenant allowances from the lessor for certain improvements made to the

leased property th se allowances are capitalized as leasehold improvements and long-term liability is

established The leasehold improvements and the long-term liability are amortized on straight-line

basis over the corresponding lease term The Company records rent expense on straight-line basis

over the initial term of lease The difference between the rent payment and the straight-line rent

expense is recorded as long-term liability

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company tests goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually in the

fourth quarter
of each fiscal year or more frequently if events and circumstances warrant The

Companys assessni ent of goodwill during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 indicated that the fair value

of each of the Conpanys reporting units was substantially in excess of the carrying values and

therefore goodwill was not impaired There have been no impairment losses recognized by the

Company for any periods presented

In evaluating the impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets such assets are

allocated to the cai rying value of each reporting unit Determining the fair value of reporting unit or

an indefinite-lived purchased intangible asset is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant

estimates and assumptions These estimates and assumptions include revenue growth rates and

operating margins used to calculate projected future cash flows risk-adjusted discount rates future

economic and maret conditions and determination of appropriate
market comparables We base our

fair value estimate on assumptions we believe to be reasonable but which are unpredictable and

inherently uncertaiii Actual future results may differ from those estimates

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses potential impairment to its long-lived assets when there is evidence that

events or changes circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be

recoverable An impairment loss is recorded when the carrying amount of the long-lived asset is not

recoverable and exceeds its fair value The carrying amount of long-lived asset is not recoverable if it

exceeds the sum 01 the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual

disposition of the asset Any required impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying

amount of long-I Lved asset exceeds fair value and is recorded as reduction in the carrying value of

the related asset and an expense to operating results There have been no impairment losses recognized

by the Company ftr any periods presented
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Fair Value Measurements

The carrying value of the Companys financial instruments approximates fair value due to the

relative short-term nature of these instruments The Companys financial instruments include cash cash

equivalents accounts payable accrued liabilities and amounts borrowed under the Companys revolving

credit facility

The Company uses the three-tier fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in

measuring fair value These tiers include Level defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in

active markets Level defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either

observable directly or indirectly through market corroboration for substantially the full term of the

financial instrument and Level defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data

exists therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions The Companys Level marketable

securities are valued using readily available pricing sources which utilize market observable inputs

including the current interest rate for similar types of instruments There were no transfers in or out of

Level during the
year ended December 31 2010

The following table summarizes the fair value information of marketable securities at

December 31 2010 in thousands

Level Level Level Total

Demand notes 5028 5028

Corporate notes 25328 25328

Municipal bonds 40231 40231
Bond fund 10000 10000

Corporate bonds 10024 10024

Certificate of deposit 20000 20000

Total $10000 $100611 $110611

Revenue and Deferred Revenue

The Companys revenue consists of tuition technology fees and other miscellaneous fees

Tuition revenue is deferred and recognized on straight-line basis over the applicable period of

instruction net of scholarships and expected refunds The Companys online students generally enroll in

program that encompasses series of five- to six-week courses which are taken consecutively over the

length of the program and the Companys campus-based students enroll in program that

encompasses series of nine-week or 16-week courses Online students are billed on course-by-course

basis when the student first attends class Campus-based students are billed at the beginning of each

term

If students attendance in class precedes the receipt of cash from the students source of

funding the Company establishes an account receivable and corresponding deferred revenue in the

amount of the tuition due for that class Cash received either directly from the student or from the

students source of funding reduces the balance of accounts receivable due from the student The

Companys universities bill enrolled online students for tuition on course by course basis as they

initiate attendance in each course Financial aid from sources such as the federal governments Title IV
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Sigitificant Accounting Policies Continued

programs pertains io the online students award year and is generally divided into two disbursement

periods As such eich disbursement period may contain funding for up to four courses Financial aid

disbursements are ypically received during the online students attendance in the first or second

course Since the rriajority of disbursements cover more courses than have been billed the amount

received in excess billings effectively represents prepayment from the online student for up to four

courses Cash received either directly from the student or from the students source of funding that is

in excess of amounrs billed is recorded as student deposit and applied to future classes and

recognized as revenue when earned The balance of student deposits as of December 31 2010 and

2009 was $131.9 million and $96.9 million respectively

The Company records provision for expected refunds and reduces revenue for the amount that is

expected to be subequently refunded Provisions for expected refunds have not been material to any

period presented student withdraws from program prior to specified date portion of such

students tuition is refunded

Technology fees are one-time start up fees charged to each new online student Technology fee

revenue is recogniz ratably over the average expected term of student Other miscellaneous fees

include fees for te Ibooks and other services such as commencements and are recognized upon

delivery of the goo1s or when the related service is performed

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for its income taxes using the liability method whereby deferred tax assets

and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the bases used for financial

reporting and income tax reporting purposes Deferred income taxes are provided based on the enacted

tax rates expected to be in effect at the time such temporary differences are expected to reverse

valuation allowanc is provided for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that the Company

will not realize tho tax assets through future operations

The Company evaluates and accounts for uncertain tax positions using two-step approach

Recognition step ne occurs when the Company concludes that tax position based solely on its

technical merits is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination Measurement step two

determines the amunt of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate

settlement with taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information Derecognition of

tax position that was previously recognized would occur when the Company subsequently determines

that tax position rio longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained

Stock-Based compensation

Stock-based cmpensation expense is measured at the grant date fair value of the award and is

expensed over the vesting period The Company estimates the fair value of stock options on the grant

date using the B1ak-Scholes option pricing model Determining the fair value of stock-based awards at

the grant date under this model requires judgment including estimating volatility employee stock

option exercise behaviors and forfeiture rates The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of

stock-based awards represent the Companys best estimates but these estimates involve inherent

uncertainties and tiTle application of management judgment
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

The amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized during period is based on the

portion of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest The Company estimates option forfeitures at

the time of grant and revises those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from

those estimates The Companys board of directors grants options with an exercise price that equals or

exceeds the closing price of the Companys common stock as reported by the NYSE on the date of

grant

Stock-based compensation expense for options is recorded in the consolidated statement of

income net of estimated forfeitures using the graded vesting method over the requisite service period

Stock-based compensation expense totaled $7.9 million $35.9 million and $1.8 million for the
years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Comprehensive Income

There are no comprehensive income items other than net income Comprehensive income equals

net income for all of the periods presented

Instructional Costs and Services

Instructional costs and services consist primarily of costs related to the administration and delivery

of the Companys educational programs This expense category includes compensation for faculty and

administrative personnel costs associated with online faculty curriculum and new program

development costs bad debt expense financial aid processing costs technology license costs and costs

associated with other support groups that provide services directly to the students Instructional costs

and services also include an allocation of facility and depreciation costs

Marketing and Promotional Costs

Marketing and promotional costs include compensation of personnel engaged in marketing and

recruitment as well as costs associated with purchasing leads and producing marketing materials Such

costs are generally affected by the cost of advertising media and leads the efficiency of its marketing

and recruiting efforts compensation for its enrollment personnel and expenditures on advertising

initiatives for new and existing academic programs Marketing and promotional costs also include an

allocation of facility and depreciation costs

Advertising costs subset of marketing and promotional costs consisting primarily of marketing

leads are expensed as incurred or the first time the advertising takes place Advertising costs were

$55.3 million $39.1 million and $26.9 million for the
years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses include compensation of employees engaged in corporate

management finance human resources information technology compliance and other corporate

functions General and administrative expenses also include professional services fees travel and

entertainment expenses and an allocation of facility and depreciation costs
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Continued

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common

stockholders by thc weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period Diluted

earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common stockholders by

the sum of weig bted average number of common and ii potentially dilutive securities outstanding

during the period if the effect is dilutive The numerator of diluted earnings per share is calculated by

starting with income allocated to common shares and adding back income attributable to shares of

redeemable convertible preferred stock to the extent such shares are dilutive Potential common shares

consist of incremental shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the stock options and

warrants and upon conversion of preferred stock

Segment Informatioi

The Company operates
in one reportable segment as single educational delivery operation using

core infrastructure that serves the curriculum and educational delivery needs of both its campus-

based and online students regardless of geography The Companys chief operating decision maker its

CEO and President manages the Companys operations as whole and no revenue expense or

operating income information is evaluated by the chief operating decision maker on any component
level

Recent Accounting Ionouncements

In July 2010 tIne FASB issued ASU 2010-20 which amends ASC Topic 310 Receivables by

requiring more rob ust and disaggregated disclosure about the credit quality of an entitys loans and its

allowance for loan losses These new disclosures will significantly expand the existing requirements and

are focused on providing transparency regarding an entitys exposure to credit losses This update is

effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending on or after December 15 2010 The

Company adopted ASU 2010-20 for the year ended December 31 2010 and the adoption did not have

material impact un its consolidated financial statements

Accounts Receivable Net

Accounts receivable net consists of the following in thousands

As of December 31

2010 2009

Accounts receivable 86505 59403

Less allowance for doubtful accounts 28090 16171

Accounts receivable net 58415 43232
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following in thousands

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid licenses

Prepaid Income tax

Prepaid insurance

Other current assets

Total prepaid and other current assets

Property and Equipment Net

Property and equipment net consist of the following in thousands

As of December 31

2010 2009

4730 $2723

1080 3588

3526
999 1646

2315 1624

$12650 $9581

Land

Buildings

Furniture office equipment and software

Leasehold improvements

Vehicles
________ ________

Total depreciable property and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Property and equipment net

Depreciation and amortization expense associated with property and equipment including assets

under capital lease totaled $8.3 million $5.7 million and $2.5 million for the
years ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following in thousands

Accrued salaries and wages

Accrued bonus

Accrued vacation

Accrued expenses

Accrued income taxes payable

Total accrued liabilities

As of December 31

2010 2009

$10457 7953

5069 4466

4962 2549

14407 8239

1372

$34895 $24579

As of December 31

2010 2009

7091 2864

13886 8610

47600 34510

16094 11615

53 66

84724 57665

18182 10303

66542 47362
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Bridgepoint Education Inc

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

Notes Payable and Long-Term Debt

On January 2010 the Company entered into $50 million revolving line of credit with

Comerica Bank Comerica pursuant to Credit Agreement Revolving Credit Note and Security

Agreement collectively the Loan Documents Under the Loan Documents Comerica has agreed to

make loans to the Company and issue letters of credit on the Companys behalf subject to the terms

and conditions of the Loan Documents Amounts subject to letters of credit issued under the Loan

Documents are tre ated as limitations on available borrowings under the line of credit Interest is paid

monthly under the line of credit and principal is paid on the maturity date of the line of credit The

line of credit has two-year term and matures on January 29 2012 Interest accrues on amounts

outstanding under the line of credit at the Companys option at either Comericas prime reference

rate 0.00% or one month two month or three month LIBOR 2.25% As security for the

performance of th Companys obligations under the Loan Documents the Company granted Comerica

first priority security interest in substantially all of the Companys assets including its real property

The Loan Doruments contain financial covenants requiring the Companys educational institutions

to maintain Title IV eligibility see Note 15 Regulatory as well as the Companys maintenance of

specified adjusted quick ratios minimum profitability minimum cash balances and U.S Department of

Education Department financial responsibility composite scores The Loan Documents contain

other customary atfirmative and negative covenants including cash controls financial reporting

covenants and prohibitions on acquisitions dividends stock redemptions and other cash expenditures

over specified amount without Comericas reasonable consent representations and warranties and

events of default the occurrence of material adverse effect as defined in the Loan

Documents The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants in the Loan Documents as

of December 31 2010 and 2009

As of Decemler 31 2010 the Company used the availability under the line of credit to issue

letters of credit aggregating $2.4 million Amounts subject to letters of credit issued under the line of

credit decreased by $4.8 million from December 31 2009 In August 2010 the Department notified the

Company that Ashford University was released from the requirement to post letter of credit in the

amount of $5.0 million The Company had no borrowings outstanding under the line of credit as of

December 31 2010

As part
of its normal business operations the Company is required to provide surety bonds in

certain states in which the Company does business In May 2009 the Company entered into surety

bond facility with an insurance company to provide such bonds when applicable As of

December 31 2010 the total available surety bond facility was $5.0 million and the Company had

issued surety bonds totaling $1.3 million

Lease Obligatiotis

Operating leases

The Compan leases certain office facilities and office equipment under non-cancelable lease

arrangements that expire at various dates through 2020 The office leases contain certain renewal

options Rent expnse under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements is accounted for on

straight-line basis and totaled $27.2 million $20.6 million and $6.1 million for the
years

ended

December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively
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The following table summarizes the future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable

operating lease arrangements in effect at December 31 2010 in thousands

Year Ending December 31

2011 24989

2012 25313
2013 33879
2014 35243

2015 35596

Thereafter 174633

Total minimum payments $329653

Subsequent to year end in February 2011 we entered into lease for office space in building in

Denver Colorado We intend to use the new space primarily for administrative offices meeting rooms

and online support services The initial term of the lease is 10 years and is estimated to commence in

August 2011 The monthly base rent over the initial term of the lease increases from $0.4 million

during the first year to $0.5 million during the tenth year The total amount of base rent payments over

the initial term of the lease is $43.4 million This additional lease is not included in the table above

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period In certain

prior periods the Company calculated basic earnings per common share using the two-class method

Under the two-class method net income is allocated between common shares and other participating

securities based on their participating rights

Diluted earnings per common share is calculated by dividing net income available to common
stockholders by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the

period and ii potentially dilutive securities outstanding during the period if the effect is dilutive

Potentially dilutive securities may include options warrants and shares of redeemable convertible

preferred stock The numerator of diluted earnings per common share is calculated by starting with

income allocated to common shares and adding back income attributable to shares of redeemable

convertible preferred stock to the extent such an adjustment would be dilutive Potentially dilutive

common shares for the year ended December 31 2010 consisted of incremental shares of common
stock issuable upon the exercise of options and warrants Potentially dilutive common shares for the

years
ended December 31 2009 and 2008 consisted of incremental shares of common stock issuable

upon the exercise of options and warrants and ii upon the conversion of shares of redeemable

convertible preferred stock through the closing of the Companys initial public offering
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The following table sets forth the computation of the basic and diluted earnings per common share

for the periods indicated in thousands except per share data

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Numerat

Net income $127580 $47105 $26431

Effect accretion of preferred dividends 645 2006

Net income available to common stockholders $127580 $46460 $24425

Denominttor

Weightd average common shares outstanding 53724 39349 3335

Effect dilutive options 5581 5119 3283

Effect dilutive warrants 326 713 1139

Diluted weighted average common shares

outstanding 59631 45181 7757

Earnings per common share

Basic 2.37 0.85 0.38

Dilute 2.14 0.74 0.16

The computal ion of dilutive common shares outstanding excludes the following securities

Redeemable convertible preferred stock

For the periods indicated the computation of dilutive common shares outstanding excludes the

common shares that were issuable upon the optional conversion of the redeemable convertible

preferred stock including any common shares that were issuable at the election of the holder in

payment of the acreted value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock because the effect of

applying the if-converted method would be anti-dilutive

Year Ended December 31

in thousan cls 2010 2009 2008

Redeemable convertible preferred stock 15373 60446

Options and warrants

For the periols indicated the computation of dilutive common shares outstanding excludes certain

stock options and warrants to purchase shares of common stock for the periods indicated because their

effect was anti-dili tive

Year Ended

December 31

in thousands 2010 2009 2008

Options 548 11

Warrants 39
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The Company calculated basic earnings per common share using the two-class method to reflect

the participation rights of each class and series of stock Basic net income is computed for common

stock outstanding during the period by dividing net income allocated to the participation rights of each

class by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period

The following presents the net income allocated to each class of capital stock in the calculation of

basic earnings per common share for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 in

thousands

Common stock

Redeemable convertible preferred stock

Total

Common stock

Redeemable convertible preferred stock

Total

Common stock

Redeemable convertible preferred stock

Total

December 31 2010

Weighted Avg Income

Shares Allocation

53724 $127580

$127580

December 31 2009

Weighted Avg Income

Shares Allocation

39349 $33408

15373 13052

$46460

December 31 2008

Weighted Avg Income

Shares Allocation

3335 $1276

60446 23149

$24425

The numerator of diluted earnings per common share equals the numerator of basic earnings per

common share plus an adjustment for income attributable to the participation rights of redeemable

convertible preferred stock to the extent such an adjustment would be dilutive

For the periods presented the numerator for diluted earnings per share was not adjusted from the

basic earnings per share calculation for the impact of redeemable convertible preferred stock because

all potential common shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock were anti-dilutive

The denominator of diluted earnings per common share includes the incremental potential

common shares issuable upon the following events to the extent the effect was dilutive

Exercise of stock options and warrants

ii Through the closing of the Companys initial public offering the optional conversion of all

outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock with each share of redeemable

convertible preferred stock being converted into 2.265380093 shares of common stock and
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iii Through closing of the Companys initial public offering the issuance of shares of

common stock at fair value in payment of the accreted value of the redeemable convertible

preferred stock to the holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock

10 Redeemable ünvertible Preferred Stock

The following discussion reflects the terms of the redeemable convertible preferred stock set forth

in the Companys Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation which was filed with the

Delaware Secretar of State on July 29 2005 All shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock

Series Convertible Preferred Stock were optionally converted into common stock immediately prior

to the closing of the Companys initial public offering on April 20 2009 on which date the Company
filed with the Delaware Secretary of State its Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

which eliminated the redeemable convertible preferred stock among other things

The redeemable convertible preferred stock ranked senior to all common stock The holders of

redeemable convertible preferred stock were not entitled to any dividends except if the Company

declared set aside or paid any dividend on the common stock other than dividends payable solely in

additional shares cf common stock in which case holders of the redeemable convertible preferred

stock could participate in any such dividends on per share as-converted basis Such dividends were

payable when and as declared by the Companys board of directors No preferred stock dividends were

declared during th years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 See Preferred Dividends below

for payments upor liquidation dissolution or winding up of the Company and payments upon optional

conversion

Optional Conversio Feature

Each issued and outstanding share of redeemable convertible preferred stock was entitled to

number of votes eiual to the number of shares of common stock into which it convertible with respect

to matters presentd to the stockholders of the Company for their action or consideration

Each share of redeemable convertible preferred stock was convertible at the option of the holder

at any time into 2265380093 shares of common stock As of December 31 2010 and 2009 there were

no outstanding shires of redeemable convertible preferred stock

Upon an optional conversion the holder was entitled to receive shares of common stock as

discussed above arid also the payments discussed below under Preferred DividendsPayments upon

optional conversion The right of the holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock to elect to

receive both share of common stock and the accreted value under the optional conversion feature

resulted in fair value in excess of the invested amount which resulted in beneficial conversion feature

to such holders This beneficial conversion feature was recorded as deemed dividend on the date of

the issuance of the redeemable convertible preferred stock because there was no stated redemption

date maturity datc and the optional conversion feature was immediately exercisable This beneficial

conversion feature was measured as the excess of the fair value of the common shares into which the

shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock were convertible over the accounting conversion price

The Company has not issued any new shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock since 2005

Prior to 2006 the Company recorded $14.1 million of deemed dividends related to the beneficial

conversion feature associated with redeemable convertible preferred stock
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Preferred Dividends

Payments upon liquidation dissolution or winding up of the Company

Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation dissolution or winding up of the Company the

holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock were entitled to receive an amount equal to the sum

of the accreted value of the shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock plus ii any

dividends declared but unpaid on the shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock The term

accreted value was defined as an amount equal to the sum of the stated value for share of

redeemable convertible preferred stock plus ii 8% per year of the stated value compounding annually

and commencing on the date of issuance of such share The term stated value was defined as $1.00

per share subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of any stock dividend stock split stock

distribution or combination with respect to the redeemable convertible preferred stock The amount by

which the accreted value exceeded the stated value for any share of redeemable convertible preferred

stock was referred to as the accreted dividend for such share At the option of the holder the

accreted value could have been paid in cash or shares of common stock valued at current fair market

value

With respect to the payment of amounts described in the preceding paragraph each of the

following events was deemed to be liquidation dissolution or winding up of the Company the

consolidation with or into another corporation in which the stockholders of record of the Company
owned less than 50% of the voting securities of the surviving corporation ii the sale of substantially

all the assets of the Company iii the sale of securities of the Company representing more than 50%

of the voting securities other than qualified public offering and iv sale to Warburg Pincus or

their successors or assigns

Payments upon optional conversion

Upon an optional conversion of shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock the holder of

such shares was entitled to receive in addition to the common stock acquirable upon conversion of

such shares an amount equal to the accreted value of such shares plus ii any dividends declared

but unpaid on such shares At the option of the holder the accreted value could have been paid in

cash or shares of common stock valued at current fair market value

On April 20 2009 the Company used the proceeds from its initial public offering to pay the

accreted value carrying value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock in connection with the

optional conversion of all shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock into common stock and the

election by all holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock to receive the payment of the accreted

value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock in cash in each case as of the closing of the

offering The accreted value at the time of payment was $27.7 million of which $7.9 million was

accreted dividends

11 Stock-Based Compensation

The Company grants stock options from its 2009 Stock Incentive Plan 2009 Plan The

compensation committee of the Companys board of directors determines eligibility vesting schedules

and exercise prices for awards granted under the 2009 Plan Options granted under the 2009 plan

typically have maximum contractual term of 10 years subject to continuing service to the Company
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Options are generally granted with four
year vesting requirement under which the option holder

must remain employed with the Company at each vesting period All options granted in 2010 and 2009

were pursuant to the 2009 Plan Under the 2009 Plan the number of authorized shares is subject to

automatic increase without the need for further approval by the Companys board of directors and

stockholders each January through and including January 2019

Before the adoption of the 2009 Plan the Company awarded options pursuant to the Companys

Amended and Restated 2005 Stock Incentive Plan 2005 Plan Effective upon the closing of the

Companys initial public offering the 2005 Plan was terminated and no further options may be issued

under that plan provided that all options then outstanding under the 2005 Plan will continue to remain

outstanding purswint to the terms of the 2005 Plan and applicable award agreements

The following table presents summary of the stock option activity in 2009 and 2010 in

thousands except
for exercise prices and contractual terms

Weighted-

Average

Weighted- Remaining

Average Contractual

Options Exercise Term Aggregate

Outstanding Price in years Intrinsic Value

Balance at December 31 2008 8828 0.37

Granted 2814 $10.64

Exercised 948 0.36

Forfeitures 121 4.35

Balance at December 31 2009 10573 3.06 6.84 $126590

Granted 1051 $19.25

Exercised 1181 0.88

Forfeitures 248 $12.20

Balance at December 31 2010 10195 4.76 5.47 $147545

Vested and expected to vest at December 31 2010 10093 4.66 5.44 $146961

Exercisable at December 31 2010 7572 $1.93 4.39 $129274

The Company recorded $7.9 million $35.9 million and $1.8 million of compensation expense

related to stock options and any modifications of stock options for the years ended December 31 2010

2009 and 2008 respectively The related income tax benefit was $3.1 million $14.2 million and

$0.7 million for the
years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively

As of December 31 2010 there was $9.6 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to

time vested options As of December 31 2010 there was $33000 of unrecognized compensation costs

related to performance vested options

The Company records stock-based compensation expense over the vesting term using the graded

vesting method At December 31 2010 the unrecognized compensation costs of stock-based awards are

expected to be reognized over weighted average period of 1.4 years
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The Company has reserved 13.8 million shares of common stock for issuance upon the exercise of

stock options including outstanding stock options under the Companys equity incentive plans as of

December 31 2010 Shares issued from option exercises are drawn from the authorized but unissued

shares of common stock During the year ended December 31 2010 1.2 million stock options were

exercised with an intrinsic value of $18.2 million The actual tax benefit realized from these exercises

was $7.1 million During the year ended December 31 2009 0.9 million stock options were exercised

with an intrinsic value of $14.7 million During the year ended December 31 2008 no stock options

were exercised During the year ended December 31 2010 approximately 4000 stock options expired

The fair value of each option award granted during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model The Companys

determination of the fair value of share-based awards is affected by the Companys common stock price

as well as assumptions regarding number of complex and subjective variables Below is summary of

the assumptions used for the options granted in the years indicated

2010 2009 2008

Weighted average exercise price per share $19.25 $10.64

Risk-free interest rate 2.3% 1.9%

Expected dividend yield

Expected volatility
45.7% 48.0%

Expected life in years 6.16 6.25

Forfeiture rate 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Weighted average grant date fair value per share 8.84 5.14

The risk-free interest rate is based on the currently available rate on U.S Treasury zero-coupon

issue with remaining term equal to the expected term of the option converted into continuously

compounded rate Based on the lack of sufficient historical data regarding the volatility of the

Companys stock price expected volatility is based on the volatility of publicly-traded securities of

peer group of comparable companies in the Companys industry In evaluating comparability the

Company considered factors such as industry stage of life cycle and size Based on the lack of

historical data the expected life of the Companys options is calculated using the simplified method

which is the mid-point between the vesting term of the options and the contractual term The dividend

yield reflects the fact that the Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on its common

stock and does not currently anticipate paying cash dividends in the future

Acceleration of Exit Options

On March 28 2009 the Companys board of directors amended the exit vested options exit

options for certain members of the Companys management team 10 individuals to add an

additional vesting condition so that the number of shares underlying the options that would not have

vested upon the closing of the Companys initial public offering under the original terms of the

options would vest in full upon the closing of such offering This additional vesting condition

constituted modification Accordingly to the extent the exit option vested under the original vesting

conditions the original grant date fair value was recorded on the vesting date and to the extent each

exit option vested under the additional vesting condition the modification date fair value was recorded

on the vesting date
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The compensition expense that was recorded for the exit options during the second quarter of

2009 was $30.4 million in the aggregate $0.1 million related to the portion of the exit options vesting

under the original vesting conditions and $30.3 million related to the portion of the exit options vesting

under the additional vesting condition which was based upon the sale by Warburg Pincus of 20.8% of

its ownership of the Companys common stock as-converted in the Companys initial public offering

The incremental compensation cost resulting from the modification was $30.0 million The

compensation expense was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model including fair

value of common stock of $14.91 an exercise price of either $0.07 or $0.13 based on the respective exit

options an estimated life of three years zero dividend yield volatility of 65% and risk free interest

rate of 1.28% This compensation expense was recorded in accordance with where the related

optionees regular compensation is recorded

12 Warrants

The Company has issued warrants to purchase common stock to various employees consultants

licensors and lenders Each warrant represents the right to purchase one share of common stock No
warrants were issued during the year ended December 31 2010 or 2009

During the year ended December 31 2010 0.3 million warrants to purchase shares of common
stock were exercised As of December 31 2010 and 2009 all outstanding warrants were exercisable

The following table summarizes information with respect to all warrants outstanding as of

December 31 201 and 2009 in thousands except exercise prices

December 31 December 31 Expiration

Exercise Price 2010 2009 Date

$1.125 51 75 2013

$2.250 87 140 2013

$2.835 172 172 2013

$2.925 19 19 2013

$4.500 167 2013

$9.000 39 2013

Total 335 612

13 Share Repurchase Program

On July 30 2010 the Companys board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to

$60.0 million of the Companys outstanding shares of common stock over the following 12 months
Under the share repurchase program which was announced on August 2010 the Company may
purchase shares from time to time in the open market through block trades or otherwise

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company repurchased 3.0 million shares of

common stock at weighted average purchase price of $14.05 per share for total cost of

$42.2 million Approximately $17.8 million remains authorized and available under the repurchase

program The Company may suspend the repurchase program at any time
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The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for taxes Under this method

deferred income tax assets and liabilities result from temporary differences between the tax basis of

assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements that will result in tax and

deductions in future years

The components of income tax expense are as follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Current

Federal $76649 38771 9837

State 18916 8782 2892

95565 47553 12729

Deferred

Federal 5485 9532 4292
State 119 2886 1366

5366 12418 5658

Total $90199 35135 7071

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following in thousands

As of December 31

2010 2009

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss 788 811

Fixed assets 139 61

Bad debt 889 769

Vacation accrual 1364 1019

Stock-based compensation 15859 14099

Deferred rent 4033 2727

State tax 5671 2425

Tax credits

Other 964 345

Total deferred tax assets 29707 22263

Valuation allowance

Net deferred tax assets 29707 22263

Deferred tax liabilities

Fixed assets and intangibles 6823 4745

Total net deferred tax assets $22884 $17518
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Deferred taxe are reflected in the balance sheet as follows in thousands

As of December 31

2010 2009

Current deferred tax assets 7039 4027

Current deferred tax liabilities

Noncurrent deferred tax assets 15845 13491

Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities

Total $22884 $17518

The Company periodically assesses the likelihood that it will be able to recover its deferred tax

assets The Company considers all available evidence both positive and negative including historical

levels of income Kpectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income and ongoing

prudent and feasible profits Based on our history of earnings we have concluded that it is more likely

than not that we will fully utilize our deferred tax assets Accordingly we have not provided any

valuation allowanca against our deferred tax assets

At December 31 2010 the Company had federal net operating loss carry forwards of $0.9 million

and state net operating loss carry forwards of $8.4 million which are available to offset future taxable

income The federal net operating loss carry forwards will begin to expire in 2022 The state net

operating loss carri forwards will begin to expire in 2019 Pursuant to Internal Code Section 382 use of

the net operating loss carryforwards may be limited if cumulative change in ownership of more than

50% occurs within three-year period The Company has performed Section 382 analysis through

December 31 201 and has determined that there is no material effect on the net operating loss

carryforwards

reconciliati of the income tax expense computed using the U.S federal statutory tax rate of

35% and the Companys provision for income taxes follows in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Computel expected federal tax expense $76223 $28784 $11725

State taxes net of federal benefit 10238 3117 1441

Permanent differences 335 439 121

Uncertain tax positions 3401 2660 362

Other 135 150

Valuation allowance 6728

Income tx expense $90199 $35135 7071

The Company evaluates and accounts for uncertain tax positions using two-step approach

Recognition step one occurs when the Company concludes that tax position based solely on its

technical merits is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination Measurement step two
determines the amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate

settlement with th taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information Derecognition

110



Bridgepoint Education Inc

Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements Continued

14 Income Taxes Continued

of tax position that was previously recognized would occur when the Company subsequently

determines that tax position no longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained

The accrual for uncertain tax positions can result in difference between the estimated benefit

recorded in the Companys financial statements and the benefit taken or expected to be taken in the

Companys income tax returns This difference is generally referred to as an unrecognized tax

benefit

The Company has analyzed filing positions
in all of the federal and state jurisdictions where it is

required to file income tax returns as well as all open tax years in these jurisdictions

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in

thousands

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2008 2743

Gross increasestax positions in prior period

Gross decreasestax positions
in prior period 2212

Gross increasescurrent period tax positions
3242

Settlements

Lapse of statute of limitations

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2009 3773

Gross increasestax positions in prior period
109

Gross decreasestax positions in prior period

Gross increasescurrent period tax positions
4175

Settlements

Lapse of statute of limitations

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2010 8057

Included in the amount of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 is

$5.8 million $3.0 million and $0.3 million respectively of tax benefits that if recognized would affect

the Companys effective tax rate Also included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at

December 31 2010 is $2.3 million of tax benefits that if recognized would result in adjustments to

other tax accounts primarily
deferred tax assets

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax

expense As of December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company had approximately $1.5 million

$0.2 million and $0.2 million respectively of accrued interest before any tax benefit related to

uncertain tax positions

The tax years
2002-2010 are open to examination by major taxing jurisdictions to which the

Company is subject The Company does not expect significant increases or decreases in unrecognized

tax benefits for uncertain positions
taken in previous years

within the next twelve months

The Companys continuing practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax

matters in income tax expense
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The Internal Revenue Service commenced an audit of the Companys 2008 federal income tax

return in November 2010 The Company expects the audit to close during the second quarter of 2011
and does not expct any significant adjustments resulting from the close of the audit

15 Regulatory

The Compani is subject to extensive regulation by federal and state governmental agencies and

accrediting bodies In particular the Higher Education Act of 1965 Higher Education Act and the

regulations promulgated thereunder by the Department subject the Company to significant regulatory

scrutiny on the basis of numerous standards that schools must satisf in order to participate in the

various federal student financial assistance programs under Title IV of the Higher Education Act

To participate in Title IV programs an institution must be authorized to offer its programs of

instruction by the relevant agency of the state in which it is physically located accredited by an

accrediting agency recognized by the Department and certified as eligible by the Department The
Department will certify an institution to participate in Title IV programs only after the institution has

demonstrated compliance with the Higher Education Act and the Departments extensive regulations

regarding instituti nal eligibility An institution must also demonstrate its compliance to the

Department on an ongoing basis As of December 31 2010 management believes the Company is in

compliance with applicable Department regulations in all material respects

The Higher Education Act requires accrediting agencies to review many aspects of an institutions

operations in order to ensure that the education offered is of sufficiently high quality to achieve

satisfactory outcomes and that the institution is complying with
accrediting standards Failure to

demonstrate compliance with accrediting standards may result in the imposition of probation the

requirements to provide periodic reports the loss of accreditation or other penalties if deficiencies are
not remediated

Because the Company operates in highly regulated industry it like other industry participants

may be subject fro tn time to time to audits investigations claims of noncompliance or lawsuits by
governmental agencies or third parties which allege statutory violations regulatory infractions or

common law causes of action

cohort Default Ratt

For each federal fiscal year the Department calculates rate of student defaults for each
educational institulion which is known as cohort default rate An institution may lose its eligibility

to participate in the Direct Loan FFEL and Pell programs if for each of the three most recent federal
fiscal years for which information is available 25% or more of its students who became subject to

repayment obligation in that federal fiscal year defaulted on such obligation by the end of the following
federal fiscal year In addition an institution may lose its eligibility to participate in the Direct Loan
and FFEL programs if its cohort default rate exceeds 40% in the most recent federal fiscal year for

which default rates have been calculated by the Department Ashford Universitys cohort default rates
for the 2008 2007 and 2006 federal fiscal years were 13.3% 13.3% and 4.1% respectively The cohort
default rates for the University of the Rockies for the 2008 2007 and 2006 federal fiscal years were
2.5% 0.0% and 0.U% respectively
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Financial Responsibility

The Department calculates an institutions composite score for financial responsibility based on its

equity ratio which measures the institutions capital resources ability to borrow and financial

viability ii primary reserve ratio which measures the institutions ability to support current operations

from expendable resources and iii net income ratio which measures the institutions ability to

operate at profit An institution that does not meet the Departments minimum composite score may

demonstrate its financial responsibility by posting letter of credit in favor of the Department and

possibly accepting other conditions on its participation in the Title IV programs

In the third quarter of 2010 consistent with the Companys internal calculations the Department

notified the Company that Ashford University received composite score of 2.9 for the fiscal year

ended December 31 2009 and that the University of the Rockies received composite score of 1.8 for

the fiscal year
ended December 31 2009 in each case satisfying the composite score requirement of

the Departments financial responsibility test which institutions must satisfy in order to participate in

Title IV programs

The 90/10 Rule

Pursuant to provision of the Higher Education Act as reauthorized in August 2008 for-profit

institution loses its eligibility to participate in Title IV programs if the institution derives more than

90% of its revenue calculated on cash basis in accordance with applicable statutory provisions and

Department regulations from Title IV funds for two consecutive fiscal years commencing with the

institutions first fiscal year
that ends after the new laws effective date of August 14 2008 This rule is

commonly referred to as the 90/10 rule Any institution that violates the 90/10 rule becomes ineligible

to participate in Title IV programs for at least two fiscal years In addition an institution whose rate

exceeds 90% for any single year
will he placed on provisional certification and may be subject to other

enforcement measures

In May 2008 the Ensuring Continued Access to Student Loans Act ECASLA increased the

annual loan limits on federal unsubsidized student loans by $2000 for the majority of the Companys

students enrolled in associates and bachelors degree programs and also increased the aggregate loan

limits over the course of students education on total federal student loans for certain students This

increase in student loan limits together with increases in Pell grants has increased the amount of

Title IV program funds used by students to satisfy tuition fees and other costs which has increased the

proportion of the Companys revenue deemed to be from Title IV programs The Higher Education

Opportunity Act provides temporary relief from the impact of these loan limit increases by allowing any

amounts received between July 2008 and July 2011 that are attributable to the increased annual

loan limits to be excluded from the 90/10 rule calculation The implementing regulations for this

temporary relief and other aspects
of the 90/10 rule were published in final form on October 29 2009

The effective date of the new regulations was July 2010 Ashford University has not elected to

exclude amounts attributable to the increased annual loan limits from its 90/10 calculation
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For the
years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 Ashford University derived 85.0% 85.5%

and 86.8% respeclively and the University of the Rockies derived 85.9% 84.6% and 80.8%
respectively of their respective revenue calculated on cash basis in accordance with applicable

statutory provisions and Department regulations from Title IV funds

Return of Title IV lunds

An institution
participating in Title IV programs must correctly calculate the amount of unearned

Title IV program funds that have been disbursed to students who withdraw from their educational

programs before completion and must return those unearned funds in timely manner generally
within 45 days of tie date the school determines that the student has withdrawn Under Department

regulations failure to make timely returns of Title IV program funds for 5% or more of students

sampled on the institutions annual compliance audit in either of its two most recently completed fiscal

years can result in the institution having to post letter of credit in an amount equal to 25% of its

required Title IV returns during its most recently completed fiscal year If unearned funds are not

properly calculated and returned in timely manner an institution is also subject to monetary liabilities

or an action to impose fine or to limit suspend or terminate its participation in Title IV programs
For the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 the Companys institutions did not exceed the 5%
threshold for late refunds sampled

16 Related Party llansactions

Director Agreement

Ryan Craig director of the Company entered into an agreement with Warburg Pincus in August
2004 to serve on the Companys board of directors and to serve as consultant in 2004 to the

Company on behalf of Warburg Pincus Under this agreement Mr Craig was to receive portion of

the proceeds from Warburg Pincus upon liquidity event in an amount to be determined based on

proceeds to Warburg Pincus from their holdings of the Companys common and preferred stock This

agreement was superseded by new arrangement in December 2008 under which Mr Craig received

112076 shares of tIe Companys common stock from Warburg Pincus in January 2009 Under the new
arrangement Mr Craig will receive no further cash payment upon liquidity event Because the

consideration to be received by Mr Craig is based on the fair value of the Companys stock and was

earned by providing services to the Company the Company has recognized the transaction as stock-

based compensation expense and capital contribution from Warburg Pincus The new arrangement in

December 2008 was accounted for as an improbable-to-probable modification of vesting conditions
The incremental stock-based compensation expense resulting from the modification based on the fair

value of the Comptnys common stock at December 31 2008 was $1.6 million As the award was for

past services the stock-based compensation expense was recorded at the time of the modification in

December 2008

November 2003 Loao from Warburg Pincus to the Companys CEO and President

In November 003 Warburg Pincus loaned $75000 to Andrew Clark the Companys CEO and

President to financ Mr Clarks purchase of 75000 shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock

from the Company In connection with such loan Mr Clark entered into Secured Recourse

Promissory Note and Pledge Agreement with Warburg Pincus which provided that the principal amount
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due under the note would accrue simple interest at rate of 8% per year until November 26 2005 the

maturity date after which time interest would accrue at penalty rate of 16% per year compounded

monthly The loan was secured by 75000 shares of Series Convertible Preferred Stock held by

Mr Clark Mr Clark repaid the loan in full on March 10 2009 at which time the amount due under

the note was $146740 including accrued interest of $71740

17 Retirement Plans

The Company maintains an employee savings plan that qualifies as deferred salary arrangement

under Section 401k of the Internal Revenue Code Under the savings plan participating employees

may contribute portion of their pre-tax earnings up to the Internal Revenue Service annual

contribution limit Additionally the Company may elect to make matching contributions into the

savings plan at its sole discretion The Companys total expense related to the 401k plan was

$1.2 million $0.4 million and $23000 for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

respectively

18 Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time the Company is party to various lawsuits claims and other legal proceedings

that arise in the ordinary course of business As of December 31 2010 the Company was not party

as plaintiff or defendant to any legal proceedings which individually or in the aggregate would be

expected to have material adverse effect on the Companys business financial condition results of

operations or cash flows When the Company becomes aware of claim or potential claim it assesses

the likelihood of any loss or exposure If it is probable that loss will result and the amount of the loss

can be reasonably estimated the Company records liability for the loss If the loss is not probable or

the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated the Company discloses the nature of the

specific claim if the likelihood of potential loss is reasonably possible and the amount involved is

material

Compliance Audit by the Departments Office of the Inspector General OIG
On January 21 2011 Ashford University received final audit report from the OIG regarding the

compliance audit commenced in May 2008 and covering the period July 2006 through June 30 2007

The audit covered Ashford Universitys administration of Title IV program funds including compliance

with regulations governing institutional and student eligibility awards and disbursements of Title IV

program funds verification of awards and returns of unearned funds during that period and its

compensation of financial aid and recruiting personnel during the period May 10 2005 through

June 30 2009 See Note 22 Subsequent EventsReceipt of Final Audit Report from the OIG for

additional information

Rosendahi Bridgepoint Education Inc et at

In January 2011 the Company received copy of complaint in purported class action lawsuit

naming the Company Ashford University and University of the Rockies as defendants The complaint

was filed in the U.S District Court for the Southern District of California on January 11 2011 and is

captioned Scott Rosendahl and Veronica Clark Bridgepoint Education Inc Ashford University and

University of the Rockies The complaint generally alleges that the Company and the other defendants
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engaged in improper fraudulent and illegal behavior in their efforts to recruit and retain students The

Company believes the lawsuit is without merit and intends to vigorously defend against it

Iowa Attorney General Civil Investigation of Ashford University

In February 2q11 Ashford University received from the Attorney General Attorney General of

the State of Iowa Civil Investigative Demand and Notice of Intent to Proceed CID relating to the

Attorney Generals investigation of whether certain of the universitys business practices comply with

Iowa consumer laws The CID contains no specific allegations of wrongdoing Pursuant to the CID the

Attorney General has requested documents and detailed information for the time period January

2008 to present Ashford University is evaluating the CID and intends to comply with the Attorney

Generals request

Stevens Bridgepoit Education Inc

In February 211 the Company received copy of complaint in purported class action lawsuit

naming the Comptny Ashford University LLC and certain employees as defendants The complaint

was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California in San Diego on February 17 2011 and is

captioned Stevens Bridgepoint Education Inc The complaint generally alleges that the plaintiffs and

similarly situated employees were improperly denied certain wage and hour protections under

California law The Company believes the lawsuit is without merit and intends to vigorously defend

against it

19 Stockholder Dispute

In February 2U09 certain holders of common stock and warrants to purchase common stock

asserted various claims against the Company its directors and officers and Warburg Pincus regarding

amendments to the Companys certificate of incorporation made in connection with financings in 2005

and certain stock options granted by the Company to its employees The claimants represented 90% of

the holders of common stock and 59% of the shares of common stock subject to warrants outstanding
in each case as of July 27 2005 In March 2009 the Company reached settlement with the claimants

regarding these claims and recorded total expense of $11.1 million related to the settlement during

the three months ended March 31 2009 of which $10.6 million was non-cash expense After settling

with the claimants the Company notified the other holders of common stock and other holders of

warrants to purchase shares of common stock in each case as of July 27 2005 regarding these claims

the settlement terms and their ability to participate in the settlement In April 2009 the Company
reached settlement with the holders of 100% of the common stock and 100% of the shares subject to

warrants outstanding in each case as of July 27 2005 at which time the Company ceased to be

potential obligor related to the claims asserted by these security holders The settlement resulted in the

issuance of an aggregate of 710097 shares of common stock with total value of $10.6 million and

cash payments totaling $433000 which were paid in April 2009

20 Concentration of Risk

Concentration of Revenue

In 2010 Ashfcrd University derived 85.0% and the University of the Rockies derived 85.9% of

their respective revenues in each case calculated on cash basis in accordance with applicable
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Department regulations from Title IV programs See Note 14 RegulatoryThe 90/10 Rule

Title IV programs are subject to political
and budgetary considerations and are subject to extensive and

complex regulations The Companys administration of these programs is periodically reviewed by

various regulatory agencies Any regulatory violation could be the basis for the initiation of potentially

adverse actions including suspension limitation or termination proceeding which could have

material adverse effect on the Companys enrollments revenues and results of operations

Students obtain access to federal student financial aid through Department prescribed

application and eligibility certification process Student financial aid funds are generally
made available

to students at prescribed intervals throughout their predetermined expected length of study Students

typically apply the funds received from the federal financial aid programs first to pay their tuition and

fees Any remaining funds are distributed directly to the student

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents accounts in financial institutions Accounts

at these institutions are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC up to $250000

The Company performs ongoing evaluations of these institutions to limit its concentrations risk

exposure

Concentration of Sources of Supply

The Company is dependent on third party provider for its online platform which includes

learning management system which stores manages and delivers course content enables assignment

uploading provides
interactive communication between students and faculty and supplies online

assessment tools The partial or complete loss of this source may have material adverse effect on the

Companys enrollments revenues and results of operations

21 Initial Public Offering

On April 20 2009 the Company closed its initial public offering of common stock in which

15.5 million shares of common stock were sold to the public at an offering price of $10.50 per share

The offering included 3.5 million shares sold by the Company and 12.0 million shares sold by selling

stockholders The net proceeds to the Company from the offering were $28.1 million after deducting

underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses The Company used its proceeds from

the offering primarily to pay the accreted value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock

$27.7 million upon the optional conversion of all outstanding shares of redeemable convertible

preferred stock into 44.7 million shares of common stock at the closing of the offering

22 Subsequent Events

Receipt of Final Audit Report from the OIG

On January 21 2011 Ashford University received final audit report
from the OIG regarding the

compliance audit commenced in May 2008 and covering the period July 2006 through June 30 2007

The audit covered Ashford Universitys administration of Title IV program funds including compliance

with regulations governing institutional and student eligibility
awards and disbursements of Title IV

program funds verification of awards and returns of unearned funds during that period and its
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compensation of financial aid and recruiting personnel during the period May 10 2005 through
June 30 2009

The final audil report contained audit findings in each case for the period July 2006 through
June 30 2007 award year 2006-2007 which is summarized as follows

Finding 1The university designed compensation plan for enrollment advisors that provided
incentive payments based on success in securing enrollments and did not establish that its plan

and practice qualified for the regulatory safe harbors

Finding 2The university did not always perform return of Title IV aid calculations properly

resulting in he improper retention of total of $29036 of Title IV program funds for 38

students in the OIGs sample sets of 85 students

Finding 3The university did not in all instances return Title IV program funds timely for

Title IV students who withdrew or went on leave of absence from school

Finding 4The form formerly used by the university to obtain authorizations to retain student

credit balances did not comply with applicable regulations

Finding 5The university did not in all instances disburse Title IV program funds in accordance

with applicalle regulations or university policy because they were made prior to the students

being eligibk to receive them

Finding 6i he university did not in all instances maintain documentation to support online

students leaves of absence due to the lack of support for the start dates for 19 leaves of

absence

Each finding was accompanied by one or more recommendations to the Departments Office of

Federal Student Ail or FSA as summarized below

For Finding the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to provide records of

all salary adj ustments made to enrollment advisors during award year 2006-2007 and any

documentation not disclosed to the OIG that demonstrates that any specific adjustments made

during that period qualified for the regulatory safe harbors

For Findings and the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to remit to

the Departmcnt and appropriate lenders certain amounts identified by the OIG $29036 for

Finding and ii undertake file review for award year 2006-2007 to identify the amount of

Title IV funds that were improperly retained or disbursed and to remit such amounts to the

Department appropriate lenders

For Finding the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to cease drawing

disbursing and holding credit balances of Title IV program funds for which there are no

currently assessed institutional charges

For Findings and the OIG recommended that the FSA require the university to

develop and implement certain remedial policies and procedures

For Findings and generally and for Finding in the event the university cannot establish

that its salary adjustments for enrollment advisors qualified for the safe harbor the OIG
recommendel that the FSA consider whether to take appropriate action under Subpart of
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34 C.FR Part 668 Under Subpart the FSA may seek to impose fine against the university

or to limit suspend or terminate the universitys participation in Title IV programs

The findings and recommendations of the final audit report represent
the opinions of the OIG

and the issuance of final audit determinations and corrective action to be taken if any will be made by

the FSA

Ashford University expects that the FSA will consider the findings and recommendations in the

final audit report and engage in dialog with the university prior to determining what if any action to

take and issuing Final Audit Determination Letter concluding the audit The OIG has requested that

Ashford University provide response to the FSA regarding the final audit report if any within

30 days of the final audit reports issuance to which we have responded in timely manner If the FSA

were to determine to assess monetary liability or commence an action under Subpart Ashford

University would have an opportunity to contest the assessment or proposed action through

administrative proceedings with the right to seek review of any final administrative action in the

federal courts Although the Company believes Ashford University operates
in substantial compliance

with Department regulations that are applicable to the areas under review the Company cannot predict

the ultimate findings potential liabilities or remedial actions if any that the FSA may include in the

Final Audit Determination Letter or the result of any administrative proceedings including Subpart

proceedings that may arise out of the Final Audit Determination Letter

Litigation and Legal Proceedings

See Note 18 Commitments and Contingencies for discussion of the lawsuits received in early

2011 and the civil investigative demand from the Attorney General of the State of Iowa received in

February 2011

Denver Lease Facility

In February 2011 the Company entered into lease for 151000 rentable square feet of office

space in Denver Colorado The Company intends to use the new space primarily
for administrative

offices meeting rooms and online support services The initial term of the lease is 10
years

and is

estimated to commence in August 2011 The monthly base rent over the initial term of the lease

increases from $0.4 million during the first year
to $0.5 million during the tenth year The total amount

of base rent payments over the initial term of the lease is $43.4 million

Notice of Hearing from U.S Senate Committee on Health Education Labor and Pensions regarding the

Company

On March 2011 the Company received correspondence from the U.S Senate Committee on

Health Education Labor and Pensions inviting the Companys CEO and President to testify at

hearing scheduled for March 10 2011 regarding Bridgepoint Education Inc and Ashford University

23 Quarterly Results of Operations and Other Operating Data Unaudited

The following tables set forth unaudited results of operations
and certain operating

data for each

quarter during 2010 and 2009 We believe that the information reflects all adjustments which include

only normal and recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the information below Basic and
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diluted earnings per common share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented

Therefore the sum of quarterly basic and diluted per common share information may not equal annual

basic and diluted earnings per common share

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

In thousands except enrollment and

per share data

2010

Revenue $156067 $173840 $190911 $192415
Costs and expenses

Instructional cosis and services 39436 43257 50191 54515
Marketing and promotional 44212 50096 54963 62279
General and administrative 22331 21257 23331 30944

Total costs and expenses 105979 114610 128485 147738

Operating income 50088 59230 62426 44677
Interest income 307 403 372 486
Interest expense 61 33 37 79

Income before income taxes 50334 59600 62761 45084
Income tax expense 20511 24330 26623 18735

Net income 29823 35270 36138 26349

Earnings per common share

Basic
0.55 0.65 0.68 0.50

Diluted 0.49 0.58 0.61 0.45

Period end enrollment

Online
65051 67206 76171 77033

Campus-based 737 538 1008 859

Total 65788 67744 77179 77892
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First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

In thousands except enrollment and

per share data

2009

Revenue $84275 $110908 $127382 $131759

Costs and expenses

Instructional costs and services 22134 28357 33120 36478

Marketing and promotional 29106 39655 36500 40460

General and administrative 25882 41093 18915 20894

Total costs and expenses 77122 109105 88535 97832

Operating income 7153 1803 38847 33927

Interest income 130 140 211 308
Interest expense

58 96 49 76

Income before income taxes 7225 1847 39009 34159

Income tax expense 3338 587 16651 14559

Net income 3887 1260 22358 19600

Earnings per common share

Basic 0.07 0.02 0.42 0.36

Diluted 0.03 0.02 0.37 0.33

Period end enrollment

Online 41278 45006 54107 53048

Campus-based 747 498 787 640

TotalS 42025 45504 54894 53688
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Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be

disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as

amended the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time

periods specified in the SECs rules and forms Disclosure controls and procedures include without

limitation controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us

in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our

management incluling our principal executive officer and principal financial officer or persons

performing similar functions as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure In

designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures management recognizes that any

controls and procedures no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable

assurance of achievng the desired control objectives and management is required to apply its judgment
in evaluating the cüst-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including the chief executive

officer and the chic financial officer we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design

and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e under the

Exchange Act as oF the end of the period covered by this report Based upon that evaluation our chief

executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were

effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31 2010

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15f Our internal control over

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records

that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets

ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that our receipts

and expenditures aie being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and

directors and iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of our assets that could have material effect on our

financial statements

Internal contro over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements prepared for external

purposes in accordance with GAAE Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness

to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Under the supcrvision and with the participation of management including our chief executive

officer and chief financial officer we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal

control over financi il reporting based on the framework in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on our

evaluation under the framework in Internal GontrolIntegrated Framework management concluded that

our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2010
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The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 has

been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as

stated in their report which is included herein

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended

December 31 2010 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our

internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

See Part Item BusinessExecutive Officers of the Registrant which information is

incorporated herein by reference

The information required by this item regarding our directors and corporate governance matters is

included under the captions Proposal 1Election of Directors and Corporate Governance in the

Proxy Statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days

after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31 2010 the 2011 Proxy Statement and is

incorporated herein by reference The information required by this item regarding delinquent filers

pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is included under the heading Section 16a Beneficial

Ownership Reporting Compliance in the 2011 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by

reference

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is included under the captions Corporate Governance

Director Compensation and Compensation Discussion and Analysis in the 2011 Proxy Statement

and incorporated herein by reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by this item is included under the captions Security Ownership of

Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Compensation Discussion and AnalysisEquity

Compensation Plan Information in the 2011 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related fransactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item is included under the captions Certain Relationships and

Related Transactions and Corporate GovernanceDirector Independence in the 2011 Proxy

Statement and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is included under the caption Proposal 2Ratification of

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm in the 2011 Proxy Statement and is incorporated

herein by reference
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PART LV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

a1 Consolidated Financial Statements

The following Iocuments are filed in Part II Item of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Report of independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 87

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2010 and 2009 88

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31 2010
2009 antI 2008 89

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and

Stockholders Equity Deficit for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009

and 2008 90

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 91

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 92

a2 Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule is filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Beginning Charged to Ending
Balance Expense Deductions1 Balance

Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable

For the
year

ended December 31 2010 $16171 $39631 $27712 $28090

For the year ended December 31 2009 18246 23205 25280 16171

For the year ended December 31 2008 6016 13431 1201 18246

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

For the year ended December 31 2010

For the year ended December 31 2009

For the year ended December 31 2008 7283 7283

Deductions represent accounts written off net of recoveries or reversals of the allowance for

deferred tax assets

All other schedules have been omitted as they are not required not applicable or the required

information is otherwise included
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a3 Exhibits

Exhibit Filed Incorporated Exhibit

Number Description of Document Herewith by Reference Form No Date Filed

Acquisition Agreements

2.1 Purchase and Sale Agreement S-i 2.1 February 17 2009

dated December 2004 as

amended among The Franciscan

University of the Prairies the

Sisters of St Francis and the

registrant

2.2 Asset Purchase and Sale S-i 2.2 February 17 2009

Agreement dated September 12

2007 between the Colorado

School of Professional Psychology

and the registrant

Charter Documents and

Instruments Defining Rights of

Security Holders

3.1 Fifth Amended and Restated 10-0 3.1 May 21 2009

Certificate of Incorporation

3.2 Second Amended and Restated 5-1 3.4 March 20 2009

Bylaws

4.1 Specimen of Stock Certificate 5-1 4.1 March 30 2009

4.2 Second Amended and Restated S-i 4.4 September 2009

Registration Rights Agreement

dated August 26 2009 among the

registrant and the other persons

named therein

Employee Benefit Plans

10.1 Amended and Restated 2005 S-i 10.1 December 22 2008

Stock Incentive Plan

10.2 2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form 5-1 10.2 February 17 2009

of Stock Option Agreement and

Notice of Option Grant for

Founders

10.3 2005 Stock Incentive Plan-Form 5-1 10.3 February 17 2009

of Stock Option Agreement and

Notice of Option Grant for

Charlene Dackerman Jane

McAuliffe Ross Woodard and

other non-executive employees
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Number Destription of Document Herewith by Reference Form No Date Filed

10.4 2005 Stock Incentive PlanForm S-i 10.4 February 17 2009

of Stock Option Agreement and

Notice of Option Grant for

Andrew Clark Daniel

Devine Rdney Sheng and

Christopher Spohn

10.5 2005 Stock Incentive PlanForm 5-1 10.12 February 17 2009

of Stock Option Agreement and

Notice of Option Grant for

Robert Hartman

10.6 Amended and Restated 2005 8-K 10.13 January 12 2010

Stock Ince ntive PlanForm of

Stock Option Agreement and

Notice of Option Grant for

Charlene Sackerman Jane

McAuliffe Ross Woodard and

other non- executive employees

10.7 Amended and Restated 2005 8-K 10.14 January 12 2010

Stock Incentive PlanForm of

Stock Option Agreement and

Notice of Option Grant for

Andrew Clark Daniel

Devine Rdney Sheng and

Christopher Spohn

10.8 Amended and Restated 2005 5-1 10.33 March 30 2009

Stock Incentive Plan
Amendment to Stock Option

Award

10.9 Amended and Restated 2009 5-1 10.5 April 2009

Stock Ince ntive Plan

10.10 Amended and Restated 2009 S-8 99.4 May 13 2009

Stock Incentive PlanForm of

Nonstatutory Stock Option

Agreement for Executives and

Senior Management

10.11 Amended and Restated 2009 S-8 99.5 May 13 2009

Stock Incentive PlanForm of

Incentive Stock Option

Agreement for Executives and

Senior Ma nagement

10.12 Form of Non-Plan Stock Option S-8 99.6 May 13 2009

Agreement

10.13 Form of Compensatory Warrant S-i 4.10 March 20 2009

Agreement
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Exhibit Filed Incorporated Exhibit

Number Description of Document Herewith by Reference Form No Date Filed

10.14 Amended and Restated 8-K 99.1 March 22 2010

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

10.15 Bridgepoint Education 10-0 10.7 May 2010

Nonqualified Deferred

Compensation Plan

Agreements with Executive

Officers Directors and Warburg

Pincus

10.16 Employment Agreement between S-i 10.24 March 20 2009

Andrew Clark and the

registrant

10.17 Employment Agreement between 5-1 10.25 March 20 2009

Daniel Devine and the

registrant

10.18 Employment Agreement between S-i 10.27 March 20 2009

Rodney Sheng and the

registrant

10.19 Employment Agreement between S-i 10.26 March 20 2009

Christopher Spohn and the

registrant

10.20 Amendment to Stock Option

Agreements between

Christopher Spohn and the

registrant

10.21 Offer Letter to Diane Thompson S-i 10.28 March 20 2009

10.22 Offer Letter to Thomas S-i 10.29 March 20 2009

Ashbrook

10.23 Offer Letter to Douglas Abts

10.24 Executive Severance Plan S-i 10.31 March 20 2009

10.25 Form of Severance Agreement S-i 10.32 March 20 2009

under the Executive Severance

Plan

10.26 Offer Letter to Dale Crandall S-i 10.30 March 20 2009

10.27 Form of Indemnification S-i 10.8 December 22 2008

Agreement for Executive Officers

and Directors

10.28 Nominating Agreement between S-i 10.11 February 17 2009

Warburg Pincus and the

registrant
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Exhibit Filed Incorporated Exhibit

Number Desctiption of Document Herewith by Reference Form No Date Filed

Bank Documents

10.29 Loan and Security Agreement s-i 10.9 March 20 2009

with Comerica Bank dated

April 12 2004 as amended by

Amendmeuts 1-8 thereto

10.30 Ninth Amendment to Loan and 10-0 10.3 August 11 2009

Security Agreement with

Comerica Bank dated May
2009

10.31 Tenth Amendment to Loan and 10-0 10.4 August 11 2009

Security Agreement with

Comerica Bank dated June 22
2009

10.32 Letter agreement dated 10-K 10.40 March 2010

October 30 2009 with Comerica

Bank

10.33 Letter agreement dated 10-K 10.41 March 2010

December 31 2009 with

Comerica Bank

10.34 Credit Agreement dated 8-K 99.1 February 2010

January 29 2010 with Comerica

Bank

10.35 Revolving Credit Note dated 8-K 99.2 February 2010

January 29 2010 with Comerica

Bank

10.36 Security Agreement dated 8-K 99.3 February 2010

January 29 2010 with Comerica

Bank

10.37 First Amendment to Loan 10-0 10.1 August 2010

Documents with Comerica Bank

dated July 30 2010

10.38 Second Amendment to Loan 10-0 10.2 November 2010

Documents with Comerica Bank

dated August 2010

10.39 Third Amendment to Loan

Documents with Comerica Bank

dated December 2010
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Exhibit Filed Incorporated Exhibit

Number Description of Document Herewith by Reference Form No Date Filed

Material Real Estate Leases

i0.40t Office Lease dated January 31 s-i 10.15 April 13 2009

2008 with Kilroy Realty L.P as

amended by the First

Amendment thereto dated

December 2008 related to the

premises located at

13480 Evening Creek Drive

North San Diego California

iO.4it Second Amendment to Office 10-Q 10.2 August ii 2009

Lease dated June 2009 with

Kilroy Realty L.P related to the

premises located at

13480 Evening Creek Drive

North Sand Diego California

iO.42t Office Lease and Sublease S-i 10.16 April 13 2009

Agreements related to the

premises located at

13500 Evening Creek Drive

North San Diego California

10.43 Letter Agreement dated 10-K 10.49 March 2010

October 2009 with Kilroy

Realty L.P and Countrywide

Home Loans Inc related to the

premises located at

13500 Evening Creek Drive

North San Diego California

iO.44t First Amendment to Office 10-0 10.5 May 2010

Lease dated March 12 2010 with

Kilroy Realty L.P related to the

premises located at

13500 Evening Creek Drive

North San Diego California

i0.45t Office Lease dated June 26 2009 10-0 10.1 August ii 2009

with Kilroy Realty L.P related

to the premises located at

13520 Evening Creek Drive

North San Diego California

i0.46t Standard Form Modified Gross S-i 10.17 March 2009

Office Lease dated October 22

2008 and addendum with

Sunroad Centrum Office L.P

related to the premises located at

8620 Spectrum Center Lane San

Diego California
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Exhibit Filed Incorporated Exhibit

Number Des ription of Document Herewith by Reference Form No Date Filed

10.47t Standard Form Modified Gross 8-K 99.1 December 30 2010

Office Lease dated November 10

2010 with Sunroad Centrum

Officer L.P related to

building to be built in the

Sunroad entrum Project in San

Diego Caifornia

Material Strategic Agreements

10.48t Blackboard License and Services S-i 10.20 March 30 2009

Agreemeni dated December 23

2003 as amended between

Blackboar1 Inc and Ashford

University LLC

10.49t Amendment to Blackboard 10-K 10.48 March 2010

License artd Services Agreement
dated December 2009 with

Blackboarl Inc

10.50t Master Services and License 8-K 99.1 October 2009

Agreement dated September 29

2009 with eCollege.com

10.51t First Addendum to Master 10-K 10.45 March 2010

Services aid License Agreement

dated No ember 2009 with

eCollege.com

10.52t Second Addendum to Master 10-K 10.46 March 2010

Services and License Agreement

dated December 15 2009 with

eCollege.com

i0.53t Third Addendum to Master 10-K 10.47 March 2010

Services and License Agreement

dated Jani.iary 12 2010 with

eCollege om

10.54t Fourth Addendum to Master

Services and License Agreement

dated October 14 2010 with

eCollege om

10.55t Software License Agreement and 5-1 10.21 March 30 2009

Campusca re Support Agreement

between Iampus Management

Corp and the registrant

10.56t Addenda to Software License 10-0 10.5 August 11 2009

Agreement with Campus

Management Corp dated

June 29 2009
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Exhibit Filed Incorporated Exhibit

Number Description of Document Herewith by Reference Form No Date Filed

10.57t General Services Agreement S-i 10.22 April 13 2009

dated January 2009 between

Affiliated Computer

Services Inc and Ashford

University LLC

10.58t General Services Agreement S-i 10.23 April 13 2009

dated January 2009 between

Affiliated Computer

Services Inc and University of

the Rockies LLC

Code of Ethics

14.1 Amended and Restated Code of 8-K 14.1 December 2009

Ethics

Subsidiaries

21.1 List of subsidiaries of the S-i 21.1 August 26 2009

registrant

Consent and Power of Attorney

23.1 Consent of independent

registered public accounting firm

24.1 Power of Attorney included on

signature page

Certifications Required by

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.1 Certification of Andrew Clark

CEO and President pursuant to

Rule 13a-i4a or 15d-14a of

the Securities and Exchange Act

of 1934 as adopted pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Daniel Devine

Chief Financial Officer pursuant

to Rule 13a-14a or 15d-14a of

the Securities and Exchange Act

of 1934 as adopted pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002
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Exhibit Filed Incorporated Exhibit

Number Desription of Document Herewith by Reference Form No Date Filed

32.1 Certification pursuant to 18

U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted

pursuant 10 Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

executed by Andrew Clark

CEO and President and

Daniel Devine Chief Financial

Officer

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

Portions of thi exhibit have been omitted pursuant to request for confidential treatment and the

non-public information has been filed separately with the SEC
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized

Dated March 2011

BRIDGEPOINT EDUCATION INC

By Is ANDREW CLARK

Andrew Clark

CEO and President

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears

below constitutes and appoints Andrew Clark and Daniel Devine jointly and severally as his

attorney-in-fact each with the power of substitution for him in any and all capacities to sign any

amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same with exhibits thereto and other

documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission hereby ratifying and

confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact or his substitute or substitutes may do or cause to be

done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed

below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated

Is ANDREW CLARK

Andrew Clark

Is DANIEL DEVINE

Daniel Devine

Is BRANDON POPE

Brandon Pope

Is RN CRAIG

Ryan Craig

Is DALE CRANDALL

Dale Crandall

CEO and President Principal Executive

Officer and Director

Chief Financial Officer Principal

Financial Officer

Vice President Chief Accounting Officer

and Corporate Controller Principal

Accounting Officer

Director

Director

March 2011

March 2011

March 2011

March 2011

March 2011

Name Title Date
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Title Dateame

Is PATRICE HACKE11T
Director March 2011

Patrick Hackett

Is ROBERT HARTMAN
March 2011Director

Robert Hartman

Is ADARSH SARMA
March 2011Director

Adajsh Sarma
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Andrew Clark certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Bridgepoint Education Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or

omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances

under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash

flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e
and internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15f and

15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating

to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within

those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and

procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal

quarter in the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to

materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent

evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit

committee of the registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants

ability to record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 2011

Is ANDREW CuRK

Andrew Clark

CEO and President



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Daniel Devinc certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Bridgepoint Education Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or

omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances

under which such statements were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this

report fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash

flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officers and are responsible for establishing and maintaining

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e

and internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15f and

15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and

procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating

to the registrant including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within

those entities particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over

financial reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance

regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and

presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and

proceduies as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

that occurred during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal

quarter
in the case of an annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to

materially affect the registrants internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officers and have disclosed based on our most recent

evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit

committee of the registrants board of directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal

control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants

ability to record process summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have

significant role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date March 211

/s DANIEL DEVINE

Daniel Devine

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Bridgepoint Education Inc the Company on

Form 10-K for the period ended December 31 2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission on the date hereof the Report each of the undersigned does hereby certify pursuant

to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13a or 15d of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material
respects the financial

condition and results of operations of the Company

Dated March 2011

Is ANDREW CLARK

Andrew Clark

CEO and President

Principal Executive Officer

Dated March 2011

Is DANIEL DEVINE

Daniel Devine

Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

This certification shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or

otherwise subject to the liability of that section This certification shall not be deemed to be

incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the

Exchange Act except to the extent specifically incorporated by the Company into such filing

signed original of this certification has been provided to the Company and will be retained by

the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request
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